


 

THE VELIZH AFFAIR

•
 



ii



1

 

THE VELIZH AFFAIR

•Blood Libel in a Russian Town

•
EUGENE M. AVRUTIN

  



1

iv

Oxford University Press is a department of the University of Oxford. It furthers
the University’s objective of excellence in research, scholarship, and education

by publishing worldwide. Oxford is a registered trade mark of Oxford University
Press in the UK and certain other countries.

Published in the United States of America by Oxford University Press
198 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016, United States of America.

© Oxford University Press 2018

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in
a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without the

prior permission in writing of Oxford University Press, or as expressly permitted
by law, by license, or under terms agreed with the appropriate reproduction

rights organization. Inquiries concerning reproduction outside the scope of the
above should be sent to the Rights Department, Oxford University Press, at the

address above.

You must not circulate this work in any other form
and you must impose this same condition on any acquirer.

Library of Congress Cataloging-​in-​Publication Data
Names: Avrutin, Eugene M., author.

Title: The Velizh affair : blood libel in a Russian town / Eugene M. Avrutin.
Description: New York, NY : Oxford University Press, [2018] |  

Includes bibliographical references and index.
Identifiers: LCCN 2017011535 (print) | LCCN 2017012749 (ebook) |  

ISBN 9780190640538 (updf ) | ISBN 9780190640545 (epub) |  
ISBN 9780190640521 (hardback : alk. paper)

Subjects: LCSH: Blood accusation—Russia—Velizh—History—19th century. |  
Antisemitism—Russia—Velizh—History—19th century. |  

Jews—Persecutions—Russia—Velizh—History—19th century. |  
Trials (Murder)—Russia—Velizh. | Russia—Ethnic relations. |  

Velizh (Russia)—Ethnic relations.
Classification: LCC BM585.2 (ebook) | LCC BM585.2 .A97 2017 + (print) |  

DDC 305.892/404727—dc23
LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2017011535

1  3  5  7  9  8  6  4  2

Printed by Sheridan Books, Inc., United States of America

  



 

To Yingying and Abi
for being there

  



vi



vii

 

Contents•
Preface  ix

Acknowledgments  xvii

Introduction  1

1.  Fedor Goes for a Walk  13

2.  Small-​Town Life  31

3.  Tsar Alexander Pays a Visit  57

4.  The Confrontations  79

5.  Grievances  101

6.  The Investigation Widens  117

7.  Boundaries of the Law  133

Epilogue  153

Appendix: Jewish Prisoners Held in the Town of Velizh  161

Notes  163

Selected Bibliography  197

Index  213

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



viii



ix

 

Preface•
On the morning of December 5, 1919, in revolutionary Petrograd, 
the historian Simon Dubnov walked several miles along a maze of dark 
and empty streets to a meeting of the newly inaugurated Commission 
for Investigating Blood Libel Materials.1 This was a desperate time in 
the city. The brutality and chaos of the Civil War wreaked havoc on the 
early Soviet state. In the nearly two years after the collapse of the tsar-
ist regime in February 1917, the population of Petrograd decreased by 
50 percent. The death toll skyrocketed, as did the unemployment rate. 
Shortages of fuel, electricity, clean water, and basic food staples such as 
flour, eggs, bread, and potatoes meant a drastic fall in the standard of 
living for those who remained. The sudden collapse of all institutions 
of law and order resulted in an unprecedented number of petty thefts, 
muggings, robberies, and rapes. Empty apartments and boarded-​up 
buildings could be found on every street corner. Rubbish littered court-
yards and alleyways. The closure of markets, shops, factories, and restau-
rants brought an eerie silence to one of Europe’s most dazzling cities.2

In the early days of the revolution, Dubnov had led a modest but 
privileged existence as an academic. The beneficiary of a special schol-
ar’s ration—​consisting mainly of bread, thin soup, cabbage, and salted 
fish—​the distinguished historian immersed himself in work. Like so 
many politically engaged writers, Dubnov worked tirelessly to build a 
new Jewish cultural sphere that lay dormant under the shackles of tsar-
ist oppression.3 Dubnov converted the kitchen, the only room in the 
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apartment that reached a tolerable five degrees Celsius, into a makeshift 
study. He divided the time between writing his magnum opus, The 
World History of the Jewish People; lecturing at the newly established 
Jewish University; composing editorials for leading periodicals; and 
participating in numerous political and scholarly initiatives made pos-
sible as a consequence of the events of 1917. For nearly three decades, 
Dubnov called on scholars and Jewish residents in the Pale of Settlement 
to collect historical materials. Ultimately, he believed, historical knowl-
edge would help regenerate spiritual Jewish life in the tsarist empire.

At noon sharp, Dubnov joined seven other members of the commis-
sion in an unheated hall of the old Senate building. Centrally located on 
the embankment of the Neva River, this magnificent structure, painted 
in cadmium yellow, overlooked the Square of the Decembrists. For 
nearly ninety years, the building was home to the most extensive col-
lection of the old regime’s records ever assembled. The Russian State 
Historical Archive, as it is known today, was formally consolidated 
shortly after the Bolsheviks came to power. Among other things, its 
holdings include the records of the most powerful administrative, 
judicial, and ministerial institutions, as well as public organizations, 
philanthropic societies, and the personal papers of leading statesmen, 
men-​of-​letters, artists, and composers. Since the implosion of the Soviet 
Union, scholars have been granted unprecedented access to the histori-
cal treasures. Scores of monographs, articles, and dissertations have been 
written in recent years—​all with copious archival references. But under 
the Soviet regime, only the most privileged were permitted to read the 
files, and almost no one who was working on Jewish themes. The Soviet 
state classified Jewish records as highly confidential. Some were removed 
from archival depositories and sealed in special vaults; the most com-
promising files were destroyed.

For a brief moment, however, after the fall of the old regime and 
before the centralization of the new Soviet state, the possibilities were 
endless. Before the revolution, a handful of scholars wrote books and 
articles on Jewish subjects grounded in archival sources. But these pub-
lications barely scratched the surface of the extraordinarily rich materi-
als preserved in the archives. The revolution initiated an outpouring 
of new cultural, artistic, and academic projects. Taking advantage 
of the new political conditions, the Jewish Historical-​Ethnographic 
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Society—​an organization specializing in recovering important cul-
tural and historical texts pertaining to Jewish life in Russia—​came up 
with a bold initiative to collect and publish prerevolutionary archival 
documents. The society organized an archival commission to work 
on three particularly urgent topics: pogroms, the history of Jewish 
schools, and the blood libel. The goal was to publish all the materials 
in their entirety, without any editorial redactions, and in their proper 
chronological order.4

The Commission for Investigating Blood Libel Materials worked 
primarily with materials in the Senate archive. As the highest judicial 
body in the Russian Empire, the Senate presided over the most con-
troversial criminal and civil cases, many of which generated massive 
paper trails. The members of the commission were carefully chosen, 
to ensure an impartial discussion of such an emotionally charged sub-
ject. Dubnov joined the social activist Henrikh Sliozberg, the anthro-
pologist Lev Shternberg, and the lawyer Grigorii Krasnyi-​Admoni as 
the Jewish experts, while the celebrated historian Sergei Platonov, the 
director of the Senate archive Ivan Blinov, and the scholars Lev Karsavin 
and Vasilii Druzhinin represented the Russian side. The group met for 
twelve months, usually on Tuesday afternoons, spending most of the 
time working on a sensational blood libel case that had taken place in 
Velizh, a small town located in Vitebsk province, on the northeastern 
edge of the Pale of Settlement.

Now erased from historical memory, the Velizh affair was the longest 
ritual murder case in the modern world, and most likely in world history. 
Lasting approximately twelve years, from 1823 to 1835, the investigation 
generated a truly astonishing number of archival documents—​around 
fifty thousand pages in total. All the materials are impeccably preserved 
in twenty-​five bound volumes at the Russian State Historical Archive in 
St. Petersburg; an additional thirty volumes, many of which are dupli-
cates of the St. Petersburg files, are housed in the National Historical 
Archive of Belarus in Minsk. The Velizh archive includes hundreds of 
depositions and petitions; official government correspondence, reports, 
and memos; personal letters and notes; as well as a detailed summary 
of the case of more than four hundred pages prepared by the Senate—​
known simply as the Memorandum of a Criminal Case (Zapiska iz 
ugolovnykh del).5
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The colossal size of the archive complicated the work, making it dif-
ficult, as Dubnov observed in one of the first meetings, “to answer the 
question—​what should we copy?”6 According to the historian’s calcula-
tions, even if the nonessential items were omitted, they would be left 
with three-​quarters of the materials, requiring at least ten thick volumes 
and years of hard labor. The group discussed many things: how much 
of the archive to publish, the problem of decoding and reading the 
handwriting, how to organize the introductory essay, and whether they 
should publish other blood libel cases as well. Dubnov hoped to edit 
only one volume for publication, preferably the Senate memorandum, 
but his suggestion fell on deaf ears. In the end, the commission agreed to 
publish an exhaustive account, beginning with the 1816 case in Grodno 
and then all twenty-​five volumes of the Velizh case.

Dubnov first came across the Velizh materials in 1893, while living in 
Odessa. In April, he received a letter from an antiquarian by the name 
of L. N. Etingen, who wrote that “after much hard work and a great 
deal of expense” he had obtained the Senate memorandum from an 
undisclosed source. Etingen could not have been more thrilled by his 
find. The Senate made a small number of hectographed copies of the 
memorandum for internal government use only. The document had 
immense historical value, and Etingen set his sights on Voskhod (The 
Dawn), the most respected thick journal in the field of Russian Jewish 
affairs. Voskhod featured a new monthly column publicizing historical 
discoveries. The only problem was that Etingen did not have the time 
and, more important, the expertise to carry out the scholarly work 
himself. This is why he turned to Dubnov for help. “Would you be so 
kind,” he asked, “as to whip this into shape under the following guide-
lines?” Etingen requested that Dubnov take no longer than two or three 
months to complete the work, with the understanding that he would 
receive full credit for the publication and retain the exclusive right to 
republish the materials as he saw fit. For all this work, Etingen offered 
Dubnov the royalties from the Voskhod sales, a meager sum even under 
the best of circumstances.7

Although we do not know how Dubnov responded to such an unre-
alistic proposal, we do know that he did not pass up the opportunity 
to take a close look. Etingen sent the memorandum by special post to 
Odessa with the understanding that it be returned to him in exactly 
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three weeks. At the time, Dubnov was working on a general history of 
Jews in Russia and Poland, while writing monthly columns for Voskhod, 
and was not in any hurry to accommodate the request. In May and June, 
Etingen penned two impatient letters to Dubnov, insisting that the dis-
tinguished historian immediately return the document and complete 
the article “as soon as possible.”8 Why was Etingen in such a hurry? 
Apparently, he was not the only person intrigued by the case. Miron 
Ryvkin, an aspiring cultural critic with direct ties to Velizh, was busy 
gathering published and ethnographic sources, including oral interviews 
of survivors and their descendants, for a major publication on the topic. 
At one point, Etingen even agreed to share the memorandum with 
Ryvkin but changed his mind at the last minute, deciding to keep it a 
secret until Dubnov had completed the work.9

Dubnov never bothered to fulfill Etingen’s request, but he did take 
advantage of the opportunity to take detailed notes. In 1894, Dubnov 
published his own essay on Velizh in the Hebrew-​language almanac 
Luah Ahi’asaf (Ahiasiaf ’s Register). Putting his notes to good use, as well 
as other fresh documentary evidence, Dubnov explored a little-​known 
episode of the Velizh case as it played out in the town of Bobovne.10 In 
his memoirs, Dubnov recalled that the blood libel had come up in his 
research from time to time and that he had even published some of the 
more interesting findings in a review article about seventeenth-​century 
Poland in Voskhod.11 But for reasons that remain unclear, a mysterious 
silence looms over Velizh, with no mention of his correspondence with 
Etingen and Ryvkin or of the Luah Ahi’asaf essay.

Perhaps Dubnov wished to make a claim on the case by getting there 
first? History is full of lively tales of discovery. After all, the race to 
uncover a lost stash of highly prized manuscripts or to publish a signifi-
cant piece of research results in a type of immortality that only scientists, 
humanists, and explorers can truly appreciate. Whatever the reason may 
have been, after the publication of the essay, Dubnov’s name continued 
to be associated with Velizh, and every scholar who worked on the case 
turned to him for help.

In February 1901, seven years after they first corresponded, Ryvkin 
pleaded with Dubnov to help him locate the memorandum. Ryvkin was 
busy working on several different projects about the case, and he wanted 
to convey the spirit and social conditions of the age by describing as 
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many realistic details as possible. To do this he desperately wanted to get 
his hands on the memorandum. So he rummaged through antiquarian 
bookshops, but he did not know the exact title of the book, the place 
and date of publication, or the number of copies in print. “The copy 
that was once in your possession, if only a short period of time,” Ryvkin 
explained to Dubnov, “is currently in the most unpleasant hands.” But 
try as he did, Ryvkin did not have any luck locating the memorandum. 
Eventually, he managed to collect enough materials to write a detailed 
essay about the case, based on firsthand recollections, ethnographic 
materials, and published primary sources. Ryvkin also published a suc-
cessful historical novel that appeared in Russian in 1912 and was even-
tually reprinted in several editions in Yiddish and Hebrew.12

That same year, Dubnov exchanged several letters with a talented 
young historian who had just received permission from the Ministry 
of Justice to work in the Senate archive. In the prerevolutionary era, no 
other scholar of Russian Jewry had access to so many classified records 
as Iulii Gessen. “You have always been so generous with your time,” 
Gessen wrote to his mentor on February 5. “If there are any archival 
documents you wish to see, please tell me, and I’ll do everything in 
my power to copy them for you.”13 Not one to turn down a good offer, 
Dubnov asked for several files, including a handful pertaining to the 
Velizh case. Gessen had outlined an extensive research program for 
himself long before he set foot in the archive. But all the topics on 
the list, he quickly realized, paled in comparison with the blood libel 
case. In fact, after Ryvkin had asked him to look at some of the newly 
discovered archival papers, Gessen decided to focus all his energy on 
Velizh. “Perhaps I am wrong,” Gessen confided to Dubnov, “but I don’t 
trust [Ryvkin] and this is why I am being extraordinarily cautious.” 
“If you have decided to put aside your work on the ritual murder case 
in Velizh,” he continued, “I would be grateful if you passed it on to 
me.”14 Dubnov not only approved the request, but he also shared all his 
research notes with his protégé.

At the archive, Gessen located the prized memorandum, as well as 
eight additional “bundles of uncatalogued manuscripts.” To transcribe 
the entire case record would take months, possibly even years. Eager to 
make a name for himself in the scholarly community, Gessen wanted 
to publish his research as quickly as possible. He requested help from 
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the Jewish Historical-​Ethnographic Society, but the organization was 
not in a position to support such an extensive project. Undeterred, the 
ambitious historian pressed ahead. By August 1902, Gessen had man-
aged to complete a full draft of a manuscript. The result is a concise 
and extremely valuable historical reconstruction of the case, based on 
a close reading of the Senate memorandum, as well as Dubnov’s notes 
and additional published sources.15

For years, every scholar who worked on the Velizh case recognized 
its extraordinary potential—​not only for narrating a highly dramatic 
crime story, but also for illuminating an entire historical epoch. Yet no 
one was able to make good use of the archival materials. Ryvkin had 
no luck locating the memorandum. Gessen did not have the time and 
the financial resources to read all the uncatalogued documents. In the 
early years of the revolution, the Commission for Investigating Blood 
Libel Materials decided to publish the entire archive, but those lofty 
plans were never realized. In late December 1920, as part of a nation-
wide campaign to centralize cultural organizations and initiatives, the 
Commissariat of Education and the Evsektsiia (the Jewish section of the 
Communist Party) dissolved the commission. According to Dubnov’s 
recollection of the events, the scholars spent more time debating the 
veracity of the ritual murder charge than editing the documents for 
publication.16

Thus, in spite of all the noble aspirations, the Velizh archive sat 
untouched for more than ninety years on the dusty shelves of the old 
Senate building. Although I spent much time in the reading room of the 
Russian State Historical Archive, I stumbled upon the case by accident, 
in the most unlikely place—​Washington, DC. In the spring of 2008, 
I was on research leave at the Woodrow Wilson International Institute 
for Scholars. Among the many privileges of working at the institute is 
requesting items directly from the Library of Congress. One afternoon 
while I was browsing the library’s online catalog, a book entitled the 
Memorandum of a Criminal Case piqued my curiosity. To my surprise, 
I received an oversized volume, bound in sturdy brown leather, without 
an official title page or place and date of publication. After glancing at 
the first page, I quickly realized that this was the official protocol of 
a sensational ritual murder case prepared by the highest court in the 
Russian Empire. In all probability, the Library of Congress acquired 
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the memorandum in 1931, when the Soviet government sold off some 
two thousand volumes of the Winter Palace Library of Tsar Nicholas II.  
Some of the books in the collection are deluxe copies in sumptuous 
bindings made specifically for presentation to the tsar. Others, such 
as the memorandum, are extremely rare legal and administrative texts 
issued in minuscule print runs.17

This was an extraordinary find, and I  immediately arranged for a 
photocopy in hopes of working on the case at a later date. Several years 
later, when I returned to St. Petersburg, the Russian State Historical 
Archive had relocated to a modern facility at the very edge of the city. It 
did not take me long to find the index card in the card catalog. Russian 
archives are full of immaculately preserved court cases, many of which 
are large in size and include a wealth of documents in the dossiers: for-
mal indictments, summaries of evidence, descriptions of testimony, 
depositions, petitions, letters, illustrations, and maps. Russian bureau-
crats were well known for their exceptional record keeping, but the 
Velizh case, I quickly realized, was larger and more complicated than 
any I had ever encountered. Here was a truly remarkable opportunity to 
explore a time, place, and community that seldom appeared in studies 
of the Russian Empire or East European Jewry.
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Introduction•
At first, there did not seem to be anything highly unusual about 
the murder. The idea that Jews killed Christian children to mix their 
blood with matzo for the Passover service had circulated in oral and 
written traditions since the Middle Ages. In its broad outline, the case 
resembled that of dozens of similar investigations from around the 
world. From the trial records, we learn that on April 22, 1823, in the 
town of Velizh, two small children finished their lunch and went to play 
outside. Fedor, a three-​year-​old boy with short blond hair, gray eyes, 
and a middling nose, and his four-​year-​old cousin, Avdotia, left their 
home and walked down a dusty path in an easterly direction. When the 
children reached the Konevtse Creek, Avdotia invited her cousin to cross 
a small bridge and continue on a walk to the forest. But Fedor refused 
and remained there alone, gazing at the construction site of a new home 
on the embankment.

It was Easter Sunday when the children went on their walk. Avdotia’s 
mother, Kharitina Prokof ’eva, did not supervise them and instead used 
the time to beg for alms. Kharitina lived at the very edge of town with 
her sister, Agafia Prokof ’eva, and her brother-​in-​law, Emel’ian Ivanov. 
After receiving alms, Kharitina chatted with a neighbor for several hours 
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until Avdotia came looking for her. To Kharitina’s surprise, Avdotia was 
without her cousin. “Where is Fedor?” Kharitina inquired immediately. 
Avdotia replied that she had left Fedor standing alone on the bridge and 
had not seen him since. Wasting little time, Kharitina took Avdotia to 
look for the little boy, but try as they might, the search proved unsuc-
cessful. Several days later, a town resident found the boy’s body in the 
thick woods on the outskirts of town, stabbed to death in numerous 
places.

In small market towns, where houses were clustered together, resi-
dents knew each other on intimate terms, and people gossiped in tav-
erns, courtyards, and streets, even the most trivial bits of news spread 
like wildfire. It did not take long before rumors began to spread that 
Jews murdered the little boy. Given the intimacy of small-​town rela-
tions, it is tempting to make the argument, as so many scholars do, that 
ritual murder accusations were the product of deep-​rooted anti-​Semitic 
prejudice, motivated by ethnic hatred, spite, and resentment.1 No 
doubt, these reasons help explain why certain individuals denounced 
Jews for engaging in blood sacrifice. Yet they do not offer a satisfac-
tory explanation for the vitality of the tale in the popular psyche—​for 
why almost all Christian neighbors in small towns like Velizh believed 
that Jews were capable of committing the crime. Was this some sort of 
conspiracy? Did the townspeople harbor resentment that was brought 
out in the open at the time of the investigation? Or were other, more 
powerful forces at work?

Thomas of Monmouth, a monk of the Norwich Cathedral Priory, 
crafted the definitive account of the first known accusation of Jewish 
child-​murder. On the first day of Passover in March 1144, Jews allegedly 
seized and tortured a twelve-​year-​old boy named William. The mur-
der took place in Norwich, a provincial Anglo-​Norman city, during 
the High Middle Ages.2 “Having shaved his head, they stabbed it with 
countless thorn-​points, and made the blood come horribly from the 
wounds they made.” Jews proceeded to carry the body in a sack into 
the woods and bury it in a shallow grave. Just as the streets of Norwich 
stirred with strange excitement, the town residents suspected that the 
Jews had wrought the evil deed. Shortly thereafter a fiery light “flashed 
down from heaven, the which, extending in a long train as far as the 
place where the aforesaid body was, blazed in the eyes of many people 
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who were in various places thereabouts.” Thirty-​two days after the boy’s 
death, the unmutilated and uncorrupted body was found whole and 
intact. Fresh blood gushed from the nostrils, astonishing the throng of 
bystanders. As the holy boy William, the blessed martyr of Norwich, 
performed miraculous cures and wonders, a deadly master narrative 
was born.3

In the centuries that followed, the accusations spread from medie-
val England to France and on to the Holy Roman Empire. The earliest 
known criminal investigation of Jewish consumption of blood took 
place in the Germanic town of Fulda in 1235. The precise details of a 
case could change according to the time and location of the accusation. 
But much of the basic storyline—​that the killing took place during a 
ritually charged season of the calendar year, that it was done in imitation 
of Christ, and that Jews required Christian blood for a peculiar ritual 
custom at the time of the Passover holiday—​stayed the same.4 Just how 
frequently were Jews tried for ritual murder? The most reliable estimates 
cite no more than two dozen accusations, most of which occurred in the 
fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, although it seems likely that undocu-
mented cases could be discovered in the archives.5

Growing Christian concerns with demonic activity and heresy, to 
say nothing of the religious fixation with blood, played an important 
role in highly elaborate investigations of ritualized infanticide and can-
nibalism. The vast majority of blood pilgrimages, host miracles, libels, 
and blood legends took place across the German-​speaking lands of 
Central Europe. Ritual murder charges provided the judicial impetus 
for political persecution, riots, and the expulsion of entire German 
Jewish communities.6 A great deal of the violence took place during the 
Paschal season, a time when ritual observances reenacted Christ’s arrest, 
torture, and crucifixion. Holy Week, the most emotionally intense time 
of the Christian religious calendar, often coincided with Passover. The 
similarities between the two ritual systems could lead to intense misun-
derstandings between Jews and Christians, usually over the ceremonial 
consumption of unleavened bread, and even to violence.7

It is hard to deny that the blood libel was the product of a dark 
imagination. But much like fantasies about witchcraft, the emotion-
ally charged tale of abuse possessed a rationality of its own, drawing its 
strength from a culturally specific way the universe operated. One of the 
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most important reasons for the extraordinary popularity of the blood 
libel was the role that magic played in everyday life. Far from constitut-
ing ignorant superstition, or a false belief, magical practices influenced 
everyday events.8 In a world where poverty and disease were common 
features of daily life, apprehensions about Jewish ritual murder provided 
convenient explanations of who was to blame for deaths and illnesses 
that defied explanation.9 Spoken spells, potions, and charms not only 
protected against natural maladies but also caused personal misfortunes, 
and it was widely accepted that the Jew possessed the ability to heal and 
to harm. All these factors combined to make fears of Jewish ritual mur-
der a very real occurrence in the popular mind, with deep cultural roots.

From the late Middle Ages to early modern times, religious and civic 
authorities began to discredit the intellectual and popular foundations 
of the blood libel. In 1247, in one of the earliest pronouncements, Pope 
Innocent IV pleaded for restraint “if the body of a dead man is by chance 
found anywhere. . . . Duly redress all that has been wrought against the 
Jews in the aforesaid matter by the said prelates, nobles, and potentates, 
and do not allow them in the future to be unjustly molested by any-
body on this or any other similar charge.”10 Discrediting the charge, it 
turned out, was easier said than done. This was a drawn-​out process 
tied to the development of new theological and legal discourses and the 
dramatic social and intellectual dislocations in Reformation Europe. 
Somewhere at the end of the seventeenth century, official attitudes, 
especially in German-​speaking lands, began to change to such an extent 
that it became extremely difficult to convict Jews of blood sacrifice in a 
court of law. The accusations waned for many of the same reasons that 
witchcraft prosecution saw a decline: the elimination of torture tech-
niques in criminal investigations; the promulgation of laws restricting 
the prosecution of ritual murder to those accusations where conclusive 
evidence was found; and intellectual changes in science and philosophy 
that gradually repudiated belief in magic and the supernatural.11

In Western and Central Europe, new standards of documentation 
made it extremely difficult for judges and lawyers to prosecute the crime 
of ritual murder, even if judicial disenchantment did not signal an 
abrupt change in mentality. How can historians penetrate the complex 
worlds of belief? Scholars have shown that criminal trials reflect the pre-
occupations of the elites and that the frequency of legal cases is usually 
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not the best barometer of judging the rise and fall of popular beliefs.12 
In any given time or place, many more ritual murder accusations were 
made than the number of cases prosecuted by authorities. Evidence 
from a wide range of sources—​including print, music, painting, and 
theater—​suggests that the tale continued to retain its power of persua-
sion long after authorities had successfully suppressed the trials. Thus, 
even after the number of documented trials declined, the blood libel 
tale continued to enjoy remarkable popularity in small market towns 
and villages. A rich folklore captures the symbolically related elements 
of blood, ritual practice, and magic in the imagination. Morality plays 
and woodcuts, chronicles and legends, folktales and songs, paintings 
and sculptures—​all depict the Jew as a demonic figure, capable of the 
foulest crimes against their Christian neighbors.13

At roughly the time that the cases had declined in the West, the tale 
began to travel eastward. From the 1540s to the 1780s, Polish authorities 
investigated between eighty and one hundred cases, around 40 percent 
of which occurred in the eighteenth century.14 How did the blood libel 
make its way to Eastern Europe? For years, scholars have argued that, 
as German Jewish communities migrated to the east in response to vio-
lence, persecution, and expulsions, so did the blood libel. According to 
this line of historical reasoning, a virulent print culture helped dissem-
inate the tale to the public. In Poland-​Lithuania, books and pamphlets 
on the theme went through numerous editions, achieving the dubious 
status of early modern bestsellers. Anti-​Jewish writers, most of whom 
were Catholic preachers, accused Jews of using blood for religious ritual 
practice and of stealing or trading in church ritual objects. Renegade 
members of the Jewish community helped legitimize the accusations by 
describing Jewish theological rites involving the use of Christian blood.15

Notwithstanding the popularity of these arguments, recent research 
has shown that East European Jewry did not form as a result of large-​
scale mass migrations from Central Europe. Most likely, economic and 
demographic pressures, rather than violence and expulsions, forced 
individual Jews, and not entire communities, to travel the long distances 
to the east. Subsequently, the Jewish population in Eastern Europe grew 
naturally as a result of low child mortality and high fertility rates.16

Nor is it likely that the printed word was the only tool responsi-
ble for the cultural transmission of the blood libel tale. To be sure, 
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the eighteenth century witnessed a rapid increase of publishing, while 
expert testimonies of Christian theologians and Jewish converts played 
no small role in the propaganda campaign. Yet however powerful the 
printed word might be, it seems highly unlikely that defamatory writ-
ings alone could disseminate the tale so widely. In small market towns 
of Eastern Europe, where there were no provincial newspapers and 
where the vast majority of people were illiterate, with limited access to 
published materials, the accusations circulated by word of mouth with 
striking speed and regularity. Fueled by sinister rumors and fears, the 
stories reflected a common reservoir of shared beliefs, fantasies, and 
everyday experiences. Fear may not have been a sign of weakness, but it 
was how people responded to danger and how panic was able to spread 
so quickly, often with fatal consequences.17

As a result of the three partitions of the Polish-​Lithuanian 
Commonwealth (in 1772, 1793, and 1795), Russia not only acquired the 
largest Jewish population in the world but also inherited an established 
cultural tradition of ritual murder.18 The blood libel did not enjoy a 
modern “revival,” as some scholars have recently argued, but survived—​
and even flourished—​in small market towns and villages since early 
modern times.19 In the first half of the nineteenth century, almost all 
the documented cases occurred in the northwest region of the Russian 
Empire, in Minsk, Vil’na, Vitebsk, and Mogilev provinces (in present-​
day Lithuania and Belarus). Here, an unusually high proportion of the 
inhabitants—​from the common folk to the well-​educated members—​
believed that Jews were capable of committing the crime. For reasons 
that remain unclear, authorities in the southwest region, in Volynia, 
Podolia, and Kiev provinces (in present-​day Ukraine), were reluctant to 
prosecute Jews for ritual murder save for two cases in Lutsk and Zaslav, 
although they had no qualms in charging Jews with sacrilegious behav-
ior and the desecration of church property.20 Significantly, this does not 
mean that the blood libel tale had lost its powers of persuasion in the 
southwest region, but only the fact that authorities in Vitebsk, Mogilev, 
and Minsk provinces had initiated the vast majority of the criminal 
investigations.

Much of our knowledge of the early cases comes from the highly 
controversial study of the blood libel commissioned by the minister 
of the internal affairs, Lev A. Perovskii.21 Purportedly authored by the 
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preeminent Russian-​language lexicographer Vladimir I. Dal’, the work 
drew on a wealth of foreign-​language publications, as well as official 
archival papers of the Ministry of the Interior (many of which were 
destroyed as a result of a fire at the ministry’s archive in 1862). Dal’ 
cited dozens of alleged cases. But none played a larger role in help-
ing to perpetuate the social memory of the tale than the murder of a 
six-​year-​old boy named Gavriil. The little boy lived with his devout 
Eastern Orthodox parents in Zwierki, a tiny village populated mostly by 
Uniates. In April 1680, a Jew named Shutko allegedly abducted Gavriil 
and took the boy to Bialystok, where he proceeded to torture and kill 
him. Although the ritual murder took place in Bialystok, Gavriil was 
laid to rest in Zwierki, where he lay undisturbed for many years. In 1720, 
a gravedigger discovered the body preserved in a state of divine incor-
ruptibility. The church where Gavriil’s body was transferred eventually 
burned down, but his relic fragments lived on, performing miraculous 
cures for children who suffered from ulcers and sores, hemorrhages and 
bleeding. In no time, word of Gavriil’s miracles spread, and the little 
boy’s cult became the object of popular veneration. In 1820, Gavriil was 
recognized by the Russian Orthodox Church as the patron saint of little 
children for his abilities to work miracle cures. Housed in a massive 
silver shrine, the relic fragments of the holy body—​including the ritual 
stab wounds on his arms—​were on public display for all believers to 
see and touch. In the nineteenth century, tens of thousands of pilgrims 
from all over the Russian Empire came to Gavriil’s shrine in search of 
cures for their children, to pray and donate money, and to hear stories 
of martyrdom.22

Although no other body—​dead at the hands of Jews—​produced as 
many miracles or cures or was elevated to the status of a patron saint, the 
ritual murder tale lived on. The first documented investigation in the 
town of Velizh took place in 1805, at which time the body of a twelve-​
year-​old boy was found along the Western Dvina, severely mutilated 
and punctured in multiple places. Three Jews (one of whom, it turned 
out, would be rearrested during the 1823–​1835 criminal proceedings) 
were blamed for killing the boy. In 1816, several Jews in Grodno were 
blamed for the death of a young peasant girl whose arm had been cut 
off at the shoulder blade and whose body had several puncture wounds. 
Similar accusations surfaced from time to time in nearby provincial 



The Velizh Affair8

8

towns. In 1821, rumors circulated that Jews were responsible for another 
grisly death after the body of a young woman was found in the Western 
Dvina. That same year, in Mogilev province, yet another young boy was 
said to have been the victim of a ritual murder. In all these instances, the 
imperial government eventually dropped the charges after conducting 
exhaustive criminal investigations. Convicting Jews of blood sacrifice 
required empirical evidence of the highest order.

Beginning in the eighteenth century, the courtroom emerged as an 
important arena for debate, persuasion, and theater. Sensational court 
cases—​on the themes of crime, sexual misconduct, personal betrayal, 
fraud, and transgression of authority—​appeared on the pages of the 
French, British, and German mass circulation newspapers.23 A  large 
and growing reading public consumed stories of courtroom drama with 
great interest and apprehension. Systematically publicized for the ben-
efit of the educated public, the stories followed tightly woven mel-
odramatic narratives. Some of the most explosive cases turned into 
full-​blown affaires, dividing entire communities and setting off intense 
polemics in newspapers and pamphlets all around the world.24

The Russian government did a masterly job in not permitting the 
investigation to attract much public attention or become a source of 
fascination in the popular imagination. Projecting an aura of command 
and confidence, Tsar Nicholas I did everything in his power to control 
the empire by his presence. The Third Section—​the secret police and 
gendarmerie—​controlled public opinion. No news, especially some-
thing that might poorly reflect on monarchical power, was allowed to 
appear in print. According to Article 165 of the 1826 censorship law, 
everything was forbidden “that in any way reveals in author, translator, 
or artist a person who violated the obligations incumbent on a loyal 
subject to the holy person of the Sovereign Emperor, or who transgresses 
against the worthy distinction of the most august royal house; and [such 
a person is liable] to immediate arrest and disposal to the laws.”25 During 
Nicholas’s reign, only twenty-​six periodical publications appeared in 
print, including scholarly journals, official government publications, lit-
erary journals, and children’s magazines. The most popular newspapers 
of the time were concerned more with promoting the official sentimen-
tal voice of the government than with publicizing current events.26 The 
English physician and traveler Edward Morton was keenly aware of 
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how powerful a role the press played in sensationalizing crime: “English 
papers do certainly too often contain accounts of dreadful [crimes], it 
is because all that happen in the whole extent of the United Kingdom 
are at once published; and [Russian] journals never contain them, not 
because murders occur less frequently in Russia . . . but because the gov-
ernment never allows the details to be published; and eleven twelfths 
of the population never know or suspect that they have happened.”27

Following official protocol, authorities in Velizh conducted the 
criminal investigation in strict secrecy, according to the guidelines 
established by the inquisitorial procedure code. First articulated in 
the twelfth century, inquisitorial procedure was a revolution in law 
and legal culture. By the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, it was 
employed in many parts of Continental Europe, including the Polish-​
Lithuanian Commonwealth and Russia.28 Premised on the interests of 
the public or state, the inquisitorial system called on the inhabitants of 
a community to denounce suspected criminals to the judicial authori-
ties, and it made defendants vulnerable to coercive prosecutions.29 
Responding to public rumors, judges played a particularly active role 
in initiating legal proceedings. Oral testimonies were transcribed in 
special notebooks, ceaselessly recopied so as to prevent loss of vital 
information, and stored for posterity in government archives. The 
inquisitorial registers served as active instruments of knowledge. In 
early modern Europe, the system was used to prosecute an unprece-
dented number of witches and heretics, especially in places like south-
ern France, Switzerland, and Germany.30

In the Russian Empire, authorities relied on inquisitorial procedure 
for crimes that threatened public interest or the security of the state. 
Before the judicial reforms of the 1860s and 1870s, the system was used 
widely to resolve criminal cases and to assert greater disciplinary control 
over the population. Borrowing from Swedish, Danish, and German 
military codes, the inquisitorial procedure, as set forth in the Military 
Process section of the Military Statute of 1716, required that every indi-
vidual “must keep what happened in court secret and tell no one, who-
ever he may be, anything about it.”31 Authorities were required to pay 
particular attention to the collection of material evidence and eyewit-
ness testimony. For the most serious crimes, such as murder, robbery, 
arson, high political, and religious crime, investigators, judges, and 
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other experts involved in the case confronted the witnesses and litigants 
one by one in the privacy of the inquisitorial chamber. This technique 
helped accumulate an impressive mass of facts, opinions, testimonies, 
and interpretations. Ultimately, the inquisitorial mode helped establish 
the most faithful representation of the events in question so that the 
court, by a process of logical reasoning, could deduce the guilt of the 
suspect and pass sentence.32

The Velizh case unfolded in a town like any other town in the Russian 
Empire where people’s lives were intimately connected, where rivalries 
and confrontations were part of day-​to-​day existence, and where the 
blood libel was part of a well-​established belief system.33 To come to 
grips with the pervasiveness of belief requires us not only to explore a 
time and place where ritual murder was accepted as a social fact. We also 
need to come to terms with one of the most fundamental contradictions 
of Jewish life in Eastern Europe: that, no matter how widespread ritual 
murder beliefs may have been and no matter the number of accusations, 
the largest Jewish community in the world continued to feel rooted 
and secure in its place of residence. At least until the second half of the 
nineteenth century, the extraordinary vitality of Jewish life, culture, and 
institutions expressed itself in the large demographic concentration of 
Jews in urban settlements, the indispensable role that they played in 
the regional economy, and the fact that the vast majority of the popu-
lation felt self-​confident in their cultural distinctiveness vis-​à-​vis their 
neighbors.34

In the East European borderlands, a large territory that extended 
from the Baltic regions to the Black Sea, diverse groups of people usu-
ally chose to live among their own types. Segregation did not mean that 
populations lived in isolation from everyone else. In the borderlands, 
ethnic boundaries were highly permeable. Since early modern times, 
residents routinely met and socialized in courtyards, streets, homes, and 
taverns. While ethnic groups did not always exhibit esteem or affection 
toward one another, people’s lives intersected on a daily basis.35 In this 
cultural landscape, neighbors—​that is, those individuals from diverse 
religious and cultural backgrounds who lived side-​by-​side with one 
another in small-​town settings—​usually developed pragmatic relation-
ships with one another based on distinct economic conditions and 
residential patterns in which they lived and operated. This does not 
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mean that Jews had always lived in harmonious coexistence with their 
neighbors or that quarrels over the most trivial matters never got out 
of control. But the fact that Jews and their neighbors worked out their 
differences suggests that, at least in most instances, people continued to 
adopt practices that allowed them to live together in a state of relative 
tranquility.36

How do we explain this striking paradox? How is it possible for Jews 
to be simultaneously the victims of such vicious accusations and to be 
so integrated into the economy of the state and to feel so at home? For 
starters, ritual murder cases were always sporadic occurrences. Even if 
an exhaustive investigation of provincial archives unearths more cases, 
this would not change the empirical fact that the number was very 
small. It is important, therefore, not to exaggerate the significance of 
the trials or their contribution to Jews’ sense of vulnerability and pow-
erlessness. In the Russian Empire, the allegations never materialized 
into a full-​blown panic along the lines of the early modern witch-​
hunts in France or Germany, or even Poland. Nevertheless, the fact 
that the blood libel popped up from time to time and that so many 
people continued to maintain that Jews were capable of committing 
the crime suggests that a well-​established folk culture helped legitimize 
the narrative.

In the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, the imperial Russian 
state attempted to eradicate superstition—​the belief in the power of sor-
cery, miraculous cures, and spirit possession to shape daily existence—​
without much success.37 Well into the twentieth century, these cultural 
beliefs and practices continued to offer convenient explanations for 
basic questions regarding life, death, and afterlife, while offering pro-
tection against numerous worldly dangers. The boundaries between 
religious and magical beliefs were difficult to distinguish with any cer-
tainty. That folk medicine and the supernatural played an important 
role in Jewish daily life only heightened the fantastical charge made 
during a ritually charged time of the year. Thus, at a time when spoken 
spells brought illnesses to enemies or warded off evil spirits, when gath-
ering ceremonies enhanced the healing properties of herbs, and when 
churches, cemeteries, barns, and bathhouses were associated with popu-
lar magic and divination, there was nothing peculiar about the idea that 
Jews required Christian blood for religious ritual services. If, according 
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to Belarusian folk traditions, witches preyed on unsuspecting children, 
why could not Jews kill little children for their blood?38

In the last years of the old regime, teams of ethnographers traveled 
to provincial towns and villages in hopes of unlocking the mysteries of 
indigenous civilizations. They conducted interviews, snapped photo-
graphs, and collected artifacts of daily life. Some worked on Russian 
Orthodox peasants, others on Jews, and various others on populations 
in the distant corners of the empire. Very few sources allow historians to 
penetrate the worlds these people inhabited. I am lucky in this respect. 
The Velizh archive offers a unique window into the multiple factors 
that did not only cause ruptures and conflicts in everyday life. These 
documents also allow us to observe the social and cultural worlds of a 
multiethnic population that had coexisted for hundreds of years. This 
extraordinary collection allows us to catch an unprecedented glimpse of 
small-​town life in Eastern Europe: to overhear people mingling with one 
another on dusty streets and inside homes and taverns, to see snapshots 
of the clothes people wore and the food they consumed, and above all, 
to learn something of the dark fantasies, fears, and preoccupations of 
a community that rarely appear in the historical record.39 A cache of 
intercepted letters reveals much of the pain, misery, and frustration of 
prison life. Many other documents help illuminate how ordinary men 
and women experienced the varieties of emotional life.40 Coming to 
grips with these emotions—​anger, despair, sadness, pain, frustration, 
and disgust—​requires that we pay attention not only to words and 
voices but also to the facial expressions, gestures, and psychological 
states of ordinary people.41 Every sound, gesture, and grimace the Jews 
made served as important clues to their guilt or innocence.
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1•
Fedor Goes for a Walk

Like most other Christians in Velizh, Emel’ian Ivanov spent between 
sunset on Holy Saturday and the early hours of Easter Day at church, 
celebrating the resurrection of Jesus Christ. Having come home tired and 
hungry from the paschal vigil, Emel’ian proceeded to eat a modest lunch 
with his wife, Agafia Prokof ’eva. After finishing the meal, the couple lay 
down for a nap—​Emel’ian on the bed and Agafia on the stove. In no 
time, their son Fedor ran inside the cottage and asked his mother for a red 
Easter egg. Agafia begged her son to eat it, but Fedor replied that he was 
not hungry. Instead, he rolled the egg back and forth on the floor until it 
cracked into small pieces and then went to play outside with his cousin. 
Dressed in a black striped caftan, black leather shoes, and a faded light blue 
silk kerchief, Fedor went out around eleven o’clock in the morning, when 
all the other Christian residents were home resting after the long night.1

Legally classified as a state peasant, Emel’ian spent twenty-​five years 
as a conscript in the Russian army. For eighteen years, he served as a 
musketeer, traveling to distant corners of the empire on assignment. 
After suffering an unspecified injury, he was transferred to a special 
regiment for invalids to complete his remaining years of service. The 
burdens of the work prevented most soldiers from starting a family, 
but Emel’ian was lucky in this regard. As soon as he arrived in Velizh, 
he met and married Agafia Prokof ’eva, who came from the village of 
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A hand-​drawn map of Velizh, with the probable path of Fedor’s walk marked 
in the bottom right-​hand corner. Perezhitoe 3 (1911)
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Usviaty. The couple had four children, three sons—​two of whom died 
prematurely at birth—​and a daughter. After Emel’ian retired from 
active service, the entire family continued to live in the soldiers’ bar-
racks at the edge of town on Vitebsk Road. Although free from social 
control from their former masters, retired soldiers generally had a dif-
ficult time reintegrating themselves in civilian society. Most soldiers 
lived in poverty and wandered from place to place looking for work; 
the more fortunate like Emel’ian eked out a living by working as day 
laborers or petty artisans.2

On Easter Sunday, the parents waited for their son to return from his 
walk. Fedor never came home that day, and for two days and nights, a 
small group of friends and family members unsuccessfully searched the 
town and its environs for the boy. On the third day, while Emel’ian and 
Agafia were home resting after the midday meal, a stranger knocked on 
the door. From the testimony of several witnesses in the case, we know 
that the caller was a beggar woman named Maria Terenteeva. As soon as 
Agafia opened the door, Terenteeva declared that she would be able to 
locate the missing boy. She asked for a burning candle and, after placing 
the candle flame in a cold pot of water, revealed that Fedor was still alive, 
locked inside the cellar of Mirka Aronson’s large brick house. Although 
there was lots of food and drink there, Fedor was not given anything to 
eat or drink. Terenteeva went on to say that she intended to rescue the 
boy that night, but was afraid that evil might already have struck and 
that he would die the moment she came to rescue him.3

Emel’ian dismissed the revelations as nonsense. “You’re not fortune-​
telling but lying,” Emel’ian told the stranger. “I’ve seen how sorcerers 
tell fortunes.” Yet the more he thought about his son, the more anxious 
he had become. Emel’ian wanted to go see him himself, but Terenteeva 
insisted that his wife should go in his place. So he instructed Agafia, 
along with her sister Kharitina, to walk to the marketplace, the very 
center of town, where Aronson’s house was located. If Agafia sensed 
the boy was inside, then she would go to the village of Sentiury to talk 
with Anna Eremeeva, a twelve-​year-​old girl with psychic powers. But 
the moment Agafia stepped inside the courtyard, she decided to leave, 
fearing that someone might mistake her for a thief. Later that evening, 
when the sisters reached Sentiury, Agafia begged the young girl to tell 
her about her son. After much prodding, Anna relented: “I’ve been 
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inside the house where they’re keeping your son. He’s extremely weak. 
If you want to see him, then beware, he will die this very night.”4

By the time Agafia had come home and shared this news with her 
husband, three police officers were busy conducting a criminal investi-
gation. Earlier that day, Emel’ian had informed the Velizh police that 
his son had disappeared without a trace. Numerous witnesses were 
questioned in the case while the officers searched for Fedor. But long 
before they completed the investigation, rumors began to circulate all 
over town that the Jews had killed the little boy.

For four straight days, the police conducted an exhaustive search of 
the town and its environs. Finally, on April 28, 1823, unable to uncover a 
single lead, they suspended the investigation and declared the boy miss-
ing. The sudden loss of Fedor must have dealt a severe blow to his par-
ents. Although the judicial records offer no hint of Agafia Prokof ’eva’s 
state of mind, emotions were running high when Maria Terenteeva 
appeared once again on the doorstep. “Why did [the officers] stop 
the search?” Terenteeva asked abruptly. Then, to Agafia’s amazement, 
Terenteeva related just how the boy had disappeared. A Jewish woman 
by the name of Khanna Tsetlina had walked up to Fedor while he stood 
on the bridge. After giving the boy a piece of sugar, she escorted him 
directly to Evzik Tsetlin’s courtyard, where he remained until someone 
transferred him to Mirka Aronson’s home under cover of darkness. 
Terenteeva was confident that she would be able to locate the body and 
invited Agafia to accompany her to the cemetery. But as soon as she 
stated those words, Terenteeva ran out the door, not to be seen again 
that night. When her husband returned home, Agafia recounted the 
day’s events, but Emel’ian refused to believe that Jews had abducted 
his son.5

Just as the rumors were gathering steam, a most unexpected discov-
ery added fuel to the fire. On May 2, the day after Terenteeva invited 
Agafia to the cemetery, Vasilii Kokhanskii’s horse broke free. Kokhanskii 
took his dog to search for the missing horse. They walked one third of a 
mile to the thick marsh at the edge of town when the dog suddenly ran 
ahead, barking loudly and uncontrollably. Initially Kokhanskii thought 
they had found the horse, but he quickly realized that the dog was bark-
ing at a dead boy who was lying on his back with his “body punctured 
in numerous places.” Kokhanskii remembered that Emel’ian Ivanov’s 
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son had been missing for several days and went to share the unfortunate 
news with his neighbor.6

Early the next morning, a delegation of four officials inspected the 
scene of the crime and produced a detailed report. First, they observed, 
the body was found in overgrown shrubby grass in a swampy forest less 
than half a mile from the center of town and no more than half a mile 
from the parents’ home. Second, the body lay around seventy-​seven 
yards from Shchetinskaia Road, a dirt road that could be taken to the 
center of town by way of three cross streets. Finally, and most important, 
they detected fresh footprints on the right side of the dirt road leading 
inside the forest and directly to the boy’s body. Based on this evidence, 
the officials hypothesized that as many as five people had transported 
the boy in a spring britzka, a horse-​drawn carriage, with forged metal 
wheels. In fact, they were certain that the perpetrators had parked the 
carriage on the side of the road and then dumped the body in the 
shrubby grass. They were not able to determine the exact route the car-
riage had taken, for its tracks had been smeared by the traffic traveling 
back and forth on the dirt road over the course of several days. But since 
none of the people who lived nearby had witnessed suspicious persons 
(that is, Jews) leaving the forest in a spring britzka, they concluded that 
the perpetrators had returned to town. Unable to uncover any other 
evidence, they set themselves the tasks of questioning two of the most 
important witnesses in the case, Maria Terenteeva and Anna Eremeeva, 
and inspecting Mirka Aronson’s home for clues that might help them 
solve the murder.7

The boy died a slow and painful death. When Inspector Lukashevich 
began the investigation, the autopsy report, prepared by the town doc-
tor, Levin, had already revealed that little Fedor was stabbed numerous 
times with blunt nails. The entire body was punctured with little round 
holes that were no more than a third of an inch in depth: five on the 
right hand, positioned evenly from the elbow to the tip of the hand; 
three on the left hand; four on the top of the head and around the left 
ear; one directly above the right knee; and another on the back. The skin 
on Fedor’s feet, arms, stomach, and head had hardened and turned a 
burned yellow or red color, as though someone had vigorously scrubbed 
the boy’s body with a coarse cloth or brush. A piece of cloth was used to 
restrict the circulation of the blood to the feet and knees, both of which 
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had turned dark blue, perhaps even black, from the trauma. The lips 
were pressed firmly against the teeth, while the nose appeared to have 
been smashed in violently. The dark crimson bruise on the back of the 
neck signified that cloth or rope was used to tie the boy’s mouth. The 
internal organs, including the stomach and the intestines, were com-
pletely empty, filled only with air. Whoever punctured the boy fourteen 
times, the report concluded, did so to draw blood.8

On May 5, Inspector Lukashevich made a thorough search of Mirka 
Aronson’s house, paying particular attention to the kitchen, tool shed, 
and stable, and was not able to uncover any evidence that linked Mirka 
or any other members of the household (her daughter Slava, son-​in-​law 
Shmerka Berlin, grandson Hirsh, and granddaughter-​in-​law Shifra) 
with the murder. He then asked to take a look at the cellar, but Berlin 
replied that the house had none. Lukashevich later learned that the 
house was equipped with two cellars—​the first one located in the foyer, 
the other in the lavka (trade shop) where goods and spirits were sold. 
When asked why he had concealed the truth, Berlin replied that he did 
not see the point of showing them to the inspector: “Both cellars are 
in the most decrepit shape, and there is absolutely nothing in them.” 
Clearly, Berlin felt that he had much to lose if the authorities uncovered 
anything remotely suspicious.9

Registered officially as a merchant of the third guild, Shmerka Berlin 
occupied a respected place in the social hierarchy of the town. Not only 
did he make quite a bit of money selling lumber and spirits and man-
aging the only glass factory in the provincial district, but he also mar-
ried into an affluent family that lived in the most magnificent house in 
Velizh. Mirka Aronson’s two-​story brick house was located in the center 
of the town. The southern side of the house overlooked the marketplace 
and town hall, while the western side faced Il’inskaia Street—​one of the 
town’s main thoroughfares, populated mostly by Jews. Considered large 
by any standard, the house had a grand total of twenty-​four rooms, thir-
teen of which were located on the first floor. A tavern and grocery store, 
at least three trading stalls, two cellars (one of which was equipped with 
a secret staircase), and several additional chambers all could be found 
on the first level. Together with his wife Slava, Shmerka occupied one of 
the more spacious chambers on the ground floor, while their daughter 
and her husband slept in a slightly smaller one. Mirka Aronson spent 
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much of her time in an adjoining wing of the house, comprising six 
additional rooms.

In Velizh, as in other market towns in the western borderlands, the 
boundaries between rural life and urban civilization were never rigid. 
This was also the case for the Aronson household.10 Visitors would 
walk up to a sturdy iron gate on Il’inskaia Street, where they would be 
greeted by a domestic servant and escorted inside the courtyard. Here, 
they would find goats, roosters, and other domestic animals, a modest 
garden, and encounter all the sights and smells of small-​town life. The 
courtyard was separated into two distinct sections by a long wooden 
fence. Several small wooden structures lined the eastern side of the 
property, including a guesthouse reserved for visitors, tool shed, stable, 
outhouse, and a wooden hut composed of three modest rooms built 
especially for the domestic servants.

Thanks to Miron Ryvkin’s historical-​ethnographic recollections (one 
of the earliest and most penetrating accounts of the case), it is possible 
to get a glimpse of details that are strikingly absent from the official 

A postcard of the marketplace. Mirka Aronson’s house is the fourth building from 
the right. Velizh Museum
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judicial records.11 On any weekday this imposing structure was the site 
of much activity and commotion. Customers from various parts of the 
town as well as the surrounding villages would come to drink beer or 
vodka at the tavern or purchase food from what was considered to be the 
town’s best-​stocked grocery store. Besides alcohol, they could acquire 
buns, cottage-​cheese cakes, pickled herring, fruits, coffee, tea, tobacco, 
matches, candles, and so much more.12 Visitors who came to town on 
business would walk up the wooden staircase to the traktir (inn), where 
they could get a bite to eat in the dining room and retire for the night in 
one of the guest rooms. From time to time the poor and needy showed 
up on the doorstep as well: Mirka Aronson, it seems, was well known 
for her exceptional generosity. Aronson’s two sons lived quite comfort-
ably only a few doors away on Il’inskaia Street, while Shmerka Berlin’s 
brother lived right around the corner on Petersburg Street, next to 
two of Velizh’s most prominent personalities, the town councilor Evzik 
Tsetlin and his wife Khanna. On Saturdays and on holidays, the entire 
extended family—​around forty people in all—​would gather for a meal 
on the second level of the house.

Without the support of their Christian neighbors, neither Shmerka 
Berlin nor Khanna Tsetlina would have been able to operate successful 
taverns. According to Ryvkin, all the respected residents of the town—​
from the wealthiest Polish landowners to the most powerful imperial 
bureaucrats—​could be spotted, from time to time, at either Berlin’s or 
Tsetlina’s tavern.13 We should, however, be careful not to paint life in 
Velizh as a multicultural idyll. The day-​to-​day exchange of goods and 
services not only brought people together but also produced many of 
the conflicts and quarrels between town residents. This was a world that 
was consumed by petty disagreements, disputes, jealousy, and gossip. 
And as in so many other small towns and villages around the world, 
communal unity in Velizh represented an ideal far removed from what 
was taking place in everyday life.14

If Mirka Aronson and Shmerka Berlin were regarded as upstanding 
members of the community, Anna Eremeeva and Maria Terenteeva 
were considered to be two of the town’s most marginal characters. 
Anna had lived a hand-​to-​mouth existence in and around Velizh for 
more than twelve months when the boy’s lifeless body was first discov-
ered. On March 25, about a month before Fedor disappeared, Anna 
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found herself in the village of Sentiury. While out on a walk, she sud-
denly felt weak and fell asleep on the side of the road. The townsman 
Larion Pestun noticed Anna curled up sleeping in the shrubby grass 
and decided to take her to his warm bathhouse. Fast asleep for two days 
and two nights, Anna dreamed of the archangel Mikhail, who took 
her by the arm and whispered in her ear that the Jews would murder 
a Christian soul on Easter Day. This was not the only time that Anna 
had dreamed of the archangel Mikhail: on Easter eve, he appeared to 
her one more time, revealing that Jews would seize a Christian soul 
and bring him to Mirka Aronson’s home. When Agafia Prokof ’eva 
came to Sentiury to inquire about little Fedor’s whereabouts, Anna told 
her: “On the way here you walked into the very home where they’re 
keeping your son. If you have the strength to rescue the boy, then do 
so. But if you don’t make it on time, then stay vigilant and watch over 
[the house].”15

Like Anna, Maria Terenteeva had lived in Velizh for a year or two 
at the time of the investigation (it is impossible to determine for sure 
from the archival records), surviving on whatever food and money 

A postcard of Smolensk Street. The marketplace and the town council are in the 
background. Velizh Museum
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she could find. She married a man who spent most of his adult life 
serving in the army. Several residents testified that Terenteeva had 
led a “debauched” lifestyle ever since she came to town—​giving birth 
to a son out of wedlock, stealing food every chance she could, and 
walking in the streets at all hours of the night screaming, “God help 
me, they’re trying to suffocate me.”16 Abram Kisin remembered first 
encountering Terenteeva during broad daylight, when he caught her 
stealing carrots and beets from his yard. Once he confronted her, 
Terenteeva “hit him so hard that he barely made it back home that 
day.” On other occasions, as well, Terenteeva would come by Kisin’s 
house in a fit of rage to steal fresh vegetables from the garden or throw 
clean linens on the ground and stomp on them with her bare feet in 
a wild rage.17

Terenteeva testified that on Easter Day she begged for alms in 
front of a church and chatted briefly with a woman who was passing 
by. Afterward, she made her way to the outskirts of town, seeking 
charitable handouts along the way. It was already nightfall when she 
made her way to the Konevetse Creek, at which time she saw two 
small children standing on the bridge. One was a boy with white-​
blond hair, wearing a cap and dressed in a coat and boots. At that 
precise moment, Terenteeva recalled, Khanna Tsetlina walked up to 
the boy and took him away by the arm. Although Terenteeva did not 
say anything about the whereabouts of the other child, she claimed 
that Tsetlina took the boy back to her own home, where four Jewish 
women were waiting for her. Terenteeva was not certain if the women 
had come from Shmerka Berlin’s home, but she was confident that 
she would be able to identify at least two of them. She then described 
her encounters with Emel’ian Ivanov and Agafia Prokof ’eva and con-
cluded the deposition by saying that Emel’ian had refused to believe 
a word she had said.18

Maria Terenteeva’s testimony proved absolutely devastating for the 
Jews. Over the course of several weeks, authorities questioned dozens 
of town residents, both Jews and Christians, focusing their attention on 
four primary suspects—​Evzik and Khanna Tsetlin, Mirka Aronson, and 
Shmerka Berlin—​and on the missing spring britzka. Emel’ian Ivanov’s 
sister-​in-​law, Kharitina Prokof ’eva, was convinced by all the talk that 
the Jews had murdered her nephew. Another town resident, Efim’ia 
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Fedorova, heard from one of her neighbors that the Jews took the little 
boy inside their school, where they proceeded to torture and kill him. 
Avdot’ia Maksimova, who worked as a housekeeper for Khanna Tsetlina 
(and would later play an important role in the case), testified that she 
had not seen a Christian boy at the house and had not seen Tsetlina 
walk outside that day. Eleven other witnesses—​representing a broad 
cross section of the population—​declared that they, too, had not seen 
Jews with the young boy and had no knowledge of who had committed 
the crime. They acknowledged, however, that the Jews must have been 
involved in the murder. The investigators then proceeded to question 
twelve more people. Two testified that Shmerka Berlin’s and Khanna 
Tsetlina’s behavior had always been excellent; eight said they did not 
suspect either Berlin or Tsetlina of doing anything malicious; but all 
twelve were convinced beyond a shadow of a doubt that the Jews had 
killed the little boy.19

The court records demonstrate how influential tales of blood sac-
rifice had become in the mindset of the town residents. Witness after 
witness asserted that Jews had ritually murdered the boy, even though 
no one had actually seen them do this. The only person other than 
Maria Terenteeva who claimed to have observed Khanna Tsetlina with 
a Christian boy was Daria Kasachevskaia. On Easter Day, at either 
one or two o’clock in the afternoon, Kasachevskaia went to Shmerka 
Berlin’s tavern to purchase beer. On the way, she saw Khanna Tsetlina 
with a blond-​haired boy who was dressed in either a blue or green caf-
tan. Kasachevskaia surmised that Tsetlina and the little boy were walk-
ing to town from either the embankment or the creek, but she had no 
idea where they were going. After purchasing the beer, Kasachevskaia 
returned home immediately and did not see either Tsetlina or the boy 
again that afternoon. It seems likely that Kasachevskaia based her nar-
rative on the many tales that were circulating around town, for when 
authorities pressed her for additional testimony she could not remember 
anything else.20

Over the course of the investigation, tsarist officials attempted to 
obey the letter of the law by not casting blame on any suspects until 
they had interviewed all possible witnesses, exhausted all possible 
lines of inquiry, and reviewed all the forensic evidence. And as they 
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questioned more and more people, and gathered more and more evi-
dence, communal tensions began to rise. How could they not? The 
Jews, it seems, thought that it was just a matter of time before the 
most respected and wealthiest members of their community would 
be formally charged with ritual murder. On May 17, when Inspector 
Lukashevich interviewed Father Kazimir Serafinovich, who had come 
to town to visit his friend the land surveyor Kottov, more than one 
hundred Jews encircled Kottov’s house, climbed on the fence, and 
began to shout to the inspector: “You don’t have the right to treat the 
town councilor Tsetlin in this manner; he’s our leader!” This unex-
pected turn of events put the authorities on high alert. Fearing that 
the heated emotions could easily escalate into unrestrained hostility, 
the magistrate issued an immediate injunction: none of the suspects 
or witnesses would be allowed to travel beyond the town’s boundaries 
and everyone would be kept under strict surveillance until all the sor-
did details of the case were sorted out. The last thing the magistrate 
needed to deal with was a full-​blown riot.21

The Jews, meanwhile, vehemently denied their role in the mur-
der. Khanna Tsetlina testified that she was at home on Easter Day. 
Furthermore, she insisted that she never brought a Christian boy 
inside the house and had no knowledge of who had committed the 
crime. Several days after giving the deposition, Tsetlina submitted a 
formal appeal to the town council proclaiming her innocence, calling 
all the accusations “unfounded.” “I never brought a Christian boy 
home, as [Terenteeva] has claimed, or left the house because I was 
home the entire day tending to my sick son.” According to Jewish 
custom, a sick person could not be left alone, and for this reason 
several friends came by to help Tsetlina watch over her ailing son. 
Tsetlina invited the magistrate to interview Abram Kurin, Malka 
Baraduchi, and Genia Vezmenskaia, among other friends and neigh-
bors, who would all testify on her behalf. She concluded the appeal 
by suggesting that, in all likelihood, Terenteeva had invented the 
“awful slander” to settle an old score. The beggar woman had a habit 
of walking around town asking for charity. On several occasions, after 
appearing on the doorstep, Tsetlina had “run her out of the house” 
without giving her any handouts. Each time such an incident had 
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occurred, Terenteeva would tell everyone in town how unjustly she 
was treated.22

On Easter Sunday, Tsetlina’s husband, Evzik, strolled around the 
marketplace browsing the items on display, and then went on several 
errands around town. For this reason, he could not say for certain 
if his wife went out anywhere that day, but he was convinced that a 
Christian boy had not set foot inside their house. At the age of seventy, 
Mirka Aronson tried to stay out of the day-​to-​day affairs of the family 
and avoided paying any attention to gossipy talk. While she had no 
idea who had killed the boy, there was no doubt in her mind that her 
son-​in-​law Shmerka and her grandson Hirsh were not involved in the 
murder because she knew for a fact that they stayed home the entire 
day. Showing signs of desperation, Shmerka Berlin made the outland-
ish conjecture that someone had “run over the boy accidentally and 

Khanna Tsetlina’s appeal to the Velizh town council proclaiming her innocence 
in Fedor’s death. A professional scribe recopied the document in January 1829, 
when all the files in the dossier were being prepared for review by the Senate in 
St. Petersburg. Natsional’nyi istoricheskii arkhiv Belarusi, f. 1297, op. 1, d. 190, ll. 
217ob–​218
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then proceeded to puncture the body” to mask the death as a ritual 
murder.23

As for the spring britzka, several witnesses had seen two mysterious 
Jews riding in such a carriage on Friday, April 27. One neighbor testi-
fied that around eight in the morning, amid heavy rain, she noticed 
two Jews riding around town. Early that morning, another neighbor 
was sitting by the window when she saw an open britzka pass by. No 
one in Velizh had ever seen the Jews before, but it turned out they were 
Shmerka Berlin’s distant relatives. A middle-​aged bearded man by the 
name of Iosel’ Glikman and his fifteen-​year-​old son had come to Velizh 
for the very first time from the town Uly to purchase hay. Glikman 
and his son had parked the britzka in a neighboring courtyard and 
walked around the fence to Berlin’s home, where they stayed until May 
1. Authorities immediately suspected that Shmerka and Hirsh Berlin 
had used Glikman’s spring britzka to transfer the boy’s body to the 
forest, and so they proceeded to question Glikman, the Berlin family, 
and numerous other town residents. But Glikman refuted accusations 
that he was involved in the murder, testifying that his britzka did not 
have forged metal wheels and that he had borrowed the horses from the 
nobleman he was working for at the time. Shmerka and Hirsh Berlin 
provided solid testimony, as well, and none of the other witnesses said 
anything to cast doubt on Glikman’s self-​proclaimed innocence.24

The investigation of Fedor’s death lasted nearly twelve months. The 
result was not an extraordinarily long judicial process or a particularly 
startling resolution to the case. The Velizh case followed the three basic 
stages of the inquisitorial process: a lengthy criminal investigation at the 
local level, the trial, and the review of the sentence by the highest court 
in the province. If convicted of blood sacrifice, the Russian government 
would not hesitate to impose the harshest penalties upon Jews for what 
it considered to be a most barbaric crime. Punishment could include 
eternal exile, knouting, beating by bastinadoes, and bodily mutilation.25 
Although the rumors circulating around town were vicious and cruel, 
the investigators did not rush to judgment. In the nineteenth century, 
the Russian government did not discredit the blood libel directly, as did 
many other European states, but it nevertheless maintained a policy of 
restraint.
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On March 6, 1817, in response to a blood libel investigation in 
Grodno, Count Aleksandr Golitsyn had distributed a circular to pro-
vincial governors that called for more demanding standards of evidence 
and greater skepticism of the alleged crime. It declared:

In view of the fact that in several provinces acquired from Poland, 
cases still occur in which the Jews are falsely accused of murder-
ing Christian children for the alleged purpose of obtaining blood, 
his Imperial Majesty, taking into consideration that similar accusa-
tions have on previous numerous occasions been refuted by impartial 
investigations and royal charters, has been graciously pleased to con-
vey to those at the head of the governments his Sovereign will: that 
henceforward the Jews shall not be charged with murdering Christian 
children, without any evidence and purely as a result of the supersti-
tious belief that they are in need of Christian blood.26

In the event of a blood libel accusation, imperial law stipulated that Jews 
would have the same legal right to a fair trial as any other subject of the 
empire of his or her social standing accused of murder.

The authorities in Velizh worked systematically through the volu-
minous documentary evidence, attempting to carry out the investiga-
tion according to the strict standards of the law. Fourteen months to 
the day after Fedor disappeared, the appellate court handed down its 
verdicts. Although the court did not discount the possibility that Daria 
Kasachevskaia and especially Maria Terenteeva had invented their sen-
sational tales to mask their own roles in the murder, it did not dismiss 
their testimony either. Based on a thorough review of all the mate-
rial and moral evidence, Khanna Tsetlina was formally acquitted, but 
the police were nevertheless instructed to closely supervise her actions 
and behavior. Mirka Aronson and her household were cleared of any 
wrongdoing, as a thorough search of the home had failed to uncover 
anything remotely suspicious, although Aronson’s son-​in-​law, Shmerka 
Berlin, was reprimanded for “spreading false rumors about the boy’s 
death.” In fact, the only person severely punished in the case was Maria 
Terenteeva: to atone for her licentious way of life, she was instructed to 
appear for admonition before an official representative of the Catholic-​
Uniate Council.27
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The acquittal of the Jews did not mean that the judges, criminal 
investigators, and provincial bureaucrats presiding over the case were 
enlightened skeptics, but only the fact that a ritual murder case could 
not be proved at law. The Russian government may have elevated judi-
cial standards, but it did not erase the crime of ritual murder from the 
law books. In the imperial Russian setting, the decisive turning point 
in acquitting Jews of blood sacrifice had more to do with the empirical 
demands of legal caution and documentary evidence than with enlight-
ened skepticism. The doubt that plagued officials in Velizh, in other 
words, had less to do with systematic philosophical doubt than with 
the simple fact that there was not enough evidence to substantiate the 
crime with certainty.28

In the final analysis, we will never know what exactly happened 
to Fedor—​whether he drowned accidently, was ruthlessly murdered, 
or died from some other cause—​or who stabbed him fourteen times. 
On November 22, 1824, the most powerful court in Vitebsk province 
reviewed the case and wrote off Fedor’s tragic death to the “will of 
God.”29 Whatever the reason may have been, the documentary evidence 
suggests that a small-​town quarrel ultimately led to the ritual mur-
der accusation. Most likely, the beggar woman Maria Terenteeva took 
advantage of the boy’s death (or perhaps killed him herself ) to get back 
at Khanna Tsetlina for her refusal of charity. The culture of giving—​the 
teachings and beliefs about offering support to those in need—​played 
an important role in both Jewish and Russian communal traditions.30 
In imperial Russia, as in the early modern world, where mutual aid 
provided a safety net for the misfortunate and needy, refusing charity 
signified a breach of neighborly duty. The act of denying food, drink, 
money, or other charity typically caused the individual who had been 
turned away to feel angry and resentful. When a personal misfortune 
subsequently happened to the person who had acted selfishly, the latter 
would often suspect that the beggar had cast a magic spell against them 
for their callous behavior.

Across most of Western and Central Europe, the overwhelming 
majority of witch cases conformed to the pattern that took place in 
Velizh—​involving one neighbor’s refusal to give a handout to another 
neighbor—​although in our case the internal logic was reversed and the 
end result was a charge of ritual murder against a neighbor who refused 



The Velizh Affair30

30

to offer charity. To put it in slightly different terms, it was usually the 
very person who failed to perform a social duty who would accuse the 
person they had turned away of witchcraft. In contrast to the typical 
witch case scenario, then, Terenteeva represents the “victim” who took 
matters into her own hands to get back at her well-​to-​do neighbor 
Tsetlina for failing to fulfill a social obligation.31

If an ordinary neighborhood dispute explains why one neighbor 
accused another neighbor of murdering a little boy, we are still left 
with a puzzle. Why did almost every Christian resident interviewed 
in Velizh respond by saying that Jews were capable of committing the 
ritual crime? The answer has less to do with what is often referred to as 
anti-​Semitism or with economic rivalries (although we should be careful 
not to dismiss the twin factors altogether) than with cosmologies of the 
time. Ritual murder accusations proved profoundly durable because of 
their capacity to mobilize fears and express popular worldviews. Most 
people in towns like Velizh believed in the tale not so much because of 
an ingrained hatred of Jews, but more often than not, because it meshed 
well with a wide repertoire of communally shared beliefs and practices.
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2•
Small-​Town Life

All across the empire, child desertion, infanticide, and infant 
mortality were commonplace. Freak accidents resulted in all sorts of 
untimely deaths. Children could die by drowning or asphyxiation, or 
burn to death in a campfire or in an iron stove inside the home. They 
could be run over by horses, cows, and goats; left out in the elements 
for too long; crushed to death by household items; fall inside a well; or 
eat poisonous leaves, berries, or mushrooms. In Novgorod province, a 
three-​year-​old boy bled to death after he fell on a knife and punctured 
his throat. In Kursk province, the ceiling of a hut collapsed, crushing 
another peasant boy to death instantaneously. Elsewhere, two child-
ren, playing a harmless game of hide-​and-​seek, suffocated to death 
when they enclosed themselves in a chest and failed to open the latch. 
The spring and summer months—​when children played outdoors 
unsupervised—​witnessed a disproportionate number of deaths. In 
Orlov province, a three-​year-​old boy stumbled into a puddle of ice 
water and promptly drowned. Not too far away, a monstrous wind 
blew over a seven-​year-​old boy into a river just as he was crossing a 
bridge. As soon as the “season turns and it becomes too cold to play 
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outside,” the Journal of the Ministry of the Interior observed, “accidents 
occur less frequently, especially in the water, the most frequent cause 
of death.”1

It was not unusual for newborn babies to be abandoned or mur-
dered. In most cases, this was how young displaced women handled 
illegitimate or unwanted pregnancies. Less frequently, as in Iaroslav 
and Saratov provinces, a father could slash the throat of a nine-​
month-​old infant boy or inadvertently stab his son with a knife in a 
fit of jealousy and blind rage.2 Beginning in the eighteenth century, 
the Russian government allocated substantial resources to deal with 
child abandonment, infanticide, and senseless killings. New initia-
tives saved the lives of children and needy mothers and increased 
the punishment for killing a legitimate child. Instructional manuals 
alerted parents how best to care for children. Hospitals, foundling 
homes, and almshouses provided refuge for the poor, ill, crippled, 
insane, and orphaned.3

In spite of the growing public interest in the sanctity of children’s 
lives, the most destitute regions continued to suffer. In Vitebsk province, 
hundreds of young children died each year in the nineteenth century. 
The most common explanations were neglect, pregnancy complications, 
and lack of proper medical attention. Other reasons were more trau-
matic and violent: infants were suffocated, drowned, strangled by their 
mothers, or, on more than infrequent occasions, eaten alive by boars 
and other wild animals. Corpses were found routinely in animal sheds, 
barnyards, courtyards, warehouses, and cellars. They could also turn up 
in woods, fields, swamps, forests, creeks, and rivers—​some of the most 
convenient places to dispose of dead bodies.4

The death of a young Christian boy was, in other words, not uncom-
mon in the life of a small provincial town like Velizh. The geography 
of the region proved particularly unforgiving. Much of the land in 
the vicinity of the town is wooded and contains large swamps that 
are impossible to traverse on foot. While passing through the western 
borderlands, the English traveler Robert Johnson remembered that 
the journey from the Russian interior to Belarus gradually became less 
hilly and picturesque. “The country suddenly loses that hilly irregular-
ity, which so bounds in the vicinity of Smolensk.”5 Although he did  
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not think the country presented any “remarkable feature,” the physi-
cian Edward Morton recalled with some fondness how the road passed 
through the thick White Russian forest, “undulating, very romanti-
cally, among the trees.”6 Lined with fir, oak, and birch trees, Vitebsk 
province was filled with large marshy areas and as many as 2,509 fresh-
water lakes of different sizes.7 An impressive number of rivers and 
creeks connected the lowland area. Johnson was struck by the fact that 
the extreme flat, open land “stretched as far as the eye could reach.”8

Historical-​demographic evidence suggests that Slavic populations 
had the highest rates of infant and childhood mortality in the Russian 
Empire. In the late nineteenth century, only about half of Russian 
Orthodox children survived to their fifth birthday. In Moscow and 
Saratov provinces, 51.6 percent of children died by age five, while 
in Tula and Nizhnii Novgorod the mortality rate was even higher, 
at 52.4 and 53.8 percent. Nearly one-​third of Russians born in the 
Great Russian provinces died before reaching their first birthday. 
The rates were lower in the western and southeastern provinces and 
spiked in the central and northeastern parts of European Russia. Jews, 
by contrast, enjoyed the lowest rate of childhood mortality of any 
confession, and an astonishingly high population growth. Research 
has shown that culture, and not environment, best explains why 
Jewish communities had better success in keeping their children alive. 
Receptive attitudes toward modern medicine, in addition to personal 
hygiene, child care practices, and systems of support within the com-
munity, accounted for more sanitary living conditions for Jews. All 
these factors contributed not only to the divergence in mortality 
rates; they also shaped the day-​to-​day interactions between Jews and 
their neighbors.9

Velizh (to paraphrase Langston Hughes) was one of those miserable 
in-​between places, just large enough to be formally classified a town.10 
It belonged to a zone known for its confessional diversity, economic 
troubles, paramilitary violence, and fluidity of borders. In 1772, after 
the first partition of the Polish-​Lithuanian Commonwealth, Russia 
acquired a territory of forty thousand square miles, roughly the size 
of Kentucky. The region had long been a safe haven for runaway serfs, 
criminals, smugglers, and illegal migrants. One of Catherine’s first  
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proclamations was to stabilize it by dividing the land into two admin-
istrative provinces, Mogilev and Vitebsk.11 Velizh was a typical military-​
administrative border town, always situated on the periphery. In the 
nineteenth century, it sat on the eastern edge of the Pale of Settlement. 
In the twentieth century, it experienced wars, occupations, and mass 
annihilation as armies conquered and reconquered the land. Today 
Velizh, a purely Russian town, sits less than eighteen miles from the 
Belarusian border. The last Jewish inhabitant died in 1973.12

Under the Polish-​Lithuanian regime, Jews faced numerous restric-
tions on their residence. Some cities, such as Warsaw and Lublin, 
did not tolerate Jews within their city limits at all, while others, 
such as Wilno (Vil’na) and Kowno (Kovno), restricted where Jews 
could live. As a result of the extensive regulations outlined in the 
town charters, Jews in pre-​partition Poland-​Lithuania were forced to 
cluster in easily identifiable neighborhoods, districts, or streets.13 At 
the turn of the nineteenth century, tsarist authorities dropped most 
of the burdensome statutes from the law books and permitted Jews 
to live, engage in trade, and build synagogues and schools wherever 
they wished inside the boundaries of the Pale of Settlement, provided 
they observed the general laws on movement and residence.14 But 
long after the partitions of the commonwealth, Jews continued to 
live in easily identifiable streets or neighborhoods, most of which 
were centrally located.

The annexed territories gave Russia some 800,000 Uniates, 100,000 
Roman Catholics, and 50,000 Jews, of whom 300 resided in Velizh.15 
In 1829, 90 percent of the 587,538 inhabitants in Vitebsk province lived 
in the countryside. Of all the places officially classified as “urban settle-
ments,” Velizh was the second largest, behind only the provincial capital 
of Vitebsk (14,777 inhabitants), and ahead of Polotsk (6,722), Lepel’ 
(5,338), Dinaburg (4,646), Nevel’ (4,538), and Surazh (4,270). Those 
decades witnessed a dramatic expansion of the Jewish population. By 
1829, the Jews of Velizh comprised less than one-​third of the population 
(somewhere around 2,000 of 6,953 inhabitants).16

At the time of the criminal investigation, Velizh was divided along 
economic, geographic, and confessional lines. Jews clustered on the 
right bank of the Western Dvina, in the most prosperous part of 
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town, while the Belarusian population, comprising mainly Uniates 
and a small number of Catholics, lived on the left bank, in the poor-
est section. The Uniate Church was Eastern Orthodox in rite and 
Roman Catholic in doctrine. Merging Latin and Byzantine elements, 
it served as the building block of peasant religious identity. The 
mixed Uniate traditions were always in constant conflict with the 
Eastern Orthodox Church. Parishioners celebrated holidays accord-
ing to the Julian calendar, the calendar of Orthodoxy, but learned 
Catholic doctrine in the catechism. They prayed to Catholic saints, 
while accepting the ceremonies and rites of the Orthodox Church. 
After the first partition, Catherine started meddling in the reli-
gious life of the Uniate community. Following the Polish Uprising 
of 1830–​1831, Nicholas I redoubled the empress’s efforts to transfer 
Uniate churches, clergy, and parishes to the Orthodox Church. By 
the mid-​1870s, the Russian government succeeded in thoroughly 
suppressing the Uniate Church and forcibly converting all its mem-
bers to Russian Orthodoxy.17

In the mid-​1820s, the regime’s campaign to eradicate the Uniate 
faith did little to alter the confessional landscape of the town. We 
could imagine Velizh as consisting of three concentric zones: the mar-
ket square, surrounding neighborhoods, and suburbs.18 An 1837 topo-
graphical survey listed 997 buildings, of which fourteen were brick 
structures; the rest were made of wood. The town hall—​a two-​story 
brick building—​was the most visible site in the market square. This 
was where the municipal government, consisting of the town council, 
treasury, and sheriff’s office, managed the town’s day-​to-​day affairs. 
The post office, also a two-​story brick building, stood on the eastern 
edge of the square, as did the courthouse. Attracting people far and 
wide, the market square was lined with rows of cloth stalls and shops 
and was the town’s central gathering place. Among the many items 
available for purchase on good days were chickens, geese, meats, an 
assortment of vegetables and fruits, fresh fish, pickled herring, milk, 
butter, and household items. Mirka Aronson’s two-​story house—​one 
of three brick town homes owned by Jewish merchant families—​
was on the left side of the town hall. Today the market square is a 
small park, with a statue of Lenin prominently on display, and Mirka 
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Map of Velizh in the 1830s. Rossiiskii gosudarstvennyi istoricheskii arkhiv, f.  1293, 
op. 166, d. 18



 

A  Ruins of medieval castle
B  Central marketplace
C  Marketplace
D  Marketplace

Brick structures
1.  St. Nicholas Uniate Cathedral
2.  St. Il’insk Uniate Church
3.  Exaltation of the Holy Spirit Uniate Church
4.  St. Trinity Uniate Church
5.  Catholic church
6.  Courthouse
7.  Town hall
8.  Post office
9.  Treasury

10.  General store
11.  House belongs to St. Nicholas Cathedral, with trade shop on the first level  

and rooms for clergy on the second floor

Wooden structures
12.  Old general store
13.  Almshouse
14.  Taverns
15.  Flour mill
16.  Tavern
17.  Bridges
18.  Primary school for Christian children
19.  Two-​story houses occupied by merchant families, with taverns  

and trading stalls on the first level
20.  Jewish school
21.  Meat stalls
22.  Trade stalls
23.  Merchant warehouses and barns
24.  Ferry
25. Town boundaries
26.  St. Petersburg Road
27.  Smolensk Road
28.  Vitebsk Road
29.  Toropets Road
30.  Occupied homes
31.  Unoccupied homes
33.  Decrepit buildings

Sites outside town boundaries
33.  St. Michael’s Cemetery
34.  Feast of the Intercession Church
35.  Vasilii the Great Church
36.  Catholic cathedral
37.  Fortress
38.  Barn
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Aronson’s house has been converted into a museum of history and 
local lore.

A visitor taking a stroll around town would see five Christian places 
of worship—​four Uniate and one Roman Catholic—​all of which were 
brick structures. The great synagogue, a two-​story wooden building, 
located just south of the town square, across the Holy Spirit Uniate 
Church, played the most visible role in the religious and educational 
life of the Jewish community.

But there were other religious institutions, not listed in the official 
topographic surveys, that served important communal functions as well. 
The kheyder, a private one-​teacher elementary school, was the stand-
ard institution of Jewish learning. Teachers taught little boys sacred 
Jewish texts in their own homes, beginning at age three. The physical 
conditions—​poor ventilation and easy transmission of disease—​were 
typically abysmal and the study hours exasperatingly long. The more 

A statue of  Vladimir Lenin  
in the center of the town 
park, the site of the mar-
ketplace in the nineteenth 
century. With the dissolu-
tion of the Soviet Union 
in 1991, many cities and 
towns destroyed the stat-
ues. Photograph by Jeffrey 
Shallit
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advanced students continued with studies of the Talmud in the bes-
medresh (communal study hall). With a large section reserved for men 
and a smaller one for women, the besmedresh served as a place of Torah 
learning and worship. The furnishings were simple, consisting of chairs 
and tables, and most people came for several hours of part-​time study 
and prayer.19

Due to the significant presence of Hasidim, it is likely that there were 
several shtibls in town. The shtibl was not only a place for prayer and study, 
as was a synagogue or besmedresh, but also a social and recreational center 
akin to a club or pub patronized by only men. Most shtibls were modest 
in size—​a hall, small building, or private home—​and contemporaries 
observed that, in addition to prayer and study, eating, singing, dancing, 
storytelling, and overindulgences were commonplace. Jewish law for-
bade levity, idle talk, eating, drinking, and sleeping in a house of prayer. 
Rabbinical authorities spilled much ink in denouncing the Hasidim for 
engaging in these activities. For their part, authorities were not so much 
troubled by the Hasidim straying outside the established boundaries of 
prayer and study. What concerned them most was the merriment, loud 
noise, and drunkenness that went on in shtibls at all hours of the night.20

Walking south on Il’inskaia Street, away from the marketplace, 
visitors would pass by the Roman Catholic church, a wooden meat 

The Velizh Museum is now housed in the building where the Aronson/​Berlin 
family lived in the 1820s. The structure was rebuilt after World War II.  Photograph 
by the author
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stall, and a tavern. If they turned right, they would cross a small 
wooden bridge and stumble upon the ruins of a medieval castle on 
the embankment, probably built in the fourteenth century. If they 
made a slight turn to the left, they would see a flour mill and brew-
ery. Only a few steps away was the general store, which occupied a 
two-​story brick building recently erected. Just north of the market 
square on Il’inskaia Street was the St. Il’insk Uniate Church. A med-
ical clinic, another tavern, flour mill, and a small primary school 
for Christian children were some of the other significant sites in the 
neighborhood.

In Velizh, as in many other towns in the East European borderlands, 
Jews owned almost all the homes and shops in the center, managed a siz-
able portion of the estates in the provincial district, enjoyed a monopoly 
on the marketplace, and controlled timber sales, small-​scale trade, and 
the liquor industry.21 A complex of wooden homes, owned mostly by 
Jews and a small number of humble Polish landowners, dotted the 
eastern and western sides of the marketplace. These were one-​story 
structures, consisting of several rooms, with courtyards and gates. Most 
Jews who lived there worked as tailors, cobblers, woodworkers, soap and 
candlestick makers, and brush and comb makers. Some were bakers, 
teachers, brewers, distillers, and glaziers. In the outlying areas, the small 
wooden homes were occupied by peasant families, lodgers, retired sol-
diers, vagrants, and itinerant laborers. Soldiers’ barracks, peasant huts, 
and other modest wooden dwellings with dirt floors, tiny windows, 
and damp walls could be found on the southern side of the town, on 
either side of the Western Dvina. The jail stood next to the woods on 
the outskirts of town along Smolensk Road. The Jewish cemetery was 
located on the northern tip, around a thirty-​minute walk from the town 
center, and St. Michael’s Cemetery was on the south side, not too far 
away from where the little boy Fedor was born.

Travelers took note of the miserable state of the land and the people 
on the western side of the Russian border. Robert Johnson, for instance, 
was taken aback at how quickly the “Russian character—​the lively and 
boisterous mirth of the poor Russ—​changed for the cold, calculating 
silence of the other.” Every feature—​including the countenances, cos-
tume, and cut of hair—​indicated a change of tribe. Jews were the princi-
pal inhabitants of the region. And he could not believe how many there 



 

A postcard of Il’inskaia Street. The St. Il’insk Church, built in 1772 and demol-
ished during World War II, is in the background. Velizh Museum
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were, “much more than might have been expected, so near the frontiers 
of ancient Russia, a country in which a Jew has never attempted to 
enter.” “The common Lithuanians”—​a reference to local Uniates and 
Catholics—​“are poor, miserable, abject creatures,” while Jews “are lanky 
and squalid,” all dressed alike “in long tunics of black silk, with a broad 
silken sash tied around the waist. On the head they wear a small velvet 
cap, and over it a huge one made of fur.”22

Velizh county had the lowest population density in the province. It 
also experienced some of the worst cases of famine, due in part to the 
gritty nature of the sandy soil.23 In an assessment of the grain shortages 
in Belarus, the poet-​cum-​statesman Gavriil Derzhavin observed, after a 
personal tour of the region in 1799, that Vitebsk province was in much 
worse shape than its neighbor Mogilev. With all the grain reserves used 
up, the “entire northern region is suffering not only shortages, but 
real-​life hunger.”24 For Derzhavin, the source of the problem was the 
unhealthy relations between petty Polish landowners, peasants, and 

The great synagogue burned down in 1868. Male congregants sat around the spa-
cious perimeter and on the sides of the bimah. Perezhitoe 3 (1911)
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Jews. By allowing Jews to manage noble estates and encouraging harm-
ful pursuits such as the liquor trade, Polish landowners left peasants at 
the mercy of the lease agents. Derzhavin spent the bulk of his lengthy 
Opinion blaming Jews for the region’s economic woes.25

The war with Napoleon devastated the region. The Grand Armée 
numbering half a million men crossed the Nemen River on June 24, 1812. 
The French troops continued on to Vil’na (June 30), Vitebsk (July 28),  
and Smolensk (August 18) before marching toward Moscow and back. 
As the Russian army retreated, Cossacks were given the unenviable 
task of burning entire villages and towns, bridges, and crossways and 
destroying all the food and fodder they could grab. Local goods and pro-
duce were burned or carried away from neighborhood stores. Desertion 
rates were unusually high.26 In his reflections on the ruins he witnessed, 
Edward Morton noted, “All the ground was trodden by the conflict-
ing armies in the memorable campaign of 1812: upon these very plains 
thousands and tens of thousands of the French invaders perished by 
the sword and the rigour of the climate, in addition to their numerous 
opponents who fell in the cause of their country.”27 Focusing on the 
situation in Smolensk, Robert Johnson remarked, “Never did the hand 
of destruction press more heavily than on this ill-​fated city. Everything 
bears the mark of French devastation.” After a sizable number of the 
inhabitants fled for their lives, “nothing but a melancholy and horrid 
picture of ruin is distinguishable.”28

For more than six months, soldiers fought over and plundered the 
land, causing massive casualties and destruction of personal property. 
Witnesses observed how fires blazed through neighborhoods and, on 
occasion, wiped out entire urban settlements. The soldier Jakob Walter 
reported that many of the towns “not only were completely stripped 
[of provisions] but were also half-​burned.”29 In the provincial capital 
of Vitebsk, 2,415 residents (half of them Jews) died in the war and an 
estimated 1.5 million rubles’ worth of property was destroyed (of which 
67 percent belonged to Jews). Minsk county may have endured the 
highest deaths, an estimated 55,500, but the numbers were not much 
lower in the surrounding territories. Witnesses recalled that more than 
15,000 corpses were buried under the ice in the Nemen River. Roughly 
1,000 charred bodies were found in Snipishki and an additional 5,000 
in Antokol’. In Grodno province, the death totals exceeded 4,000 and 
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the destruction of property was estimated at 29 million rubles, while its 
neighbor Mogilev endured 33.5 million rubles’ worth of damage. The 
same was true, to a lesser degree, for the counties of Vil’na, Kovno, and 
Tel’shi.30

Velizh experienced the full brunt of the war, with 90 percent of all 
homes heavily damaged by fires and looting, and it continued to deal 
with the aftereffects for many years to come.31 The heavy loss of livestock 
and repeated crop failures during and after the war resulted in dimin-
ished food supplies. In the years 1821–​1822, a devastating famine swept 
through the region, causing widespread population loss. One provincial 
official reported that “many of the inhabitants [in Vitebsk province] 
were crippled from hunger,” estimating that one hundred people died 
of malnutrition and ninety-​eight more were on the verge of death. The 
loss of income due to lackluster agricultural production led to a sharp 
decline in living standards and life expectancy.

The famine hit the peasantry particularly hard, although it trau-
matized everyone, including the townspeople and nobility. It was not 
uncommon for people from all walks of life, dressed in tattered clothing, 
to beg for handouts when they could not find anything to eat. The harsh 
winter exacerbated the situation. In February 1822, at least forty-​three 
peasants succumbed to hunger while huddling together in an empty 
provincial post office to escape from the cold. In a shelter for the home-
less in Vitebsk, three or four people died every night from hunger or 
illness; the rest slept on dirt floors, where the air quality was particularly 
poor. As the province sank into despair from grain shortages, officials 
resorted to desperate measures to contain the crisis from reaching epi-
demic proportions. To stop the spread of contagion and disease, the 
most destitute were buried in mass graves.32

Provincial governors sent detailed reports of the horrors they wit-
nessed. Initially, St. Petersburg responded by dismissing the news as 
“unsubstantiated rumors,” but eventually it sent Senator D. O. Baranov 
to inspect the hungry towns and villages.33 Baranov concluded what so 
many others had said before him: he blamed the deteriorating situation 
on Jews’ exploitation of the peasantry. The moment the commonwealth 
was partitioned, Russia’s concerns with peasant drunkenness led to a 
series of prohibitions on the liquor trade, with Jews as the chief tar-
gets. On April 11, 1823, Alexander I (reaffirming article 34 of the 1804 
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statute) forbade Jews from holding a lease on a tavern, drinking house, 
or inn, and selling or distributing liquor in villages. The net result of 
the state’s attempt to legislate tavern keeping was the resettlement of 
tens of thousands of souls from the countryside. By January 1, 1824, 
authorities expelled nearly 20,000 Jews from Chernigov and Poltava 
provinces, 12,804 from Mogilev, and 7,651 from Vitebsk.34 In the ensu-
ing years, the situation got particularly bad in overcrowded towns. In 
a desperate attempt to make a living, hungry and unemployed Jews 
petitioned the governor-​general’s office to allow them to return to the 
countryside to find odd jobs in carpentry, blacksmithing, and road and 
canal construction.35

Just as the imperial administration was busy drawing distinct 
lines between Jews and peasants, it started to devise extensive poli-
cies to impose administrative order on its religious minorities. The 
conscription of Jews into the imperial army in August 1827 con-
stituted the first successful effort to socially engineer the lives and 
institutions of the largest Jewish population in the world. Parents 
and children alike perceived military service to be a most frighten-
ing experience. For Jewish males between the ages of twelve and 
twenty-​five, the twenty-​five-​year term seemed like a death sentence. 
The army’s missionary tactics resulted in more than twenty thousand 
conversions, mostly of destitute and orphaned young males. In no 
time, Nicholas’s conscription law sent shock waves throughout the 
Jewish communities in the Pale, but the emperor had no intention 
of stopping there.36

Nicholas’s regime spent considerable energy intervening in Jewish 
communal affairs. Above all, it hoped to minimize the efficacy of the 
kahal (the executive board of the community) and rabbinic authority. 
Long before the 1844 reform officially weakened Jewish communal 
autonomy, the tsars, from Catherine II to Nicholas I, considered sev-
eral proposals to refashion collective representation and to make the 
state the ultimate arbiter of individual grievances. The drive to curtail 
autonomous institutions represented a crucial moment in the state’s 
efforts to forge direct links with its diverse populations. The campaigns 
were largely consistent with the techniques with which the state man-
aged its vast empire. The idea was to do away with local intermediaries 
who presided over a variety of matters involving record keeping, census 
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collection, and municipal administration. The reforms to destabilize 
Jewish communal life were felt in the domestic sphere as well, includ-
ing the wildly unpopular sartorial decrees prohibiting men and women 
from wearing Jewish dress.37

In the 1820s, when the Velizh ritual murder investigation was in full 
swing, the state’s interventionist designs had not been fully put into 
action. A community steeped in the day-​to-​day rhythms of Judaism 
continued to define itself according to the Jewish calendar. The Jewish 
spaces in Vitebsk and Mogilev provinces were populated by followers 
of a branch of Hasidism known as Habad. Founded by Rabbi Shneur 
Zalman at the end of the eighteenth century, the movement was cen-
tered in Liubavachi, only seventy miles south of Velizh.38 Hasidism, a 
popular religious revival movement, emerged spontaneously. A group 
of pious Torah scholars, Kabbalists, and baalei shem (miracle workers) 
made mystical ethos and ecstatic prayer a central part of religious expe-
rience. The groups were headed by tsaddikim (righteous individuals) 
known for their charismatic religious leadership, folksy discussions, and 
supernatural powers. The tsaddikim established lavish courts and exerted 
a great deal of influence over their followers. The masses expressed their 
allegiance through prayer, pilgrimages, the repetition of sermons, and 
other religious activities. The misnagdim—​the rabbinical opponents 
who elevated ascetic Torah studies—​were greatly offended by the mysti-
cal prayers and communication with the supernatural realm, and dispar-
aged the baalei shem as superficial mystics and quack doctors.39

By the turn of the nineteenth century, Hasidism was firmly estab-
lished as a folk movement, which then split into numerous branches, 
with large and small groups flourishing in Poland, Ukraine, Galicia, cer-
tain parts of Belarus, and various other corners of Eastern Europe. For 
the Russian government, the Hasidim was one dark mass of religious 
zealots, who “at time of prayer made loud, frightening noise—​crying, 
clapping hands together, performing somersaults, swinging arms in all 
directions, while distorting and convulsing their bodies,” in the words 
of Derzhavin.40 He compared the Hasidim to Russian Orthodox schis-
matics who had deviated from established religious norms and set new 
customs for itself.41

In point of fact, important regional differences shaped the lifestyles 
and religious activities of Hasidic communities. Shneur Zalman’s 
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principal contribution to Habad was in the form of an intellectual 
spirituality and emphasis on practical action. After being charged with 
sedition, he told Russian interrogators that the Hasidim “fulfilled the 
commandments of God much more punctiliously than ordinary Jews, 
and even more than some of the ones learned in Torah.”42 For his part, 
Zalman took on the role of an educator and a spiritual guide. He never 
claimed that the holy spirit permeated his sermons. Zalman may have 
distanced himself from practical Kabbala practices—​the ability to influ-
ence the supernatural realm by way of charms, amulets, and mystical 
prayers—​but his conception of Judaism was nevertheless imbued with 
Kabbalistic doctrines.43

The thousands of Jews who visited Shneur Zalman’s court rarely lived 
above the subsistence level. They came for advice, solace, and prayer, 
harboring intense expectations that the tsaddik would help with their 
earthly needs. Most people in the northwest provinces of the Russian 
Empire, including no small number of Jews in Velizh, possessed the 
barest necessities to feed their families. For the better part of the nine-
teenth century, Vitebsk province was in desperate economic shape. The 
provincial governor warned St. Petersburg that the “standard of living 
of the population would continue to decline if a positive resolution to 
the situation would not soon be found.”44 In the span of thirty years, 
between 1822 and 1852, the province was hit with ten disappointing har-
vests, three of which turned into famines.45 The scarcity of resources and 
large-​scale outbreaks of epidemics caused widespread misfortune. After 
a tour of the region in 1841, one inspector found that there was little or 
no maintenance of infrastructure in most provincial towns, including 
bridges, highways, and streets. Nor was there any new construction 
of town squares, public gardens, inns, and bridges. The morale of the 
population was so low that more people died by suicide (56) than by 
homicide (18).46

Russian administrators devised plans, usually with little foresight or 
creativity, to increase productivity. Authorities blamed the underde-
velopment on two main factors: poor soil fertility, which contributed 
to the inconsistency in crop yields, and the Jewish monopolization of 
small-​scale trade. It did not help matters that excessive rains curbed 
grain yields and damaged plant roots and hay.47 The bulk of the govern-
ment programs, including restrictions on Jewish commercial activities, 
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did little to ease hunger problems or advance growth. The mass popula-
tion transfers—​the main conduit by which the state hoped to trans-
form agricultural settlements—​resulted in a severe loss of income for 
Polish landlords, fueled overcrowding, and ultimately did nothing to 
change the functional structure of the towns.48 The idea was to remake 
urban centers into active sites of manufacturing and trade by replacing 
the Jewish cloth stall—​the principal site of exchange—​with large-​scale 
industry.49 But for the better part of the second quarter of the nine-
teenth century, much of the economic output consisted of cheap goods 
manufactured for local customers. Nearly 87 percent of the enterprises 
involved the production of wine and beer, 11 percent of brick and 
leather, and less than 2 percent of Jewish ritual garments, linens, glass, 
and wax candles.50

The Vitebsk provincial economy displayed striking similarities to 
that of sixteenth century Europe, where market towns within a radius 
of fifty to one hundred square miles consumed the bulk of the agricul-
tural output. With the occupational structure firmly rooted in local 
households and villages and semiautonomous market towns, the main 
problem to overcome was how to expand interregional trade.51 In the 
end, the commercial activities paled in comparison to what was hap-
pening in Podolia, Volynia, and Kiev (what is now Ukraine) or Nizhnii 
Novgorod (the Russian heartland). On a typical day at a local fair in 
a Ukrainian market town, customers could acquire an assortment of 
locally manufactured and imported goods, such as rolls of fine silk, 
velvet, satin fabric, caviar, coffee, Turkish beans, almonds, Chinese tea, 
boots, belts, smoked fish, and tobacco.52 The Makar’ev Fair in Nizhnii 
Novgorod turned into the largest gathering in all of Europe, attracting 
Chinese and Jewish merchants, Russian textile producers, entertainers, 
and more than one million visitors annually.53 By contrast, the Vitebsk 
provincial fairs were so poorly attended that merchants from neigh-
boring regions decided that it was not worth the meager payoff to haul 
caravans of heavy merchandise over the long distances. The bulk of the 
Belarusian population lived in a state of semi-​starvation and had no 
means to buy anything of material significance. In 1848, at the annual 
fair in Dinaburg, less than 37 percent of all goods were sold; the total 
was slightly lower for Drissa, at 35 percent. With respect to Velizh, in 
addition to poverty, epidemic diseases such as cholera and influenza 
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contributed to the lackluster sales. “Locals are just too poor [to purchase 
goods],” one official noted tersely.54

In the second half of the nineteenth century, improvement in com-
munications, infrastructure, and transportation, including large-​scale 
railroad construction, played a significant role in linking Russia’s 
regional economies with global markets. The industrial age altered the 
position of the retail trader and older ways of making money. Railway 
lines created extraordinary opportunities to connect provincial popula-
tions with settlements in distant corners of the empire. Newly estab-
lished urban markets, from Warsaw and Odessa to St. Petersburg and 
Kazan, gradually replaced the marketplace and the seasonal fair. With 
the economy growing at a brisk rate of 5 percent annually, an increasing 
number of Jews took advantage of the transportation revolution and 
the relaxation of residence laws to travel to rapidly expanding urban 
centers in the Pale of Settlement and beyond, where they became highly 
visible participants in the wholesale industry, retail trade, banking, and 
middle-​class professions.55

The railroad track never made it to Velizh. But at least ten steamships 
owned by two different companies transported a wide variety of textile 
goods, grains, and timber along the Western Dvina from the Gulf of 
Riga to the Russian interior, with stops in Polotsk, Vitebsk, and Velizh.56 
Although Vitebsk province was not entirely bypassed in Russia’s great 
leap forward—​the provincial capital, for instance, became a hub for 
merchants and troupes of touring actors and artists from St. Petersburg, 
Kiev, and Odessa—​most people lived in a world that was strikingly sim-
ilar to that of the 1820s and 1830s. According to the 1897 all-​imperial 
census, 85.5 percent of the 1,489,245 inhabitants in the province contin-
ued to reside in the countryside; Velizh county continued to rank dead 
last in population density. Six of the eleven settlements designated as 
urban had a population of less than 10,000 (five of which with less than 
5,200 inhabitants). The town of Velizh may have mirrored Russia’s pop-
ulation explosion, nearly doubling in size from 6,953 in 1829 to 12,193 
in 1897, but ranked a distant fourth behind Dvinsk (69,675), Vitebsk 
(65,871), and Polotsk (20,294).57

Comprising nearly 50 percent of the population, most Velizh Jews 
(numbering 5,989 in 1897) died in the same place where they were 
born. They were unable or unwilling to leave their hometown for long 



The Velizh Affair50

50

stretches of time. Jewish boys received their religious education in 
Hebrew in kheyders, while girls were taught Yiddish grammar and read-
ing by private tutors. Very few children went on to study in a besmedresh, 
which marked the end not only of their religious education but also of 
their education generally.58

At the turn of the twentieth century, as before, Jews specialized in 
small-​scale trade and the production of clothing, footwear, and crafts. 
They owned nearly all the shops, taverns, and inns in town. Some found 
work at paper or water mills or brick and candlestick factories. Most 
worked as bakers, tailors, shoemakers, butchers, carpenters, and distill-
ers. Others caught fish, traded in livestock, and loaned money at inter-
est. Abraham Cahan, the founder and longtime editor of the Jewish 
Daily Forward who spent some time teaching at a public school in 
Velizh in the late 1870s, remembered Jews as extraordinarily pious, 
superstitious, and set in their ways. Save for a few exceptions, they knew 
just enough Russian to haggle at the bazaar and communicate with their 
Belarusian neighbors, most of whom were “close to pure Russians in 
their speech and dress.”59 That said, however fundamental the changes 
in capitalist development may have been in the late Russian Empire, 
Velizh Jews lived their lives in much the same way that their parents and 
grandparents had before them.60

The development of a wide range of economic relationships between 
Jews and their neighbors allowed social contacts to broaden. Jews played 
visible roles in local economies by making and selling alcoholic bever-
ages, trading and delivering goods and products, and managing noble 
estates. In the Lithuanian portion of the commonwealth, a handful of 
noblemen owned as much as 90 percent of the land. Jews performed 
such vital roles in local economies that they received communal protec-
tions, privileges, and support from the noblemen on whose estates they 
lived and worked.61 For those Jews who lived in small market towns such 
as Velizh, handicrafts or commercial trade were the preferred occupa-
tions. But no matter what economic activities they practiced, Jews and 
their neighbors did not live in hermetic isolation or in clearly demar-
cated living quarters.62

Economic activities had important implications for the types of social 
relationships Jews and their neighbors formed. Commercial exchanges 
led to social connections, appreciation of religious differences, and even,  
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on occasion, friendships.63 At the same time, economic activities helped 
to produce many of the conflicts between neighbors. Individuals turned 
to local courts to protect their possessions and commodities from unlaw-
ful abuse. Imperial institutions structured people’s lives, while civil law 
provided the necessary framework for establishing the rules and proce-
dures that helped to mediate conflicts.64 For cases involving litigants of 
different religious origin or social status, civil courts provided the most 
effective means of adjudicating disagreements. People turned to district 
or provincial courts to settle a broad range of issues involving contrac-
tual obligations, monetary compensation, rent, inheritance rights, and 
property.65 Even in those instances when two Jews could have turned to 
the Jewish court system, they usually opted to use civil courts. For the 
ordinary person, the abstract principles of Jewish law proved difficult to 
comprehend, while a ruling based on established commercial practices 
made more practical sense.66

Not surprisingly, lawsuits represented only a fraction of the total 
number of disagreements that took place between neighbors. Then 
as now, neighborly disputes centered on mundane things: loud noise, 
verbal altercations, rowdy gatherings, rude comments and gestures, per-
ceived slights, odd or malicious behavior, or anything else that might be 
interpreted as particularly rude or offensive. Scholars working on civil 
litigation practices in other settings observe that many more disputes 
are resolved amicably before they ever appear in court. In whatever time 
or place they live, in other words, people use all possible means to set-
tle their differences by negotiating, persuading, and reasoning.67 While 
most neighborly feuds were resolved informally, individuals turned to 
imperial Russian courts, in part, because they had few alternatives avail-
able to them in the first half of the nineteenth century. What else could 
they do, to whom could they turn, if a neighbor refused to return their 
debt, pay their rent, or fulfill their contractual obligation?

Social tensions were a fundamental, even productive, reality of every-
day life.68 But benign annoyances always had the potential of erupting 
into something much larger and sinister. It was not unusual for Jews and 
their neighbors to get into arguments, which on occasion could turn 
into fistfights, or for judges to punish residents for theft, arson, personal 
insults, offensive threats, and vandalism. According to one sample of 
criminal cases, theft and robbery accounted for most crimes committed 
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by and against Jews.69 Although homicide by Christians against Jews or 
Jews against Christians turned out to be an extraordinarily rare phenom-
enon, it was not uncommon for spontaneous disturbances to take place 
during religious ceremonies, as they did from time to time during the 
Paschal season, with the awesome power of solidifying social boundaries.

The market town was filled with filth and disease. Poorly ventilated 
and overcrowded homes facilitated influenzas and measles. Animals gave 
humans many of the worst infections, including tuberculosis and viral 
pox, while poor sanitation caused waterborne bacilli to germinate with 
frightening speed. Feces and other water pollutants insured the spread 
of polio, cholera, typhoid, viral hepatitis, whooping cough, and diph-
theria. People with a low standard of living had a particularly hard time 
fighting off outbreaks of infectious diseases.70 In their journeys across 
the Pale of Settlement, travelers recounted that inns were littered with 
“all kinds of slop and kitchen leftovers,” and that streets were typically 
“narrow and impassably dirty.” The huts, one observer wrote, “sagging 
and propped up on stakes, [resembled] not so much a human habitation 
as a barn.” The economist Andrei Subbotin was struck by the unsightly 
“filth and stench” in Jewish courtyards, although he conceded that the 
buildings “turned out to be much cleaner inside than we expected.”71 
Abraham Cahan recalled that Velizh was surrounded on all sides by 
“expanses of mud and puddles,” the size of which he had never seen 
before.72 Turning his attention to everyday afflictions, the ethnogra-
pher Moisei Berlin noted that young Jewish children were susceptible 
to hemorrhoids (from sitting down in one place for too long), con-
sumption (from lack of fresh air and physical exercise), and scrofula 
(from unsanitary home environments and poor diet).73 Thinking back 
to his childhood years, the Yiddish writer Yekhezkel Kotik remembered 
how every year epidemics would break out in his hometown. Children 
would fall ill with measles, smallpox, and scarlet fever. “Diseases, peo-
ple believed, were inflicted by God himself, and the brackish pool [the 
section of the river alongside the bathhouse] was left to spread diseases 
and epidemics, year in, year out.”74

In Vitebsk province, scurvy, catarrhal inflammation, scarlet fever, 
and bloody diarrhea were the chief biological killers.75 Experts tour-
ing the region determined that improper diet, caused mainly by poor 
harvests, contributed to the high mortality rates. Animals desperate for 
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nourishment were vulnerable as well. To understand the complexities of 
Russia’s life, the most capable administrators urged their subordinates 
to compile accurate data about the state of the province. In 1827, more 
than 830 livestock succumbed to disease, causing an estimated 24,900 
rubles in damage.76 Nineteen years later, more than 13,750 horses, 72,000 
horned cattle, and 95,200 small livestock reportedly died from eating 
plant toxins and contaminated grass.77 The health crisis, for humans and 
animals, was probably much more severe than the raw numbers suggest. 
The Ministry of the Interior had a hard time trusting the data that were 
being compiled at the local level. To eradicate frightful afflictions and 
provide medical care in a timely manner, the Vitebsk Provincial Gazette 
urged physicians to report accurate numbers. Russian authorities were 
particularly concerned that neither public health workers nor private 
practitioners bothered to “report how many sick patients they treated 
or who had received the vaccinations.”78

It was one thing to know what ailed people, but an entirely different 
matter to treat sick patients. In the second quarter of the nineteenth cen-
tury, Vitebsk province lacked the basic infrastructure—​hospitals, clin-
ics, and poorhouses—​to provide effective medical services. According 
to one inspection report, most of the facilities were housed in primi-
tive buildings, which often lacked beds, clean linen, patient garments, 
medical supplies, and dishes. Even the largest public hospital in the 
provincial capital of Vitebsk struggled to maintain adequate sanitary 
conditions. Without enough trained doctors and medical assistants, it 
could not keep up with the growing demand in healthcare. Predictably, 
the situation turned out much worse in provincial towns such as Velizh 
and Polotsk, where patients were given their meals in “rotten wooden 
bowls.”79

By the turn of the twentieth century, the situation in public health-
care showed no signs of improvement. Vitebsk province maintained ten 
public hospitals and sixty-​nine pharmacies. But with only one certified 
physician for every 9,500 or more residents, sick people chose to visit a 
local apothecary to relieve their pain and discomfort instead of waiting 
in long lines at hospitals. Housed in a private home or shop, apothe-
caries were unofficial laboratories, specializing in secret medical prod-
ucts, usually of substandard quality, and exotic powders, spices, pills, 
balsams, healing herbs, oils, and rubs. At least 167 apothecaries were in 
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operation, treating everything from syphilis, scarlet fever, dysentery, and 
the flu to typhoid, Siberian ulcers, whooping cough, and diphtheria. 
Health inspectors conceded that it was nearly impossible to close down 
the “underground pharmacies,” run by healers with no proper medical 
training, because they “satisfied the needs of the masses.”80

When dealing with health and disease, Jews and their Slavic neigh-
bors shared a common cultural frame.81 To manipulate reality, they 
filtered Latin, German, Polish, Ukrainian, Belarusian, and Yiddish 
elements and expressions. The remarkable elasticity of this system of 
thought meant that Jews and Slavs employed similar magical tech-
niques to manipulate the natural world. A network of medical prac-
titioners, folk healers, and sorcerers relied on a regimen of potions to 
treat common ailments and dysfunctions. They used plants, herbs, and 
roots to prepare special powders. One tried and tested remedy, designed 
to treat fevers, called for exactly seventy-​seven grains of legumes to 
be poured into a special pot with a lid. The owner of the pot was 
required to urinate on the legumes and put soft mud around the lid 
so that it would stick firmly to the pot. Afterward, it was to be bur-
ied deep in the ground where no one would pass over it.82 This and 
many other similar remedies made it into popular handbooks, filled 
with Kabbalistic references, alchemical and astrological symbols, and 
fancy diagrams. On other occasions the do-​it-​yourself concoctions 
were preserved for posterity in a rich oral folk culture, to which both 
communities contributed.

The Vitebsk Provincial Gazette featured numerous columns with 
homemade recipes treating everything from Siberian ulcers and diar-
rhea to common headaches and eye ailments.83 To the believers, the folk 
cures possessed their own inherent logic. Slavs relied on a wide range of 
prayer formulas, spells, and objects to protect themselves and their loved 
ones against hidden dangers lurking within. Men and women employed 
techniques that touched on all aspects of the life cycle, including pre-
dicting the length of a person’s life, discovering the sex of an unborn 
child, and warding off hidden dangers associated with death and after-
life. They turned to icons imbued with miraculous healing powers to 
protect homes from fires, cure blindness, and help with difficult child-
births. They cultivated elaborate friendships with their saints in search 
of wondrous medical cures for paralysis or arthritis. A touch of a saint’s 
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holy body, for instance, could heal an especially piercing toothache or a 
severe inflammation of the nerves. Rubbing a bit of holy oil was widely 
considered an indispensable treatment for a wide range of afflictions. 
Fortune-​tellers used water, fire, and mirrors to look into the future to 
discover marriage prospects, address an evil spirit, or find a missing 
person. Dream and vision interpretation was considered a particularly 
effective method to gaze into personal fortunes and misfortunes.84

Belief in the power of magical cures was widespread among com-
mon town dwellers, as well as progressively educated elites. Pauline 
Wengeroff, who grew up in a wealthy and very pious Jewish home 
in Brest, recalled how a local folk healer eased pain and affliction. To 
ward off the evil eye, the healer would take a piece of clothing, usually 
a sock or a vest, whisper a secret text, and spit on it three times. For a 
toothache, he would lead the sick child outside at midnight to face the 
moon, and would first stroke the right cheek and then the left one, all 
the while murmuring mystical words. From Kislev until Adar on the 
Hebrew calendar (usually, November until February), Wengeroff also 
noted, her parents roasted goose fat in complete silence, so that the evil 
eye would not fall on it.85 Yekhezkel Kotik’s childhood was stricken by 
fears of evil spirits, demons, and witchcraft. To cure afflictions associated 
with the evil eye, local healers would rub small bones from a human 
skeleton or two eggs on the spot and whisper incantations. To cure nag-
ging ailments, for both Jews and Christians, they would apply cupping 
glasses, administer enemas, and perform bloodletting.86

Attitudes toward the supernatural realm were eclectic and attracted a 
diverse group of practitioners. Tales of spirit possession—​the phenome-
non that an alien spirit, either a dead human or departed soul, entered a 
person and controlled that person’s actions—​enjoyed immense popular-
ity.87 Hasidic parables and tales, as told by tsaddikim to their followers, 
revealed how wandering souls entered the body of a living person to 
either fulfill a mitzvah or atone for a sin. They described the prolifera-
tion of dark forces in everyday life and the triumph of tsaddikim over 
the powers of impurity.88 Kotik recalled how everyone in his hometown 
believed in the existence of demons, devils, and evil spirits. The teachers 
would “stuff the heads of their pupils with innumerable tales of devils’ 
doings.” They knew exactly what awaited a man as soon as he entered 
the world to come, and how he ascended to heaven. When someone 
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would die that person would be “laid out on the floor, not on the bare 
floor, but on straw, so that each wisp pricks him a thousand needles. 
Then evil spirits surround him during the funeral procession. And when 
the body is lowered into the grave, the Angel of Dumah . . . rips open his 
belly, plucks out his guts, and flings them into his face. He then turns 
the corpse over, strikes it with a white-​hot iron rod, subjects it to excru-
ciating torture, and finally tears the body to pieces.”89

The power to heal and to harm developed in relation to one another. 
The invisibility of demons was their most frightful attribute. Jews exper-
imented with an eclectic mix of magical practices to counteract elements 
deemed harmful or suspicious. To protect their earthly possessions, 
they wore protective amulets containing biblical texts, numerical and 
alphabetical codes, and precious stones. They hung mezuzahs outside 
their doors and recited the Shema (the oldest fixed prayer in Judaism) 
into their children’s ears while they were asleep.90 No less significant 
were the ways in which the diabolical anti-​world played in creating 
strains, divisions, and fears in daily life. Since the late Middle Ages, an 
extensive Christian folklore had told elaborate stories of Jewish sorcery, 
the potency of blood, and the salvific powers of human sacrifice. The 
conviction that Jews deployed magic to inflict harm on their neighbors 
ran deep in the popular imagination. In Velizh, as in so many other 
small towns in the borderlands, tales about evil Jews and ritual murder 
circulated by word of mouth in streets, taverns, and courtyards.91
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3•
Tsar Alexander Pays a Visit

In April 1825, Tsar Alexander I and his wife, Elizabeth Alekseevna, 
decided to take a holiday somewhere warm before the start of the 
autumn rain. They talked of Germany and Italy but in the end agreed 
on Taganrog, a quiet port town on the Azov Sea. Elizabeth’s health had 
deteriorated, and she often took to her chamber for days at a time. 
The route Alexander chose ensured that every arrangement had been 
made to guarantee her rest and comfort. They would avoid major urban 
centers, where there would be official processions and exhausting reli-
gious ceremonies. From St. Petersburg, they would proceed due south 
to Velizh, turn southeast by way of Dorogobuzh, Roslavl, Novgorod-​
Severskii, and Belgorod, and pass through Bakhmut before reaching 
their destination. After months of careful planning, Alexander left the 
imperial capital on September 1, three days before Elizabeth. Traveling 
some 1,400 miles at a reckless pace in a carriage drawn by three horses, 
Alexander took exactly thirteen days to reach the Azov Sea.1

The tsar tried to keep his travel plans a secret. In the last years of 
his life, dissatisfied with himself and his accomplishments, Alexander 
preferred to spend his days in solitude and quiet. News, however, not 
only reached the diplomatic corps in the capital but the provincial 
towns along the mapped out itinerary as well. The moment he set foot 
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in Velizh on September 4, Alexander was handed a complaint by none 
other than Maria Terenteeva:

In the year 1823 (I can’t recall the exact month and date) a misfortune 
befell my son. In the town of Velizh, in Vitebsk province, the Jews, 
residents of that town, stabbed my son Demian Emelianov [sic] to 
death on the Slobotsky Bridge. I only recall the names Iuzik and his 
wife Khanna who grabbed [my son] on the bridge and killed him. 
Because of this incident, I personally asked the chief of police, whose 
name I don’t know, to grant me legal protection, but he declined my 
request. I’ve seen him six times to demand my rights, but instead he 
ordered that I be kept under police watch and be given twelve kopeks 
a day. Although I’m free now, I want to live without harassment in 
my town of Velizh. The Jews told me repeatedly that they’re planning 
on kidnapping me, and I’m still running away from them. Now, as a 
result of the loss of my son by people who don’t believe in Christ our 
lord, I’ve come running to the feet of your imperial majesty, begging 
for your royal protection.2

Notwithstanding Terenteeva’s far-​fetched claim that the boy in question 
was her biological son or the fact that she did not even get the name 
right, Alexander took the murder charge seriously. He immediately for-
warded the complaint to Nikolai Nikolaevich Khovanskii, the governor-​
general of Vitebsk, Mogilev, Smolensk, and Kaluga provinces, who was 
residing at the time in the provincial capital of Vitebsk.

Like so many talented young noblemen, Khovanskii began his career 
in the military. He swiftly rose through the ranks, distinguishing himself 
for his meritorious duties in the Russian-​Turkish War in 1810 and once 
more in the Napoleonic Campaign. In 1813, he was promoted to lieu-
tenant general. Eight years later, he relocated to St. Petersburg to serve 
as senator in the First Department. The same year that Fedor’s body 
was found in the woods, Khovanskii was promoted to full general with 
an appointment as the governor-​general of the northwest provincial 
region, a post he held until 1836. As part of a transformation of govern-
ment in the late eighteenth century, the office of the governor-​general 
served as the most important intermediary between the imperial center 
and the provincial world. His duties included promoting agriculture,  



 

The first page of Maria Terenteeva’s complaint addressed to Tsar Alexander I, writ-
ten on official government paper with a seal of a double-​headed eagle. Rossiiskii 
gosudarstvennyi istoricheskii arkhiv, f. 1345, op. 235, d. 65, chast’ 1, l. 5
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industry, and economy; keeping roads in working order; providing for 
the poor and needy; and maintaining law and security. Most important, 
the statesman enjoyed extensive policing authority over the region he 
governed. Although Khovanskii did not have formal judicial powers and 
could not receive appeals against provincial court decisions, he could 
order criminal investigations and interfere in both civil and criminal 
procedure as he saw fit.3

Terenteeva’s complaint set off a chain of events that resulted in an 
extraordinarily complex criminal investigation. Alexander I died sud-
denly on November 19, 1825. The accession of Nicholas I to the throne 
signaled the beginning of an aggressively conservative political agenda. 
The Decembrist Rebellion of December 14, 1825, created an atmosphere 
of fear, hostility, and crisis that would dominate Nicholas’s reign. To 
promote his supreme authority, Nicholas championed military disci-
pline and the official defense of the Russian Orthodox Church. In the 
second quarter of the nineteenth century, Nicholas received disturbing 
reports from all corners of the vast empire: of religious perversion, spirit 
possession, and rebellion.4 Dedicated to policing the boundaries of true 
belief, the regime threw its moral weight into imposing harsh penalties 
for behavior deemed especially dangerous to the social order. Efforts to 
suppress sectarian communities who deviated from established religious 
doctrines resulted in dozens of arrests, trials, and forced resettlements. 
Given the wider preoccupations with strange and unnatural activities, 
the Russian government saw no choice but to respond to blood libel 
allegations in a most serious manner. After all, even the Skoptsy, con-
sidered the most pernicious of the sects for dismembering their bodies, 
was not accused of practicing cold-​blooded murder as a religious rite.5

On November 4, 1825, nearly twelve months after the Vitebsk pro-
vincial court wrote off Fedor’s death to the “will of God,” the governor-​
general reopened the case. Khovanskii’s first order of business was to 
appoint inspector-​councilor Vasilii Ivanovich Strakhov as the lead inves-
tigator to the case. Trained as a civil servant, Strakhov had climbed 
to the respectable rank of fifth grade. His assignment was straight-
forward:  to follow routine administrative procedure, question every 
individual linked to the crime, and bring the investigation to a timely 
resolution.
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The criminal file before him totaled nearly one thousand pages, con-
taining, among other things, police and autopsy reports, material evi-
dence, and dozens of depositions. A survey of the town revealed that 
there was no shortage of witnesses to interview, even though several 
individuals who played a key role in the case had died. Fedor’s mother, 
Agafia Prokof ’eva, passed away approximately four months after her 
son’s body was found in the woods. In less than twelve months after 
the Vitebsk provincial court acquitted the Jews of the ritual murder 
charge, Mirka Aronson had passed away as well. Several other important 
suspects, including Shmerka Berlin and Iosel’ Glikman, would die long 
before the investigation was completed.

Strakhov realized that the events in Velizh were extraordinarily con-
fusing, and that first he needed to get the facts of the case straight. With 
the presumption of guilt running against Jews, the inspector-​councilor 
decided not to jump to hasty conclusions. Instead, he talked at length 
to several Christian residents who were either directly related to Fedor, 
such as the father and aunt, or had served as important witnesses in the 
case, but no one revealed anything different from what they testified 
originally.6 Strakhov then turned his attention to the star witness, Maria 
Terenteeva, at which point the investigation took an unexpected turn. 
Why did the beggar woman refer to the boy as her own son? Surely, 
Terenteeva did this for good reason, and Strakhov had every intention 
of getting to the bottom of things as quickly as possible.

Strakhov summoned Maria Terenteeva for an interview on November 
22, 1825. Terenteeva, encouraged to speak freely and at length, began 
her story just as she had in 1823. On Easter Sunday at noontime, she 
explained, she was walking back home from the town center. After 
passing a castle and several empty storefronts, she descended a small 
slope to the Slobotsky Bridge. “At that very moment, I heard a little girl 
call out something to a little boy. I noticed Khanna Tsetlina standing 
nearby. She gave the boy a piece of sugar and grabbed him by the arm 
and escorted him to her cottage.” Fearing that something was terribly 
amiss, Maria decided to follow Khanna. She clearly remembered, as if 
it were yesterday, that Khanna’s housekeeper, Avdotia Maksimova, and 
three Jewish women, none of whom she had seen before, opened the 
front door when they came inside the courtyard. Avdotia said something 
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in Yiddish to Khanna, which she could not understand, and motioned 
everyone inside.7

What happened next Maria observed with her own eyes. In hopes of 
protecting the child, Maria told the people around her that Fedor was 
her son. “No one paid any attention to me,” Maria explained. “Instead, 
they proceeded to do unimaginable horrors to the boy. Avdotia locked 
the boy inside an adjoining chamber. Khanna fed me wine until my 
head began to spin and then told me to leave.” Inebriated, Maria did 
not have the strength to walk back home, so she curled up on the porch 
and slept for several hours. It was late in the evening when she finally 
woke up. Khanna gave her vodka and two silver rubles, and they all 
walked across the market square to Mirka Aronson’s large brick house. 
One of Aronson’s servants opened the gate and immediately ushered 
the boy down to the cellar, at which point Aronson handed Maria two 
more silver rubles and vodka and made her promise not to say a word 
to anyone about what she had witnessed. Maria did not know what the 
Jewish women intended to do with the boy, but she warned them, “If 
I find out whose boy this is, I’ll reveal everything.”8

It turned out that this was not the first time that Khanna Tsetlina 
asked Maria to “bring back” an innocent child. Even if Maria could 
not recall the precise date, she distinctly remembered Khanna asking 
for a “good Christian boy,” to which she responded by saying that she  
“didn’t know of such a boy.” Now, after having witnessed a most disturb-
ing scene unfold, her mood changed for the worse. On her walk home—​
she rented a small room on the outskirts of town across the river—​she 
felt as though the entire town was watching her every move. She 
recalled that a little white dog, or perhaps a rabbit, ran between her legs.  
“I fell flat on my face,” she went on, “and as I was lying on the ground, 
such a tremendous burden weighed on me that I wasn’t able to stand 
up for quite some time.” When she finally made it home, Maria told 
her landlady everything that she witnessed, but decided to keep quiet 
about what happened inside Mirka Aronson’s house. To her surprise, her 
landlady revealed that the Jews had ritually murdered Emel’ian Ivanov’s 
little boy.9

On the third day of Easter week, Maria was walking around town 
begging for alms when she decided to stop by Emel’ian Ivanov’s cottage. 
She found both parents in tears. They had searched everywhere for their 
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son, so they told her, and even used a special map and magic straws to 
help them locate their son. Not knowing what else to do or whom to 
turn to, they decided to visit a local fortune-​teller. But the fortune-​teller 
was not very helpful. “What kind of a fortune-​teller can’t predict where 
your son is?” Maria fumed. “Besides, how can a young boy suddenly 
disappear in such a small town?” She offered her services and asked them 
to bring her wax and a cup of water. Later that week, Maria went over 
to the cottage to see if they were able to locate the boy. “Why didn’t you 
go out to look?” Maria inquired. “How can we?” Ivanov shouted back. 
“It was you who killed him!” But no matter how awful Ivanov’s accusa-
tion may have been, Maria maintained her innocence. She emphasized 
that she had no intention of “spreading wild rumors or saying anything 
objectionable about anyone” and that she visited Ivanov “without pre-
tense or ill will.”10

The moment Maria left Ivanov’s cottage, she walked directly to Mirka 
Aronson’s brick house. Together with five other Jews, all of whom she 
could easily identify, Maria went down to the basement and saw the boy 
on the ground wrapped in linen. A basin filled with blood stood nearby. 
The body and the head were pierced all over, the nails on the hands and 
toes trimmed to the very tips, the tongue completely severed, as was 
his penis, directly at the scrotum. Surprisingly, Maria did not see blood 
on either the body or the cloth. The moment that Jews “screamed for 
her to get out of the cellar,” she decided to go back home. The next day 
one of Maria’s neighbors informed her that the body had been found 
and the police were looking for her. “If they are looking for me,” Maria 
snapped, “then I’ll go talk to them myself.” She told Strakhov that she 
described everything just as she did in the summer of 1823 save for two 
important details:  that she took money and spirits from Mirka and 
Khanna and that she helped Khanna transfer the body to the woods in 
a spring britzka.11

To the question of why she referred to herself as the boy’s mother, 
Maria had a simple explanation. “Ever since Agafia Prokof ’eva passed 
away, I considered the boy my own. When the father, Emel’ian Ivanov, 
didn’t make the slightest effort to search for him, I decided to take 
matters into my own hands and [to seek justice] myself. When Tsar 
Alexander passed through Velizh, I seized the opportunity to deliver the 
petition. And just as Alexander was leaving the St. Nicholas Cathedral, 
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I got down on both knees and placed the piece of paper on his crown. 
A man by the name of Luk Oleinikov wanted to take it away from me, 
but the crowd that had gathered around didn’t let him.” “But why call 
the boy Demian?” Strakhov inquired. “For the simple reason,” Maria 
reasoned, “that she had forgotten his name; it was a mistake.”12

Maria concluded the testimony by describing how unbearable life had 
become because of dealings with the Jews. The first incident took place 
when she purchased a piece of herring from Avdotia Maksimova. One 
Sunday morning, at the beginning of the Lenten season, she noticed 
Avdotia sitting at a stall at the marketplace selling herring. Avdotia 
immediately ran up to Maria to see if she was interested in buying a 
nice fatty fish. Maria, deciding to do her acquaintance a favor, bought 
the herring. But when she tried to clean it that afternoon, the fish inex-
plicably slipped out of her hands, falling flat on the ground at least four 
times. Maria finally got a hold of it and managed to tear it in half with 
her bare hands, giving a piece to her landlady and saving the rest for 
herself. The landlady, fearing that someone must have contaminated 
the fish, ate a small bite and immediately felt sick to her stomach; the 
vomiting continued all day and night. After finishing her portion, Maria 
did not feel anything unusual, but the moment she woke up the next 
morning her stomach began to cramp. For three days and nights, she 
vomited blood with such intensity that she thought she would die right 
there and then. Her landlady instructed her to tell the authorities what 
had happened, but the only thing the town mayor did was “to warn 
Maria not to buy anything from the kikes.”13

The final episode occurred around twelve months after little Fedor’s 
death. Maria was certain that, if she ever tried to leave town, the Jews 
would find a way to harm her. It was late in the evening when she 
decided to fetch fresh water from the river. The moment that she passed 
by Gavrilov’s house, forty Jews, none of whom she had ever seen before, 
encircled her and grabbed her violently by the hair. When she began 
to scream, they all hid inside the house. A few days later (it was the 
Jewish Sabbath) the Jewess Leia asked Maria if she would be interested 
in milking her cows. Maria agreed to perform the deed, and while she 
was milking the cows, the Jew Abram and two Jewesses, none of whom 
she had ever seen before, entered the courtyard. They all went inside 
Leia’s house, at which point Abram’s wife Nakhana [Khanna Tsetlina’s 



Tsar Alexander Pays a Visit 65

 

sister] revealed the real reason they summoned her. They wanted to 
dress Maria in Jewish clothing and take her “somewhere important.” 
Maria explained that the Jewesses “ordered her to take off her simple 
peasant blouse and handed her a dress, two sheepskin overcoats, and 
two Jewish-​looking shawls.” And as they were walking down to the river, 
they ran into an old acquaintance who asked where she was going. “My 
God, I don’t even know myself,” Maria responded, “apparently to the 
very same house where they murdered the soldier’s boy.” Lots of people 
had gathered on the street that day. Maria recalled that two clergymen 
came over to warn her that she should never “trust the kikes,” and so 
she promptly undressed and went back home.14

Jews, at all levels of society, employed Christians as drivers, wet 
nurses, watchmen, cooks, governesses, and maids. The reasons had to 
do as much with economic considerations as with pressure to conform 
to halakhic traditions. It was not uncommon for a well-​to-​do family 
to employ half a dozen or more Christian servants, the vast majority 
of whom came from the margins of society and were usually homeless 
and without permanent employment.15 In addition to working around 
the clock, they labored on the Sabbath and on holidays when Jews were 
prohibited from carrying objects from one domain to another, prepar-
ing fires, traveling outside boundary limits, delivering letters, fetching 
beer and bread, preparing the samovar, transporting freight, and buying 
goods on market days.

Since early modern times, the Catholic Church had spoken out 
against arrangements involving direct physical contact between Jews 
and Christians. Sexual relations between Jewish employers and their 
Christian maids were not uncommon, and authorities viewed poor 
maidens as particularly vulnerable to temptations. Cautioning against 
the Jewish employment of Christian wet nurses, governesses, and ser-
vants, the Catholic Church threw its moral power into imposing strict 
cultural boundaries.16 To avoid violent religious encounters, including 
blood accusations, Jewish councils imposed the ecclesiastical legislation 
on their own communities.17

The realities on the ground made it nearly impossible to limit social 
interactions.18 Nevertheless, long after the partitions of the common-
wealth, Russian authorities tried to regulate Jewish-​Christian domestic 
arrangements.19 Sensational stories of conversions, secret liaisons, and 
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sexual transgression heightened fears of young maidens falling prey to 
Jewish influence. In 1817, for instance, two Catholic domestic servants 
decided to secretly convert to Judaism in a Jewish cemetery so as to 
escape notice. Subsequently, one of the women agreed to marry a Jewish 
man. The Jew forced his young impressionable wife and her friend to 
relocate to a nearby province to start a new life, where he eventually 
abandoned both women, leaving them to their own tragic fate.20

As this and other similar cases were being adjudicated, the Russian 
government passed a series of laws that banned peasants from working 
for and with Jews in almost every capacity (from transportation to con-
struction to domestic service): Jews who maintained post offices were 
not permitted to reside in buildings occupied by Christian workers, 
Jewish artisans could work with a Christian apprentice only when one 
other Christian worker was present, Christian wet nurses were banned 
from feeding Jewish children under any circumstances, and Jews were 
prohibited from employing Christian servants in intimate domestic 
spaces. All these prohibitions emerged out of fears that young Christian 
women would develop intimate ties with Jewish men and be tempted 
to convert to the Jewish faith.21

Concerns over proselytism and debauchery intensified as communi-
ties of ethnic Russians known as Subbotniks (or Sabbatarians) appeared 
in the 1820s in Astrakhan, Riazan, and Saratov provinces. Although 
their beliefs and practices varied widely, Subbotniks generally followed 
Jewish teachings and ethical traditions, with some going so far as mar-
rying Jews, observing Jewish dietary customs and holidays, praying in 
Hebrew, and wearing fringed garments and phylacteries. Almost always, 
officials attributed the growth of the sectarian communities to perni-
cious Jewish influence on Russian peasantry. In an effort to limit bound-
ary crossings, the Russian government took drastic steps by uprooting 
and banishing Subbotniks to the far corners of the empire.22

The story Terenteeva told thus resonated with profound anxieties 
of Jewish enticement and transgression that were being discussed in 
administrative circles. Strakhov understood that female domestic ser-
vants played an important economic role in the Jewish household and 
that they had access to its most intimate quarters. It was not unusual 
for servants to eat with Jewish families at the same table, instruct Jewish 
children in their languages, and sleep with Jews in the same room. 
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The intimacy of the domestic arrangements meant that impressiona-
ble young women would invariably learn Jewish customs and rituals 
not only by observation but also by active participation.23 Terenteeva’s 
confession revealed many new insights, although on occasion she said 
things that directly contradicted her previous statements. Strakhov was 
well aware of this fact. But at this point in the investigation, he showed 
no interest in forcing his star witness to resolve the ambiguities. Instead, 
what he decided to do was to push ahead with his work. He summoned 
two crucial witnesses, Avdotia Maksimova and Praskoviia Kozlovskaia, 
into the interrogation chamber, both of whom, it turned out, had direct 
knowledge of Jewish ways of life.

While working as a domestic servant for the Tsetlin family, Avdotia 
Maksimova was able to learn Yiddish quite well. Although she had a 
hard time expressing herself in the language, she had no problem under-
standing everything the Jews talked about. This is why Strakhov con-
sidered Avdotia a particularly important witness in the case. Strakhov 
talked with her on December 4, 1825, almost two weeks after he first 
interviewed Terenteeva. In painstaking detail, she described how for four 
straight days she transferred the boy back and forth between Khanna’s 
and Mirka’s homes. At times, she made the short walk across the mar-
ket square under the cover of darkness. On other occasions, she did so 
during broad daylight. One day in particular stood out for her. Khanna 
asked Avdotia to go over to Mirka’s tavern to purchase a glass of red wine 
for her ill son. When she went down to the cellar, she “saw something 
covered in linen lying on the ground.” She immediately walked over to 
the spot, unwrapped the cloth, and to her surprise saw the dead body. 
A Jew she had never seen before yelled at her to mind her own business, 
while someone else handed her another glass of red wine and told her to 
get out of the cellar. Everything happened so quickly, as if in a dream, 
that she did not even have time to notice if the body was punctured. 
When she finally made it home, Avdotia told Khanna Tsetlina every-
thing that had taken place that night, but the only thing Khanna did 
was give her a five-​ruble coin, making her promise not to say a word to 
anyone about what she had seen.24

The longer Avdotia talked, the more confusing her story became. 
Strakhov quickly realized that Avdotia’s linguistic abilities proved 
sounder than her recollection of the events. In the second interview, 
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which took place the next day, on December 5, Avdotia not only impli-
cated herself in the case, but also contradicted several important asser-
tions made by Terenteeva. It was Avdotia (and not Maria) who helped 
Glikman and his son Abram deposit the body into the woods. So certain 
of this fact, Avdotia testified that she would have no problem pointing 
out the very spot where they buried the body.25

Avdotia went on to describe how on Easter Monday Glikman and 
Abram came over to Khanna Tsetlina’s to ask where they should dis-
pose of the body. The Jews posed the same question to Avdotia as well. 
“Sooner or later,” Avdotia told them, “they’ll find out who spilled 
Christian blood.” She suggested that they take the body to the out-
skirts of town and hide it in the thick woods. Late that evening, Iosel’ 
and Abram came by the house in a spring britzka. Khanna woke up 
Avdotia and ordered her to wash off all the blood that had dried up 
on the body. And as she was performing the task, Avdotia noticed that 
the entire body was covered with “tiny little wounds, as though [it] was 
pierced with a knife, with the member severed.” Afterward, she finished 
off all the wine that Khanna offered her and set off in the britzka in a 
drunken state. “After all,” she testified, “a servant is obliged to follow 
her mistress’s orders.” Avdotia admitted that much of what she had 
disclosed contradicted her initial statement, but she was convinced that 
the discrepancies were due to memory lapse, confusion, and the fact that 
she was frightened the Jews would harm her.26

The twenty-​two-​year-​old Praskoviia Kozlovskaia (née Pilenkova) 
worked as a domestic servant for Mirka Aronson in the spring of 1823. 
A Uniate by birth, she received the sacrament of confession every year. 
When the boy disappeared, Praskoviia lived in Aronson’s attic with two 
other domestic workers, a young Jewish girl from Velizh and an elderly 
Jewish woman who hailed originally from Vitebsk. Praskoviia worked 
for Mirka Aronson until the autumn of 1824, when she moved out to 
a nearby village to live with her uncle Luk Oleinikov (the same man 
who had handwritten the complaint Terenteeva presented to the tsar). 
At some point before the investigation was reopened in the fall of 1825, 
she married a Polish nobleman, and the couple decided to move back 
to town.27

At Mirka Aronson’s, Proskoviia’s domestic duties did not include any-
thing out of the ordinary. She lit and maintained the fireplace, brought 
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fresh water from the well, swept and cleaned the rooms, and prepared 
the samovar. Most days she cleaned the front chambers of the house, 
where Shmerka and Slava Berlin and their children resided. Rarely did 
she visit the rooms in the back of the house. She distinctly remembered, 
however, that a townsman and his daughter of either Russian or Polish 
origin rented one of the back rooms, while the upstairs was reserved 
for guests who would come to town on business. From the attic win-
dow, Praskoviia had an excellent view of the market square, from where 
she was able to observe everyone who entered and left the building. 
Significantly, although Praskoviia testified that Glikman and his son had 
come by the house, she did not detect any unusual activity. From one 
of the other domestic servants, she learned that two Jews had come to 
town to purchase hay, but she did not know whether they were success-
ful in their endeavors. She recalled that they went somewhere every day, 
but she had no idea where exactly they went or if they ever left town. 
She also could not recall seeing anything suspicious in Aronson’s cellar. 
In fact, Praskoviia maintained that she did not know very much about 
the murder—​only the fact that she had heard rumors that Jews were 
responsible for the boy’s death. In closing, Praskoviia revealed that she 
had been acquainted with Maksimova for a long time but crossed paths 
for the very first time with Terenteeva at the magistrate’s office the day 
she was brought in for questioning.28

The inspector-​councilor understood all too well that the criminal 
law code called for firm empirical evidence to establish the crime of 
ritual murder. He did not need to be reminded that provincial courts 
had summarily dismissed all the accusations that had popped up in 
recent years or, for that matter, that a careful review of the case by the 
highest court in the province did not net anything conclusive. History 
may not have been on Strakhov’s side, but the stories he heard proved 
too disturbing not to take seriously. The oral interrogations brought an 
entirely new perspective on the case. How could he overlook the confes-
sions? After all, Terenteeva and Maksimova did not only claim to have 
witnessed the murder firsthand; they also admitted to having actively 
participated in the ritual of blood sacrifice.

Thus, no matter how contradictory the testimony may have been, it 
seemed to point to one thing: that the Jews sacrificed the little boy to 
mix his blood with matzo. An impressive collection of materials—​vivid 
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eyewitness testimony, forensic-​medical evidence, material proof, and 
community report of reputation—​helped substantiate the charge. 
Inquisitorial procedure called on investigators to work on the assump-
tion that, where a crime was committed, a criminal must be punished.29 
But who killed the little boy? What motives were behind the diaboli-
cal crime? And how far had the conspiracy run? Strakhov had no easy 
answers. “From the very beginning of the investigation,” Strakhov 
reported to the governor-​general, “not one hour has been wasted.” But 
instead of bringing the case to a timely resolution, as he had hoped to 
do, the inspector-​councilor had become increasingly perplexed by the 
stories he heard, as the women “first confessed to one thing and then to 
something else entirely.”30

Determined to solve the case, Strakhov took all three suspect-​
witnesses into custody: Terenteeva on November 19, 1825, Maksimova 
on December 1, and Kozlovskaia on December 15. That December he 
took in two additional suspects: Anna Eremeeva, the homeless girl with 
psychic powers who played such an important role in the first stage 
of the investigation, and an eighteen-​year-​old servant named Melania 
Zhelnova who worked for the Tsetlin family. Strakhov concluded that 
Eremeeva had learned the details of the crime from Terenteeva, most 
likely when the outcasts were walking around town begging for alms. 
Zhelnova, for her part, did not reveal anything of significance in a pre-
liminary interview. Although both women were placed under house 
arrest for the duration of the investigation, they wound up playing an 
insignificant role.31

Having become convinced that Jews committed premeditated mur-
der with ritual intent, Strakhov focused his energies on obtaining an air-
tight confession. Working late into the evening, the inspector-​councilor 
pressed for more information and the clarification of crucial details. All 
evidence suggests that the interrogation sessions were unusually long 
and strenuous. In all probability, so Strakhov reckoned, the Jews first 
tortured the little boy and then, shortly before conspiring to commit 
the murder, forced all three women to renounce the Christian faith and 
convert to Judaism. Like any seasoned criminal investigator whose ulti-
mate goal is to ensure the conviction of the suspects, it seems reasonable 
to conclude that Strakhov not only formed a theory of the crime, but 
also played a central role in shaping the narrative.32
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Inquisitorial procedure involved the collection, interpretation, and 
weighing of a sequence of legal proofs. The courts gave predetermined 
weight to testimony based on the social and religious status, age, and sex 
of the witness. As exclusive arbiter over the collection and interpretation 
of evidence, Strakhov was keenly aware that prisoners could construct a 
false confession or maintain their claims to innocence. According to the 
sequence of proofs, voluntary confession stood at the very top, followed 
by medical and witnesses’ testimony, written statements, community 
report of reputation, and the purifying oath.33 Bearing a special stamp of 
authenticity, confession articulates unrealized truths and inner secrets, 
without which Strakhov would not have been able to establish guilt or 
move forward with the investigation. As the lead investigator in the case, 
Strakhov worked hard to create a special bond between the confessant 
and confessor. By controlling the conversations, he hoped to activate 
elements of dependency, subjugation, and fear.34

Strakhov could have applied any number of coercive methods to get 
Terenteeva, Maksimova, and Kazlovskaia to open up. But the inspector-​
councilor had no intention in distancing himself from the most impor-
tant witnesses in the case. More than anything else, he wanted to gain 
their trust in the hope they would reveal the hidden truths of the crime 
and name all the co-​conspirators in the affair. Experimenting with 
several different techniques, Strakhov eventually settled on the most 
merciful approach in his arsenal. Following the first principle of the 
inquisitorial mode, he instructed the women to attend church services, 
with the expectation that the liturgy would stir emotions and induce 
confession. Markelom Tarashkevich, the Uniate priest at the St. Il’insk 
Church, played a decisive role in getting the women to talk. At the out-
set, Tarashkevich made it clear to the suspect-​witnesses that he wanted 
them to tell “only the truth,” while admonishing them of the conse-
quences if they decided to resist.35

In the end, the visits to Tarashkevich proved invaluable. Although 
they did not agree on all the details of the crime sequence, Terenteeva 
and Maksimova confirmed their role in the murder conspiracy quickly. 
At first, Kozlovskaia gave Strakhov an unusually hard time, but the 
longer they talked, the more coherent was her narrative. Strakhov spoke 
with Terenteeva on no fewer than seven occasions, with Maksimova 
nine times, and Kozlovskaia six times.36 In the spring of 1826, Strakhov 
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announced to the governor-​general that “Maria Terenteeva’s and Avdotia 
Maksimova’s confessions revealed that the boy Fedor Emel’ianov had 
been abducted because of Jews’ beliefs and enticements.”37 By April 
1827, after several more rounds of interviews, Strakhov was able to 
obtain a full confession from Kozlovskaia as well.

After many months of intense work, Strakhov was able to get 
Terenteeva, Maksimova, and Kozlovskaia to corroborate each other’s 
testimonies to the last intimate detail. The richly textured story con-
tained all the salient tropes of the ritual murder drama as enacted in 
settings around the world: of deceit and conspiracy, sexual transgression 
and apostasy, and shockingly cruel actions inspired by fanatical rituals. 
It also contained many familiar motifs and stock characters such as the 
Christian maidservant who was intimately familiar with Jewish affairs 
and religious rites.38 Ultimately, what began as a set of discrete, highly 
fragmented testimonies turned into a tightly controlled confessional 
narrative, with four principal elements: abduction, torture, conversion, 
and aftermath.

In the final form, Khanna Tsetlina masterminded the affair, and Maria 
Terenteeva, contrary to previous accounts, was the one who enticed the 
boy with the sugar. On Easter Sunday the beggar woman came by the 
Tsetlin home for a visit, as she did on occasion. Khanna gave her wine 
and a five-​ruble silver coin and instructed her to bring back a Christian 
boy. Although Maria refused at first, Khanna reassured her that the boy 
would be loved and cared for, at which point she gave her two additional 
silver rubles, more wine, and the sugar. Avdotia Maksimova overheard 
the entire conversation. Later that afternoon, she greeted Maria and the 
boy at the gate. There were many Jews at the Tsetlin home, including 
Khanna and Evzik Tsetlin, their daughter Itka, and nanny Risa. The 
moment that Maria and Avdotia were safely inside, Khanna offered 
more wine, making them promise not to say a word to anyone.39

Under cover of darkness, they sneaked the boy across the marketplace 
to Mirka Aronson’s house, where Shmerka and Slava Berlin enclosed 
the child in a tiny little room. Maria spent Holy Week (excluding 
Saturday, the obligatory day of rest for Jews) transferring the boy back 
and forth between the two homes. That Wednesday, Khanna instructed 
Avdotia to place the boy in an old chest that was used to store bottled 
preserves. To make sure that no one would locate him, they decided to  
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wrap him in linen. So the boy would not suffocate, the door of the 
chest was left slightly ajar to let in a bit of air. Maria noted that this 
was why the investigators were not able to locate the boy when they 
searched Aronson’s house. Avdotia observed that Jews “withheld food 
and drink the entire week,” while Praskoviia revealed that “special 
guards were stationed outside the house the entire time the investiga-
tors conducted the investigation.”40

At the back of the house, in the middle of a large chamber room, a 
wooden barrel lined with steel nails hung on a rope directly from the 
ceiling. A table covered with a white tablecloth, with a large candela-
brum and candlesticks, stood adjacent to the window facing the court-
yard. To get them in the mood, Khanna and Mirka offered Maria and 
Avdotia wine and an assortment of snacks and afterward told them to 
throw the body in the river as soon as they collected the blood. At that 
point, Maria and Avdotia went down to the cellar to fetch the boy. 
While they were undressing him, Praskoviia walked in and mumbled 
something under her breath. Avdotia immediately told Slava not to let 
Prakoviia leave the room, warning her that she would meet the same fate 
if she dared disobey. Praskoviia fetched a copper basin and fresh water. 
Maria grabbed the boy by his face, placed him on the table, and carefully 
washed the body, from head to toe, before enclosing him in the wooden 
barrel. All the Jews who had gathered around took turns swinging the 
boy back and forth; the ritual lasted nearly two hours. When he was 
finally taken out, the entire body looked bright red, as if the skin had 
been burned. Fedor was placed on top of the table, at which point Shifra 
Berlina trimmed the boy’s nails and Poselennoi circumcised him.41

The time had now come to take the boy to the “great Jewish school” 
or “synagogue,” as it was called on occasion. Located on Shkolina Street, 
around a two-​minute walk from the marketplace, the school was taller 
than all the buildings in its vicinity and played a central role in Jewish 
communal life. It was still dark outside when the boy was brought to 
the school, where a large group of Jews had gathered. Maria covered 
the boy’s mouth with a handkerchief to prevent anyone from hear-
ing him scream. Fedor was placed on another table covered with a 
white tablecloth with both of his legs and hands firmly bound together 
with a leather belt. Maria started the ritual by softly slapping the boy’s 
cheeks two times. Avdotia and the Jews took turns doing the exact same 
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thing. Poselennoi handed Maria a steel object that resembled a nail, and 
ordered her to puncture the skin just below the boy’s left nasal passage.

The thought of injuring the boy frightened Maria, and when she saw 
blood, she threw the nail on the ground. Poselennoi handed the nail 
to Avdotia who pierced the right side in the same exact manner. For 
the next several minutes, Maria, Avdotia, and the Jews took turns stab-
bing the boy’s body. The boy screamed in pain, but after a few minutes 
passed, offered a timid smile until he finally lost consciousness and died. 
When Maria took him out of the basin, the entire body was pierced with 
tiny little holes covered in blood. Avdotia cleansed Maria with a special 
liquid, and then proceeded to dress the boy in the same exact clothes he 
wore when he set out on his walk on Easter Sunday.42

Fearing that their secrets would be exposed, the Jews forced all 
three women to convert to the Jewish faith. Whereas Praskoviia con-
verted to Judaism only a few hours before the boy was tortured and 
ritually sacrificed, Maria and Avdotia partook in an elaborate con-
version ceremony several days before the kidnapping. It was Holy 
Wednesday when the medical healer Orlik Devirts invited Maria to 
his home. Offering her wine, he warned her that authorities would 
exile her to Siberia if she refused to convert. Maria did exactly as she 
was told. Orlik led her to the Jewish school, where a group of Jews 
had gathered, many of whom she had never seen before. Maria drank 
a glass of bread wine and immediately became inebriated. Three Jews 
proceeded to take off all her clothing, and as she sat drunk and naked 
on the floor, they washed her with wine or some special liquid that 
stung her skin. Afterward, so as to mask her identity, they dressed her 
in a man’s overcoat and took her to the river, where she was immersed 
in the water. Before bringing her back to the school, the Jews sprinkled 
warm water on her.43

In a ritual resembling the witches’ sabbath, Maria passed through 
a fire ring and stood on top of a sweltering hot iron pan. The Jews 
encircled Terenteeva so that she would not be able to escape. They cov-
ered her mouth so she would not be able to scream and ordered her to 
swear allegiance to the Jewish nation, renounce her Christian beliefs, 
and accept the tenets of the Jewish faith. Only after she agreed did they 
permit her to step down from the hot iron pan. Afterward, Maria put 
on a special blouse and rubbed her burned feet with yellow ointment. 
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She then stood in front of a wooden cabinet (Torah ark), where the 
Commandments (Torah scrolls) were hidden behind a curtain.44

As Maria sat in front of the Torah ark on the very tips of her fingers, 
covered in a black and white prayer shawl, Iankel’ Chernomordik, the 
schoolteacher, came over and sat next to her. Iankel’ placed a piece of 
paper on her knees with the image of the Holy Spirit, calling it “the 
gods of the Christians,” and put a similar piece of paper on his own 
knees. Maria then spit on the image, renounced her beliefs, and recited 
several strange words. The schoolteacher proceeded to spit on the image 
as he instructed Maria to open the cabinet with her left thumb. And as 
she was holding the Commandments in both hands, he kissed her and 
called her by her new name, Sara.45

In no time, Chernomordik (who also went by the nickname Petushok 
or Cockerel) kissed her and informed her that it was now time for the 
wedding ceremony with Khaim Khrupin. Maria was led into a special 
chamber where there were two beds, one of which was designated for 
her. The moment that Khaim lay down next to her, he “caressed her 
in the same exact manner he would caress his wife.” When they finally 
returned to the school, the Jews offered her an expensive dress and a 
nice pair of shoes. Khaim warned her that she should continue to wear 
her simple peasant clothing so that no one would be able to recognize 
her. All the Jews began to kiss and congratulate her for converting to 
the Jewish faith, although Maria “knew deep down in her soul that she 
remained a devout Uniate.”46

A similar religious ceremony awaited Avdotia. Khanna offered 
Avdotia plenty of wine to drink, making her promise not to say a word 
about anything she had witnessed. To be certain that none of the secrets 
would be revealed, Khanna wanted Avdotia to convert to the Jewish 
faith. It was nearly nightfall on Low Monday when the ceremony took 
place. That day, Avdotia was given more spirits to drink than usual and 
was sent over to Petushok’s cottage. Avdotia told Petushok that she did 
not know why she was required to convert. But Petushok reassured her 
that he would teach her how to pray and that she would become a faith-
ful Jew. He brought her to “the school where all the rich Jews came to 
pray,” wrapped her in a plain white shawl, and brought her in front of 
the Torah ark. Petushok opened the curtain and explained that this was 
where the Jews kept the Commandments.
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As she stood in front of the ark, Petushok took out a special note-
book and told her to repeat strange words after him. Afterward, he spat 
nine times, telling her that “in the sky, land, and water there’s only one 
God. And even though every person in the universe prays to their own 
God, there’s only one eternal truth.” He then handed her a whisk to 
hold in her right hand and a citron in her left hand, and made her bring 
her hands directly to her mouth. After kissing the tips of her fingers, 
he placed them on the Commandments, called her by her new Jewish 
name Risa, and offered her a glass of red wine.47

After Praskoviia Kozlovskaia’s conversion ceremony, Iosel’ Glikman 
led all three women to the Torah ark. As he was taking a big book 
from behind the curtain, Iosel’ reminded them not to tell a single soul 
what they had witnessed. He then recited several passages from the 
book. And once Glikman stopped, a group of Jews walked in with the 
antimins—​a rectangular piece of linen, decorated with representations 
of the entombment of Christ, the four Evangelists, and inscriptions 
related to the Passion—​that they had stolen from the St. Il’insk Church. 
In Eastern Orthodoxy, the antimins is used to celebrate the Eucharist 
and is unfolded only during the Divine Liturgy.48 Only after Maria and 
the Jews took turns doing unimaginable horrors to the sacred piece of 
cloth did they dispose the body in the river. It was early in the morning 
and the sun was about to rise. Fearing that someone would see them, 
the women reasoned that the most inconspicuous thing to do was to 
dump the body in the woods on the outskirts of town.49

It was now time for the most important part of the ritual: the distri-
bution of the blood. All the blood was collected in a special basin and 
stored in three large glass bottles. While the women were busy dumping 
the body in the woods, Iosel’ Glikman took one bottle to the town of 
Uly. Fratka Devirts took everyone back to the school, where a table with 
two glass bottles and a basin stood in the middle of the largest room in 
the building. Her husband, Orlik, divided the blood into two bottles 
and soaked up what remained of the liquid with a large piece of linen 
that measured around four and a half feet long. The cloth was cut evenly 
in small pieces and distributed among the Jews. The bottles were stored 
under lock and key in a special closet in Mirka Aronson’s house. The 
following year, at the time of Passover, Orlik Devirts took Terenteeva 
to Vitebsk. They went directly to a house made of bricks, where two 
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Jewish women greeted them at the door. The older one knew just what 
to do with the blood, and immediately took the bottle inside and mixed 
it with an unidentified liquid. On their way back home, Terenteeva and 
Devirts stopped by Liozno, a neighboring town, to drop off the third 
bottle. Kozlovskaia testified that she witnessed Mirka Aronson’s cook, 
Basia, mix small drops of blood to bake krendels (pretzels).50

The confessional narrative provided authorities sufficient grounds to 
move forward with the criminal investigation. It remains unclear what 
Terenteeva, Maksimova, and Koslovskaia hoped to gain from implicat-
ing themselves in the murder conspiracy. Perhaps they thought that 
Strakhov would release them as soon as they told what he wanted to hear? 
After all, was it not the Jews he was really after? Or perhaps jealousy and 
greed motivated them to tell their tale? Whatever the case, Nicholas’s 
paranoia with the dangers of religious sectarianism meant that authori-
ties responded to the allegations in a most serious manner. The idea was 
to uncover the conspiracy and remove once and for all the socially harm-
ful elements from public view. In April 1827, nearly nineteen months 
after the case was officially reopened, Khovanskii sealed shut the great 
Jewish school and ordered Strakhov to “get to the bottom of things as 
quickly as possible.”51 To expedite matters, the governor-​general sent 
officer Zaikovskii of the Vitebsk provincial treasury, collegiate-​assessor 
Khrutskii of the Vitebsk provincial court, and general-​major Shkurin 
to assist Strakhov with the case. Although the crime was most serious, 
punishable by the harshest penalties in the Russian criminal law code, 
convicting Jews of ritual murder was an entirely different matter.52 To 
establish a foolproof case, Strakhov and his team of inquisitors would 
need Jews to confess to their darkest secret: that a Jewish cabal had in 
fact conspired to sacrifice a Christian boy for his blood.
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4•
The Confrontations

During his first few months in Velizh, Vasilii Ivanovich Strakhov 
resided in a modestly furnished apartment in the very center of town. It 
did not take long for the inspector-​councilor to set up a regular harem 
in his home. Women of ill repute, disguised in black cassocks, with 
cups of wine or vodka in their hands, were reportedly spotted there at 
all hours of the night. The word on the street was that Strakhov paid 
handsomely for their company, and that he, too, could be seen in the 
sort of large flowing garment usually worn by priests, bishops, and 
monastics.1 As time went on, Strakhov realized that he needed a larger 
venue to carry out an elaborate criminal investigation. In July 1826, he 
found just the place he was looking for. This wooden house, located on 
Bogdanovicheva Street, was spacious enough to comfortably accommo-
date all the members of the inquisitorial commission. The local jail, with 
space for no more than six inmates, was in a state of disrepair. Strakhov 
wasted no time in transforming the remaining rooms of his new home 
into a makeshift place of detention.2

The Bogdanovicheva house played a central role in the criminal inves-
tigation. This was where the commission carried out the bulk of its 
inquisitorial work, and where most Jews, along with their accusers, 
were held under lock and key. There was nothing particularly unusual 
in Strakhov’s decision to transform a private residence into a jail. Small 
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provincial towns did not have the infrastructure to accommodate more 
than a handful of prisoners at once. With limited funding, lax security, 
and endemic overcrowding, the Russian government rarely used provin-
cial prisons as long-​term solutions for punishment and incarceration. 
Before the second half of the nineteenth century, Russia maintained 
few large-​scale prisons; the individuals convicted of serious crimes were 
exiled for hard labor to remote parts of the empire.3 As in other times 
and places around the world, most Russian prisoners were not con-
victed offenders but suspects under preliminary arrest awaiting trial 
and interrogation. Retired military officers, with little training in prison 
administration or sense of purpose beyond custodial maintenance of the 
building, usually took on the tedious task of administering the holding 
cells and looking after the prisoners.4

By April 8, 1826, Strakhov felt that he had accumulated enough evi-
dence to begin the arrests. Slava Berlina and Khanna Tsetlina were 
the first people taken into custody. A week later, Itsko Nakhimovskii, 
Abram Glushkov, and Iosel’ Turnovskii were locked up as well. By 
the time the inquisitorial commission wrapped up its work, at least 
forty-​three Jews were charged with, among other things, ritual mur-
der, providing the necessary tools and supplies to carry out the murder 
conspiracy, theft and desecration of church property, and the forcible 
conversion of Maria Terenteeva, Avdotia Maksimova, and Praskoviia 
Kozlovskaia. Thirty-​eight Jews were permanent residents of Velizh; the 
other five lived in surrounding towns and villages.5 Of all the individuals 
taken into custody, nearly 60 percent were men, and 85 percent were in 
the prime of their lives, in their thirties, forties, and fifties. Although a 
staggering twenty-​nine families were caught up in the ordeal, around 
45 percent of those imprisoned came from five of the most prominent 
families in the town: the Tsetlins, the Chernomordiks, the Devirtses, the 
Rudnikovs, and the Aronson/​Berlin clan (see Appendix).

Working under the rules of the inquisitorial system, Strakhov and 
his team conducted the interrogations in the privacy of a guest room. It 
was the investigator’s task to systematically interrogate the suspects, and 
it was the suspects’ duty to either refute the allegations or recount what 
had happened to the best of their ability. Even though Russia had offi-
cially abolished torture, Strakhov relied on a variety of confrontational, 
manipulative, and psychological techniques to get the Jews to talk. In his 
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quest for a total confession—​what was regarded as the queen of proofs in 
the law—​he brought Jews for face-​to-​face confrontations with the accus-
ers.6 In Russia, as in other places in early modern Europe, this interroga-
tion technique was used primarily to resolve conflicting testimonies by 
confronting the accused with their witnesses.7 The confrontations were 
designed to be highly emotional, drawn-​out ordeals, testing the patience 
and fortitude of everyone caught up in the case. Standing directly in front 
of the accusers, the suspects were given a chance to refute the charges 
made against them and to pose their own questions to the accusers.

The criminal investigation had taken quite a toll on Shmerka Berlin. 
Four years had passed since little Fedor’s body was found in the woods. 
The most prosperous merchant in town had now become a shadow of 
his former self. Over the years, Shmerka had suffered a series of financial 
setbacks. By the summer of 1827, after he had been locked up for nearly 
twelve months, the trauma of detention had exhausted him. As he 
stood in front of the inquisitorial commission, rationalizing that Jewish 
religious law firmly forbids Jews from using blood for religious rituals, 
the recording secretary noticed that Shmerka’s face suddenly turned 
pale and his hands began to tremble. Doing his best to stay faithful to 
the original testimony, Shmerka explained that he did not know the 
exact cause of the boy’s death or who was responsible for the murder. 
“Neither Jews nor Christians had any reason to commit the dreadful 
act,” Shmerka continued, “and this is why I first testified [in 1823] that 
someone must have run him over with a carriage and dumped the body 
in the woods.” As far as he could tell, there was no other reason to kill an 
innocent child. Afterward, perhaps out of spite for the Jews, “someone 
must have stabbed the boy to death and blamed them for the murder.”8

When Maria Terenteeva opened the door and walked into the room, 
Shmerka immediately cried out in a sharp tone, “This plague of a person 
would say something like this!” Maria responded by describing in vivid 
detail how Jews tortured the boy. To this, Shmerka only waved his hand, 
telling her that he had gotten tired of hearing the same story over and 
over. As the session progressed, Shmerka remarked that he had run into 
Avdotia Maksimova on numerous occasions, but that he had not seen 
Terenteeva before the spring of 1823. In fact, he could not understand 
why anyone would believe that Jews were capable of ritually murdering 
the boy or, for that matter, that so much blood could flow from such 
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tiny wounds. Shmerka went on to explain that neither he nor his family 
had set foot inside the Jewish school when the boy was said to have been 
murdered. This was why he had no idea if the alleged blood was poured 
into the bottles or if the pieces of linen had been saturated in the blood.9

Sitting at the edge of the table, holding herself up with her elbows, 
Shmerka’s wife, Slava, barely had the strength to make it through an inter-
rogation session. Disoriented and frightened, Slava finally appeared before 
the inquisitorial commission, but no sooner than she answered a question, 
she changed her mind. Slava nonetheless managed to confirm many of the 
same details that her husband had described: that she had known Avdotia 
Maksimova quite well, but could not remember of ever encountering the 
beggar woman Terenteeva before, that no one tortured a Christian boy 
in their house, that she had not set foot inside the school, and that she 
knew absolutely nothing about the murder conspiracy other than what 
she heard by way of the rumors that were circulating around town.10

Slava somehow gathered enough strength to challenge the accusations. 
Looking directly into Maksimova’s eyes, she lashed out, “Tell me, who actu-
ally carried the boy to the school? Did anyone see this take place? Whose 
dress did you put on that day? And where exactly did Khanna keep the boy 
in her home? Were there any witnesses who can confirm this [allegation]?” 
Slava went on, “Lies, lies! It’s all lies! She made everything up from begin-
ning to end, nothing but lies!” When confronted with Terenteeva, Slava 
screamed that the beggar woman told only lies and that she had never met 
her before. To this, Terenteeva responded in a calm voice, “How dare you, 
aren’t you afraid of God’s wrath?” The inquisitors reminded Slava that her 
skin color, especially of her face and neck, had changed dramatically dur-
ing the interrogation session, turning exceptionally pale one moment and 
visibly red the next. So that she would notice the remarkable change in her 
complexion, the commission forced her to stand in front of a mirror, but 
Slava stood by her testimony and affirmed her innocence.11

On June 9, 1827, long after the sun had set and the candles had 
burned out, Slava was asked to sign a written statement. But as the 
ink was drying, she noticed that the recording secretary was not faith-
ful to her words. She requested to make several “corrections,” but the 
commission denied her request, declaring that the statement was “com-
plete.” In hopes of clearing her good name, Slava sent a complaint to 
the governor-​general’s office, describing how Strakhov had forced her to 
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“sign the written statement” and that he intimidated her by screaming 
obscenities and threatening to strike her with his bare hands. Strakhov 
did not waste any time calling Slava’s credibility into question, making it 
clear that she “changed first one answer and then another one, and then 
demanded, with the utmost impudence, for the statement to read just 
the way she wanted it.” From this pattern, Strakhov intimated, it was 
self-​evident that Slava made things up and had sent the complaint in the 
most hysterical state just to get back at him for taking her into custody.12

Shmerka’s son, Hirsh, could not think of any reason why anyone would 
want to kill the little boy. Jews certainly would not stand to profit, Hirsh 
reasoned. “The boy may have died of natural causes, or perhaps someone 
could have killed him, if for no other reason than to cast blame on the 
Jews.” He remembered that the shoemaker Filipp Azadkevich frequently 
walked around the marketplace with old books in his hands, telling any-
one who cared to listen that Jews needed Christian blood for religious rit-
uals. Furthermore, he explained that he hired Abram Glushkov to guard 
the house only after he was summoned for questioning. In a confronta-
tion with Terenteeva, Hirsh remarked, “Why are you lying? I’ve never 
known you. You’ve never stepped inside our house.”13 Hirsh’s wife, Shifra, 
was panic-​stricken when she was brought in for questioning. The record-
ing secretary observed that she was “crying, smiling, and sighing heavily 
all at the same time,” while trying her best to refute the accusations.14

The entire Berlin family, including Shmerka’s brothers, Meir and 
Noson, were under immense psychological pressure to confess. But no 
matter how difficult the circumstances may have been, the brothers did 
not budge. As his face “twitched nervously,” Meir stared down Terenteeva, 
telling her that “he had never met her before and that he had no idea 
what she was talking about.” Terenteeva quickly objected, “Don’t lie. You 
knew me when I was called Sara.” At that moment, the recording secre-
tary noted that Meir’s face “turned pale.” Pulling his beard as hard as he 
could, he leaned against the wall and began to hit it furiously with his 
bare hands. He started to cry. “How dare you say this?” Meir responded. 
“This never happened. You have no idea what you’re talking about. You’ve 
been brainwashed!” During his confrontation with Terenteeva, Noson 
also appeared to be visibly distraught. He complained that his head hurt 
badly and that he was barely able to stand up and answer the questions. 
According to the recording secretary’s observations, Noson’s body “shook  
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as though he was having a seizure.” After an hour or so had passed, Noson 
was finally able to speak, but could not remember certain words and had 
a generally hard time answering the commission’s questions. When the 
exceedingly lengthy interrogation session came to an end, Noson refused 
to sign the written statement, because, he later explained to the governor-​
general, Strakhov dealt him two strong blows to the chest.15

Evzik Tsetlin had been acquainted with Shmerka Berlin all his life. They 
lived only a few doors from one another. From time to time, the men col-
laborated on business ventures, including, most recently, the construction 
of a glass factory in the provincial district. As two of the most prosperous 
families in town, the Tsetlins and Berlins frequently socialized together as 
well; the wives were especially on good terms. But when the ritual mur-
der rumors started circulating around town, Evzik and his wife Khanna 
were not in any mood to socialize. The Tsetlins lost a sizable amount of 
the capital they had invested in the factory. Evzik spent much of his time 
at home in distress, thinking of ways to get back his money, while his wife 
Khanna was busy tending to their ill son. Evzik remembered that one of his 
neighbors had informed him that a dead boy was found in the woods, but 
he never bothered to inspect the body and he had no idea who had com-
mitted the crime. Although the word on the street was that Jews did this 
for demonic reasons, Evzik reassured the commission that Jews would do 
no such thing. “Jewish religious law,” Evzik explained to Strakhov, “forbids 
us from eating or drinking Christian blood or any blood for that matter.”16

Like Hirsh Berlin, Evzik theorized that the shoemaker Azadkevich had 
orchestrated the entire affair, turning Terenteeva, Maksimova, and so many 
other Christian neighbors squarely against the Jewish community. Evzik 
remembered that since the day he was elected town councilor, Azadkevich 
had held a grudge against him. One day the townsman asked Evzik to 
mediate a disagreement with two other Jews. It turned out that a financial 
transaction had gone terribly wrong. Azadkevich wanted nothing more 
than for Evzik to discipline the Jews. But in his capacity as town counci-
lor, he did no such thing. Instead, he promptly threw Azadkevich in jail 
and put him on a bread and water diet. While behind bars, Azadkevich 
threatened Evzik that he would get his revenge one day. In the spring of 
1823, it appears the moment had finally arrived: shortly after the boy was 
found ritually murdered, Azadkevich boasted to everyone around town 
that Khanna and Slava would “languish in prison for at least five years.”17
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As the interrogation session intensified, Strakhov went over his copi-
ous notes and noticed an apparent contradiction. Why did Evzik claim 
that he had not encountered Terenteeva before, when Khanna originally 
testified that the beggar woman was run out of the Tsetlin home on sev-
eral occasions? Strakhov reminded Evzik that his wife had recounted in 
detail why Terenteeva should be blamed for the murder. Evzik reassured 
Strakhov that there was a simple explanation. Lots of different folks, from 
all walks of life, frequented the tavern; there was no way he could keep 
track of all of them. Perhaps his wife insisted that Terenteeva leave the 
property, but he could not remember when this happened or why. Evzik 
explained that he knew absolutely nothing about the murder. Of the 
three accusers, he was acquainted only with Maksimova, and he knew for 
a fact that she had not converted to Judaism. Not only did Maksimova go 
to confession regularly, but on Jewish holidays and on Saturdays she sold 
wine and beer at the tavern, handled money, fetched water from the well, 
and lit the stove—​all things Jews were strictly forbidden from doing.18

By November 1826, Evzik had been locked up in his room for nearly 
five months. One evening, around thirty minutes after dinner was 
delivered to his room, he threw off his robe, tore his shirt into tiny 
pieces, and began to scream at the top of his lungs for Strakhov to 
come see him. The guard on duty saw Evzik without any clothes on, 
running hysterically around his room in circles. The guard rushed over 
to Strakhov, telling him to come quickly; “Evzik Tsetlin has just lost his 
mind.” When Strakhov finally showed up, he witnessed quite the scene. 
Evzik was visibly agitated and did not want to answer any questions or 
even acknowledge Strakhov’s presence. After some time had passed, the 
guards restrained him by tying his feet together. But subduing Evzik was 
not easy. For several minutes, he continued to kick and scream, until he 
fell off the bed flat on the floor. By this time, Evzik had lost what little 
strength he had left and finally managed to calm down. Several days 
later, he explained to an officer that the “interrogations had taken a real 
toll, making me feel increasingly hopeless.” Strakhov had lied to him on 
numerous occasions. In the middle of the night when no one would see 
him, Strakhov changed the signed written statement, making it appear 
that he had confessed to one thing when in fact he said something dif-
ferent entirely. Evzik hoped that one day everyone in town would find 
out how unjustly he had been treated.19
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Khanna Tsetlina was also in a state of deep despair. Strakhov’s ques-
tions frightened her. As her face turned “deathly pale” and her “body 
trembled from exhaustion,” Khanna did her best to reassure the commis-
sion that she did not make up anything. She denied of stepping inside 
Mirka Aronson’s home or the Jewish school. She had no idea if the bottles 
of blood were distributed to Jews or if the cloth was saturated in the blood 
and then cut in tiny little pieces. The only thing that she knew for sure 
was that Avdotia did not bring the bottles to the house. Although Khanna 
remembered making honey at the time of the Passover holiday, she denied 
ever mixing Christian blood in rolls and pretzels and arranging for the 
deliveries to Vitebsk. In her confrontation with Avdotia, Khanna yelled, 
“Lies! Lies! You have forgotten everything, you madwoman.”20

On another occasion, Khanna told Strakhov that Avdotia Maksimova 
should have known better than to accuse her of ritual murder. Avdotia 
lived with them for ten years. At one point, the Tsetlins had even 
vouched for her innocence when she was charged with theft and faced 
exile to Siberia. Khanna remembered that Avdotia looked “happy and 
content” when she worked for them, reminding Strakhov that, in the 
spring of 1823, Avdotia testified that she knew nothing about the mur-
der. And therein lay the absurdity of the case. “What hope do I have 
when three women accuse me of such awful things? Even if ten women 
would say the same thing, I would still maintain my innocence: that 
I know absolutely nothing [about the murder].”21 Khanna’s daughter, 
Itka—​who was only twelve years old when the scandal broke out—​also 
had a hard time rationalizing why Avdotia would make up such dreadful 
accusations. Itka spent most of her time outdoors, playing games with 
her friends, and did not pay much attention to the investigation. Itka 
told Avdotia when they confronted each other, “Remember what you 
used to tell me: the truth will always come to light. It was you who raised 
me. How many times I played at your feet as you watched over me!”22

There are other stories like Khanna’s and Itka’s. For the duration of 
the interrogations, Zusia Rudniakov refused to make eye contact with 
Strakhov. Zusia looked “disoriented and frightened,” and the more 
questions he was asked the harder he breathed. When Strakhov showed 
him what appeared to be bloodied rags of some sort, Zusia turned pale 
and wept. Terenteeva turned in the rags as proof of ritual murder, but 
Zusia had no intention of inspecting them. Instead, he continued to 
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rub his forehead in disbelief. The moment Terenteeva walked into the 
room, the recording secretary noted that Zusia paced nervously around 
the room, taking deep breaths every few minutes and scolding her in 
a very loud voice.23 Itsko Beliaev called Terenteeva a “swine and mad-
woman.” When Terenteeva recounted how she was forced to stand on 
top of a sweltering hot iron pan during the conversion ceremony and 
how her feet still hurt to this day, the only thing Itsko could do was cry. 
He asked Terenteeva, “Are you saying that in three whole years your 
feet haven’t been able to heal?24 Another prisoner, a man by the name 
of Abram Kisin, screamed loudly as he hit his arms and legs against the 
bed. He threw himself in all directions and called for his father, wife, 
and children to save him, because he felt “all was lost.”25

At the time of the investigation, Basia Aronson got into an argu-
ment with her sister-​in-​law Slava Berlina over an unpaid debt of 1,000 
rubles. The women were on such bad terms that they had turned the 
matter over to the bet din (rabbinic court). While the case was being 
adjudicated, Basia avoided Slava. For this reason, she had no idea who 
allegedly tortured the boy because, she explained to Strakhov, “the last 
thing I wanted to do was see or talk with Slava.”26 Iosel’ Glikman, the 
man who was accused of transporting the boy’s body to the woods, 
threw out yet another theory: “Somebody must have stabbed the boy 
as a cruel joke and then blamed the ritual murder on us. If Jews had 
killed the boy, [we] certainly would not have dumped the body two 
miles from town, but found another place, closer to town, to hide the 
body.” As he stood on his knees in front of the inquisitorial commis-
sion, he repeated several times, “My lord, forgive me, forgive me!” 
Glikman would not explain what he meant. Instead, he paced ner-
vously around the room, breathing deeply on occasion, rubbing his 
face and head with his hands, all the while complaining that he was 
not feeling well.27

Several other prisoners also had a hard time comprehending why 
anyone would believe that Jews forced Terenteeva, Maksimova, and 
Kazlovskaia to convert to Judaism. “Jews don’t convert Christians,” 
Iankel’ Chernomordik explained to Strakhov, “and even if [we] did, 
shouldn’t all three [women] be wearing Jewish clothes?” During the con-
frontation with Terenteeva, Iankel’ wasn’t able to articulate his thoughts 
clearly. The only thing he could do was cry and mutter under his breath, 



The Velizh Affair88

88

“God has struck me down. My lord, please forgive me! I have no idea 
what she’s talking about.”28

Iankel’s thirty-​year-​old daughter Khaika also had no idea what the 
three accusers were talking about. Shortly after Khaika got married, she 
and her husband moved out to a neighboring village. Her husband found 
work managing an estate for a nobleman, and she hardly spent any time 
in Velizh, coming only on occasion to see her parents. The entire village 
of Safanovoi, where they resided, could attest to this fact. For this rea-
son, Khaika had no idea who killed the boy or whether the women were 
forcibly converted. She too had never set foot in the provincial capital 
of Vitebsk before, as Terenteeva had alleged. When they confronted one 
another, Khaika gave Terenteeva a disparaging look and then lowered her 
gaze and proceeded to pace around the room just as Iosel’ Glikman and 
her father had done before her. When Strakhov pulled out the bloodied 
rags and placed them on the table, the recording secretary noted that 
“Khaika’s entire body trembled in agitation.” But even in this worked-​up 
state, she had no intention of inspecting the rags. Khaika “stared directly 
in her accuser’s eyes for a long time,” as though, the recording secretary 
noted, she was trying to frighten Terenteeva.29

Unlike the prisoners who were born and raised in Velizh, Khaim 
Khrupin had come to town when he was twenty-​six years old. After 
finding work as a tutor, he decided to stay. Together with his wife and 
children, he resided in a modest wooden home located across the river 
at the very edge of town. The house had two separate entrances and 
a common courtyard. Khaim and his family occupied one half of the 
home, while Maria Terenteeva and her Christian landlady lived in the 
other half. Although Khaim had run into Terenteeva on numerous occa-
sions, he remembered one day with particular clarity, when he caught 
Terenteeva rummaging through his belongings. He was certain that she 
wanted to steal something—​such was her reputation around town—​
and so he told her to leave immediately. Why did Khaim not reveal this 
crucial detail before? Khaim had a simple explanation, “I was frightened 
by the stories circulating around that Jews were getting punished in the 
interrogation chamber.”30

As a language teacher with limited knowledge of Russian, Khaim 
“doubted that he revealed everything that was necessary for his acquittal.” 
This is why he did not hold back when he was brought in for a second 
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round of questions. He firmly denied of having set foot inside the Jewish 
school during the conversion ceremony or lying on the same bed with 
Terenteeva. Khaim told Terenteeva when they confronted each other, 
“You’ve never been a Jewess, just as I have never been a Gypsy.” He felt 
that Terenteeva had accused him of all this “nonsense” because she held a 
grudge against him when he threw her out of his home. “Terenteeva can 
say whatever she wants but no Jew will affirm her testimony,” he went on. 
Regarding the allegation that he had intimate relations with her, Khrupin 
pointed out that Jewish law strictly forbids this. “A Jew is not permitted 
to lie on the same bed with anyone other than his wife. I was never mar-
ried to Maria, and the kahal scribe never signed the ketubah [marriage 
contract]. Since Terenteeva lies unceasingly, I ask God that she continues 
to live.” “There will come a time when Terenteeva will reveal the truth,” 
Khrupin predicted, “perhaps not to the commission but to someone else. 
If Terenteeva would die for some unexpected reason, then the truth would 
be lost eternally. . . . If I were brought in [the interrogation chamber] on 
a daily basis, I would say the exact same thing: that Terenteeva is lying.”31

Almost always, the Jews stood their ground in face of tough and 
exceedingly hostile questions. Not only did they refuse to tell the 
inquisitors what they wanted to hear, countering any possibilities they 
were involved in the crime, but they repeatedly refused to sign the 
confession statements. With tears running down both of his cheeks, 
Ruman Nakhimovskii, for example, clutched his stomach and “shook 
feverishly” when Strakhov displayed the bloodied rags. Ruman was the 
custodian of the Jewish school, repaired things when they were dam-
aged or broken, and walked around town collecting candles on Fridays. 
As the interrogation session progressed, Ruman took his time answer-
ing the questions and appeared “visibly frightened.” At one point, he 
leaned against the fireplace in the corner of the room and stared at the 
door, as though he was waiting for someone to enter. Later in the day, 
Maksimova told him, “Don’t hold back, Ruman, there will come a time 
when you will reveal the truth. I didn’t say one word in vain.” Ruman 
replied, “No, I would never confess to having committed the crime. It 
never happened.” Terenteeva also pressed Ruman to confess, “You don’t 
know me? We stabbed the boy together, and you were the one who 
converted me—​don’t deny this. The boy’s blood will not be wasted. God 
will not permit this.” “You’re lying,” Ruman responded, “You’ve been 
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brainwashed. Jews don’t need Christian blood.” Ruman then turned to 
the inquisitors, “I have no strength left. I’m not capable of confessing 
[something I didn’t commit]. I’d rather die.”32

More like a late-​medieval holding facility than an institution of incar-
ceration, the Bogdanovicheva house was not impermeable to the stream 
of small-​town life.33 The house was located in the very center of town, 
only a short walk from the marketplace. Like any other institution of 
confinement, it was governed by its own distinct rules and systems of 
exchanges. On any given day, a host of administrators, family members, 
translators, and medical practitioners frequented the house. The stream 
of visitors delivered warm meals, water, tea and coffee, clothing, candles, 
medical supplies, and reading materials. Prisoners also could purchase 
certain items such as flour, beef, fish, eggs, and milk.34

The inhabitants of the house—​the inquisitors, guards, and inmates—​
had no choice but to adapt to the vagaries of prison life. This was a world 
where everyone lived in cramped quarters, where it was not extraordinarily 
difficult to overhear conversations or communicate with family and friends 
on the outside. The rooms on the first floor had better heat and lighting. 
One prisoner, for instance, was grateful that he was not locked up in the 
attic, where the light was particularly poor. “Thank God,” he observed, “that 
they decided to be nice to me and not put me . . . in the darkest place in the 
house, where two other Jews are locked up, and where it’s impossible to see 
a thing.”35 Nevertheless, the “darkest place in the house” had its rewards. 
Whereas guards patrolled the rooms on the first floor, the attic was generally 
left alone for long stretches of time. Prisoners could open the tiny windows 
with ease and communicate in special coded language—​a practice used in 
many European prisons—​with people standing in the marketplace.36

In the summer of 1827, Strakhov ordered a new round of arrests. 
With both the Bogdanovicheva house and the town jail filled to capac-
ity, the inspector-​councilor was forced to improvise. The inquisitorial 
commission did not have the resources to build a new holding cell; it 
quickly needed to come up with a place of temporary custody. On July 
15, Strakhov found another house, only a short walk from the market-
place, which had enough space to accommodate the growing number of 
inmates and guards. It remains unclear if the home was unoccupied or 
if the commission forced the residents to vacate the property. Whatever 
the case, this turned out to be the most cost-​effective solution to the 
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problem of overcrowding. The commission felt that it need not worry 
about food, linens, and supplies; all these items could be delivered from 
home by family and friends at the inmates’ request.37

A cache of writings—​some of which were mere fragments—​smuggled 
in and out of the two homes and town jail provides an intimate glimpse 
of daily life. With ink and paper hard to come by, the prisoners jot-
ted down notes in minuscule Yiddish on whatever objects they could 
find: on wooden chips, scraps of cloth, and even on the edges of spoons 
and forks.38 The inquisitorial commission was not capable of controlling 
all aspects of the daily routine. No matter how hard the inquisitors tried 
to limit communication, the prisoners managed to see and talk with one 
another and to exchange notes.39

Relying on hand gestures and signs, prisoners acquired tidbits of 
information about what was going on around them. They learned of 
recent arrests, the health and safety of loved ones, and if their messages 
were successfully delivered. Before her arrest, for example, Evzik Tsetlin’s 
daughter, Itka, “would come by the house and make strange signs with 
her hands and post occasional notes on her [father’s] window.”40 Some 
prisoners communicated with friends, family, and neighbors at prear-
ranged times. Others waited until the guards on duty were not around 
to open windows so they could talk with people who happened to pass 
by. Frequently, prisoners sharing a wall talked with one another “by 
praying or singing in a loud voice inside their rooms.”41

The fact that the prisoners enjoyed a modicum of social ties with the 
outside world did not mean that they did not suffer from loneliness, 
boredom, and melancholia. Khaim Khrupin wrote to his wife in desper-
ation of news of his young children, “I beg you to tell me if my son has 
started to read. I would also like for you to bring my son along when 
you deliver the meals. Tell him to stand by my window. Tell my daughter 
to stand by the window, as well.”42 With his mental and physical state 
deteriorating, he tried to allay his wife’s fears, “I beg you, dear wife, not 
to worry about me. I’m perfectly healthy, without an attack of the nerves, 
thank God.”43 Khrupin followed up with a note to his mother: “Please 
don’t miss me too much. What good would that do? Perhaps God will 
allow me to stand one more time before the inquisitorial tribunal. I’m 
hopeful that the last round of interrogations would give them enough 
evidence to set me free and that, most importantly, all the foolish things 
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that they’ve tried to accuse me of would come to light. I pray that the 
uncircumcised one [Strakhov] would finally come clean and admit that 
he personally signed the interrogation documents.”44

Khrupin’s wife tried to reassure her husband that everyone at home was 
doing just fine. “For God’s sake, don’t worry about us. We have nothing to 
fear. Not because the most dangerous time has passed, but because I assure 
you that we have nothing to fear. Also, don’t worry about our expenses.” 
The Jewish community provided charity for the destitute and needy, and 
from that little bit of money, Khrupin’s wife noted that she was able to pay 
the tutor to the last kopek. In fact, she was certain that the money would 
last her a few more weeks, and she should have enough to buy a fur coat at 
the fair. “I pray that you not worry about us and turn melancholy,” she con-
cluded the letter. “Save your health, otherwise you’ll fall ill. Why haven’t 
you sent back shirts to wash? Why haven’t you sent back the dirty dishes?”45

On another occasion, Khrupin’s wife wrote with news of their son, 
expressing fear that their correspondence would be discovered:

Your son misses you terribly. In the coming days, he will study at 
home . . . He has already started to read the siddur (prayer book) and 
is getting pretty good at it. Don’t worry about me or about our house-
hold expenses, nothing has changed. But I miss you. I have no idea if 
you’ve received all the food and drinks that I’ve sent you. I also can’t 
understand why you don’t finish your meals—​just so that you send 
back a note? I’m extremely afraid [the guards will discover our corre-
spondence]. I don’t advise you to send notes this way. Don’t worry that 
they’ve locked you so tightly. They didn’t do this because you did some-
thing wrong, but because Nota [Prudkov] escaped from prison. . . .  
The investigation is making all of us [in town] terribly frightened. It’s 
wartime here. They’ve just conscripted several of our brothers [into 
the cantonist battalions]. If it’s possible to send a note by way of your 
[trustworthy] contact, please do so, but don’t ask anyone else.”46

Prisoners fought the grinding idleness and boredom in a variety of 
ways. Khanna Tsetlina, for example, asked for yarn and needle and 
some books; another prisoner requested reading material, including 
two Talmud volumes, and ink.47 When distractions failed to produce 
the desired results, religious faith helped ease the emotional stress of 
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separation. Blessings over food, recitations and prayers, and the obser-
vance of fasts and feasts on the Jewish calendar helped structure daily 
life. One prisoner, for example, requested an assortment of items from 
home for Passover, so that he could “read the history of the Israelite 
exodus from Egypt by candlelight.” He asked for the Seder wine, a clean 
white tablecloth, and a small handkerchief to cover his head. Several 
days later, the same prisoner followed up with a more detailed list: 
unleavened bread (to be delivered before the start of Passover), horse-
radish tops, baked wings (any bird sufficed), onion sprouts, a mix made 
of crushed nuts and apples, English pepper, cinnamon, Rennes wine, 
a drink made with honey, and a glass for the wine. “Praise be to God 
that he hasn’t deprived me of his mercy, and I haven’t been sent to the 
dark place, the attic, where it’s impossible to see a thing, with the other 
two Jews.” He concluded, “I ask that you also bring me tea and sugar 
for the holiday, and eggs and fish for the holiday dinner, if they aren’t 
too expensive. I don’t have any more news. God have mercy on me.”48

Invariably, the imprisoned Jews suffered from poor health and 
hygiene. The correspondence offers a graphic record of their ailments: of 
chronic illnesses, nervous spells, and stomach ailments. Jews described 
their health in unusually candid terms. “I’m very sick,” one prisoner 
wrote. “My arm, side of my body, and head all hurt badly. The doctor 
prescribed me medicine, but now I have none left. I tried to inform [the 
inquisitorial commission] of how awful I feel, but no one pays attention 
to me.” He continued, “The doctor used to come by every other day, 
but now visits once a week and this is why my health has deteriorated 
so quickly. God only knows what will happen to me. I am sick, and 
it’s impossible to get through to anyone.”49 Medicine was not always 
available or effective. One prisoner, for example, asked for better food 
to relieve the pain. “I’m not well,” he wrote, “I took some powder, but 
it didn’t do me any good. It seems I have hemorrhoids. . . . Today I also 
took a cocktail of pills to help the constipation. It’s really bothering me. 
I have a good appetite, thank God, but I’m having a really hard time.”50 
At a later date, the same prisoner reported that he wasn’t able to control 
the illness: “I’m very sick, God have mercy on me. I’m suffering from 
constipation for a long time now. I’ve tried medicine, but the powder 
doesn’t seem to work. I have stools filled with bloody water nearly twice 
a day, but I’m still bloated like a barrel. I feel the blood pulsating inside 
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me and on top of that there’s the constipation. I beg you, my merciful 
brothers, pray that I come out alive. Although I have an extraordinary 
appetite, I’ve assumed that I shouldn’t eat when taking medicine. That 
didn’t help; the doctor finally instructed me to eat.”51

More than anything else, the Jews wanted to get out. They scribbled 
notes at great personal risk in the hope that someone would save them 
from their predicament. Khaim Khrupin implored his wife to help 
spread the word. “I write to you, dear brothers of Israel, to come to 
our rescue. Woe is me! Woe is me! Take pity on us. Hurry, come quick, 
they’re doing terrible things to us!” Khrupin was convinced that it was 
just a matter of time before Terenteeva’s accusations would be discred-
ited. “If they find even a smidgen of truth in anything she says about us, 
I’m ready to be hung by a noose in the middle of the market square.”52 
Other prisoners appealed to friends and family members to take their 
pleas seriously. One prisoner, for instance, described how the inquisitors 
made her sit in a room in front of the three accusers. “The women talked 
until I blacked out. I have no idea what happened afterwards. From the 
very beginning [of the confrontation], I stood my ground and denied 
everything until they decided to bring me back to my room. I’m telling 
you one more time that the situation is really bad here. Take pity on us, 
do something for God’s sake! You have nothing to fear. You should know 
that we’re losing hope. Don’t think for a moment that I’m writing this 
note because I’m feeling sorry for myself. We’re all in this together.”53

In no time, communication turned into an elaborate game of conceal-
ment.54 Although the guards were generally receptive to black-​market 
dealings with the prisoners, there were plenty of occasions when they 
managed to confiscate personal correspondence in search of Jews’ dark 
secrets. “A few weeks ago a guard walked into my room and found two 
wooden chips under my pillow,” one unidentified prisoner remarked. 
“He grabbed both pieces of wood and immediately threw them into the 
fire.”55 When bribes proved dangerous or ineffective, Jews passed notes 
in bowls and pots, inside beef and fish dishes, in bottles of wine and 
water, in the linings of dresses and caftans, and in women’s hairpieces.

No matter how hard Jews tried to conceal their intentions, the highly 
elaborate schemes were not always successful. Prisoners expressed frustra-
tion that their messages were falling on deaf ears. “I have already written 
to you regarding the troubles I’ve experienced,” Iankel’ Chernomordik 
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wrote to an unidentified friend or family member. “You don’t bother to 
look for scraps of wood [that is, the handwritten notes] in the items that 
I’m sending back to you.” Chernomordik tried to attach short notes in 
a teapot, stockings, spoons, clothing, and tzitzit (pieces of knotted rit-
ual fringes). “You’re as slow as an ass, and for some reason can’t seem to 
comprehend my signals,” he remarked. “I told you to tie the string into a 
knot and look carefully at the dish I’m sending back to you.”56 In another 
message, this time to a different friend or family member, Chernomordik 
did not hold back, “It pains me that I haven’t been able to eat all this 
time. I’ve tried to instruct him to hook a piece of string inside the dish 
[to retrieve my note]. I’m sending back the fish one more time, but he 
can’t seem to comprehend why I’m doing this.57 Writing in a similar vein, 
another prisoner could not understand why all of his notes have gone 
unanswered. “It’s as if I’m throwing a stone into the sea.”58

For the inquisitors, the confiscated notes offered additional proof of 
Jews’ complicity in the ritual crime. Linguistic experts, most of whom 
were apostates from Judaism employed by the state, observed that Jews 
encrypted the texts with “special coded Hebrew words, making it extraor-
dinarily difficult to understand their real meaning.”59 Strakhov was con-
vinced that Jews were manipulating the criminal investigation and that 
they were sending secret messages to prepare their friends and family in 
case they too were summoned to the interrogation chamber. How else to 
explain why Jews went to such great lengths to communicate with one 
another?60 To expose the depth of the conspiracy, the inquisitors con-
fronted the prisoners with the notes, but the prisoners caught on to the 
tactics. Khaim Khrupin acknowledged that he had written the letters so 
that his wife would “run to the capital and appeal to the emperor.” “You’re 
a bunch of liars,” he exclaimed. “You’re breaking the law. I’ll reveal every-
thing to the emperor!” Itka Tsetlina reassured the inquisitors that she had 
no idea what the notes meant because she had no recollection of having 
written them. Another prisoner acknowledged that the notes could be 
his, but he could not remember for certain. “This is not my handwriting; 
these are not my letters. Hit me! I’d be better off if you struck me down! 
What will happen to me [if you do]? All of you officials are breaking the 
law. We Jews are trying to tell the truth, but no one’s listening to us.”61

Given the harsh realities of confinement, it is remarkable that so many 
Jews stood their ground as firmly as they did, although, as might be 
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expected, this was not the case for everyone. At least a handful of people 
felt that by telling the interrogators what they wanted to hear they would 
be afforded judicial leniency. Itsko Nakhimovskii, for example, was impris-
oned for almost two years when he finally broke down, promising to “reveal 
the truth.” For ten or twelve years (he could not remember for sure), Itsko 
rented two rooms from Shmerka Berlin, from where he operated a small 
tavern and sold oats and hay. Itsko told Strakhov that he was left with noth-
ing more than his memory, soul, and ability to communicate: “My memory 
would recall what really happened, my tongue would describe the events 
just as they had occurred, and my soul would make sure that I reveal the 
entire truth about my sufferings and torments and the murder case, even 
though I didn’t have anything to do with it. Only I would be able to save 
my people.” Nakhimovskii never did come up with a satisfactory explana-
tion. As the months went by, solitary confinement made Itsko increasingly 
prone to fits of nervous rage. The slightest sound frightened him. The only 
solace he found was looking out of a small window of his room at the people 
walking around the market square. One day Strakhov unexpectedly trans-
ferred Itsko to a room with a view of the courtyard. At that point, Itsko’s 
mood changed for the worse. He felt increasingly hopeless and decided to 
try his luck and escape. He waited until no one was looking and ran out 
past the gate onto Il’inskaia Street, screaming as loudly as he could, “Help! 
Help! I can’t bear to be in my room any longer. I will go crazy. I will kill 
myself.” He made it as far as the St. Il’insk Church, at which point he was 
apprehended by a security guard and escorted back to his room.62

In the spring of 1823, Nota Prudkov went on a business trip to Riga 
to purchase lumber. When he returned in either June or July, the town 
was abuzz with ugly rumors. Prudkov was arrested on February 4, 1828. 
Standing in front of the commission, trembling in fear, Prudkov could 
not understand why Strakhov targeted a poor, illiterate man like himself, 
when so many “rich” Jews remained free. The surest way to get released, 
Prudkov reckoned, was to offer a “full confession.” Although he did not 
agree with all of Terenteeva’s assertions, Prudkov disclosed that a small 
number of “wealthy” Jews had committed the ritual act. He did not know 
if they cut or stabbed the body or their precise motivations. It could have 
been done for “religious” reasons, but if that was the case, Prudkov reas-
sured the commission, only “the wealthiest, most educated Jews in the 
community knew these highly esoteric practices and customs.”63
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With his confession falling on deaf ears, Prudkov decided to try 
something different. One thing he knew for sure was that he could not 
be confined to his room any longer. He waited until everyone was asleep 
before he broke the hardwood floor with his bare hands, took a wooden 
stick from underneath the bed, which he had saved for that purpose, 
and dug a small tunnel underneath the wall of the house. As soon as he 
reached the other side, he headed straight to the embankment, at which 
point he smashed his leg irons into tiny little pieces with a boulder. It 
does not appear that he made it very far. The very next day a guard 
found him hiding out in a neighbor’s cottage. Prudkov explained that he 
escaped in order to convert, something that he had “intended to do for a 
long time now,” but the inquisitors did not buy this justification either.64

The most sensational confession came from Fratka Devirts. Fratka was 
arrested on July 11, 1827, almost five months after her husband, the pharma-
cist Orlik, was taken into custody. At first, Fratka denied all the accusations 
that were leveled against her. The moment she set foot in the interrogation 
room, she cried out, “I don’t know a thing [about the murder] nor was I a 
witness to anything that had happened. Why was I brought here? I don’t 
know these beggar women! Are you really going to believe their stories?” 
Fratka walked around the room, screaming as loudly as she could, that she 
would be rather whipped by the knout than forced to answer any more 
questions. “If the commission believed that they found a fool, then they 
had another think coming. I’m not afraid of being rude, to say what’s on 
my mind, and I will not stop for any reason!” Fratka snapped.65

But it did not take long for solitary confinement to get to Fratka. 
On August 22, 1827, she asked to use the outhouse, and when no one 
was looking, she decided to make a run for it. She climbed over the 
fence and made it as far as the neighbor’s courtyard before a soldier 
apprehended her. In an attempt to explain her mother’s erratic behav-
ior, Rieva Kateonov pointed out that Fratka “had a weak temperament” 
and was predisposed to fainting spells. It did not help matters, Rieva 
went on, that Fratka was confined in a dark, unheated room. Rieva peti-
tioned, unsuccessfully, to hand deliver a candle, which she hoped would 
brighten her mother’s spirits.66 As the days went by, Fratka felt increas-
ingly hopeless about her predicament. She tried to escape one more 
time, and when that attempt also failed, she requested a meeting with 
the inquisitorial commission. One of the security guards observed that 
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Fratka was in the “most indecent state” when he came to her door: she 
was walking in circles around the room, swinging her arms wildly from 
side to side while uttering all sorts of obscenities.67

In a highly sensational account, Fratka revealed crucial details about the 
murder conspiracy. One day she ran into Ruman Nakhimovskii, the hump-
backed custodian of the Jewish school, while taking a stroll in the courtyard. To 
her surprise, Ruman whispered in her ear that all the rumors circulating around 
town were true and that he had personally witnessed the murder. Ruman saw 
“the entire Berlin clan, Evzik and Khanna Tsetlin, and many other Jews take 
turns stabbing the boy with a knife. And when the boy took his last breath, 
Evzik hid it in his caftan and left somewhere in a hurry.” Fratka wanted Ruman 
to tell her more, but she was afraid that a soldier would overhear their con-
versation, even though they were speaking in Yiddish. On another occasion, 
Ruman told her yet another disturbing story that confirmed both the demonic 
and curative powers of Christian blood. As the Jews took turns stabbing the 
boy, Slava’s daughter and son-​in-​law, Lanka and Iankel’ Hirsh, fainted from 
fear. All the Jews were immediately taken by surprise. Slava was especially wor-
ried that her daughter and son-​in-​law would reveal the gruesome details to the 
authorities. So she dipped her index finger in the boy’s blood and rubbed it 
on both of their bare chests. Lanka and Iankel’ began to sneeze uncontrollably, 
and shortly thereafter they lost consciousness and died. Ruman explained to 
her that Slava also planned to use the blood to treat her husband’s tuberculosis, 
but he did not know how or when she planned to do this.68

Fratka realized that Ruman would deny everything. Jews are strictly 
forbidden from shaming God’s name, and no one, especially such a 
pious and respectable Jew as Ruman, would admit that he was a witness 
to ritual murder. “If the kahal learns what I had just told you,” Fratka 
warned the commission, “it would immediately pronounce herem 
against me, cut off all relations with the Jewish community, includ-
ing the purchase of kosher meat.” Fratka insisted that this information 
needed to be kept strictly confidential. In a face-​to-​face confrontation, 
she not only reminded Ruman what he had whispered, but disclosed 
yet another crucial detail: that a Jew by the name of Hirsh, who lived 
on the outskirts of town, had in his possession the knife and razor blade 
the Jews used to murder and circumcise the boy. Fratka pleaded with 
the officials to take Ruman “somewhere far away,” because if they let 
him go free, the Jewish community would immediately suspect that she 



The Confrontations 99

 

had informed on them. And if that were to happen, Fratka was certain 
that she would be treated worse than a meshumad, an apostate, someone 
who was rejected by the Jewish community because she had abandoned 
the Jewish faith. Along with her children, Fratka would need to “hide 
somewhere faraway or have no choice but to commit suicide.”69

Sensing the inquisitors’ skepticism, Fratka decided to throw out a 
bombshell. Berka Zarkha, the shochet (kosher butcher), had hidden the 
knife in the courtyard of the kahal building, in a secret storage shed, 
with around twenty other knives, all of which were enclosed in beauti-
ful cloth-​covered cases. Fratka explained that the knife could be “easily 
distinguished from the others because it was enclosed in a red Moroccan 
leather case, engraved in silver with Hebrew letters, although there was 
nothing unusual about it, save for one small detail: unlike an ordinary 
shaving blade, it could not be folded in half.” To make matters even more 
interesting, Fratka produced two more pieces of evidence: the izmel (cir-
cumcision knife), as well as the dried-​up foreskin, which she insisted was 
Fedor’s. Fratka recounted that an old Christian woman whom she had 
never seen before handed her both the circumcision knife and the foreskin 
when she went outside one winter day to relieve herself. Afterward, she 
hid both the knife and foreskin under her mattress for “safekeeping.”70

In the end, Strakhov did not find Fratka’s sensational account very 
convincing. The problem of establishing the truth was well known in 

These knives were collected by the inquisitorial commission as evidence of Jewish 
ritual murder. Rossiiskii gosudarstvennyi istoricheskii arkhiv, f. 1345, op. 235, d. 65
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criminal procedure. Confession may have been the queen of proofs in 
the law, but the inquisitors recognized that suspects could easily invent 
their tales to avoid interrogation and punishment. Not knowing what 
else to do, and preparing herself for the possibility of sitting in isolation 
for years to come, Fratka decided to end her life. So she slit her throat 
with a sharp piece of glass, but it turned out that the cut was a superficial 
wound, which produced little, if any bodily damage or blood.71



101

 

5•
Grievances

On April 8, 1826, the day that their wives, Slava and Khanna, were 
taken into custody, Shmerka Berlin and Evzik Tsetlin sent a desperate 
complaint to the governor-​general. They wanted nothing less than for 
Nikolai Nikolaevich Khovanskii to dismiss Strakhov from his official 
administrative duties. Two of the most respected residents of the town, 
they pleaded, were imprisoned without “any tangible evidence,” on 
the basis only of “vicious, weak-​minded, and completely fraudulent 
accusations.” The men noted that their children were forbidden from 
having contact with their mothers, and that Slava and Khanna sat in 
prison deprived of the most basic necessities of humanity. They argued, 
“Like malicious criminals, they are harassed daily to the point that they 
may soon die from illness and emotional exhaustion. The investigation 
is proceeding slowly and without the supervision of a Jewish deputy 
who would have made certain that their oral statements were accurately 
recorded in official notebooks.”1

To make matters worse, Shmerka and Evzik went on, “one of the 
women knows very little Russian, while the other one is completely illit-
erate.” Fearing that the case could spiral out of control at any moment, 
they pleaded for the governor-​general to exert his influence and end 
the senseless criminal investigation. “Our wives are suffering from hav-
ing been confined to such a small space and have recently fallen ill.” At 
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the very least, they hoped that they would be “treated more charitably 
and relocated [to a place] where they would be able to breathe fresh 
air and where we, along with our children, would be permitted to visit 
them.” In order not to arouse suspicion, they proposed to speak only in 
Russian. “We ask that they be given an opportunity to prove themselves 
in their innocence against such baseless accusations—​the shedding of 
Christian blood—​so that their own Jewish blood would not be shed in 
vain.”2

For hundreds of years, Jews in Poland-​Lithuania achieved their polit-
ical ambitions by bribery, the gathering of intelligence, and the timely 
intercession of royal or imperial courts. The strategy of maintaining 
political influence with those in power was coherent and, at times, 
highly successful. But by the 1820s, with the gradual disintegration of 
Jewish self-​government, Russian Jewish communities were left largely 
to their own devices to defend common political interests and express 
their claims to basic civil rights.3 In the second quarter of the nine-
teenth century, a new mode of political activity was being worked out in 
Western Europe. Voluntary associations, the mass circulation press, and 
pamphlets gradually displaced intercession as the key tools to mobilize 
resources and political influence. In places with a developed Jewish pub-
lic sphere, it became increasingly easy to coordinate an organized inter-
national response to prevent widespread suffering and human rights 
abuses. Newspapers, in particular, helped galvanize the support of the 
global community in a Jewish cause. This was the case not only because 
of their unparalleled power to disseminate disaster news, including to 
well-​positioned diplomats and activists, but also because of their ability 
to unite populations separated by vast geographic space.

The Jews of Russia, however, stood outside the orbits of the new 
Jewish international.4 They did not have access to newspapers published 
abroad or well-​positioned diplomats who could disseminate disaster 
news and intervene on their behalf. Frustrated and isolated, Shmerka 
and Evzik did not have very many options at their disposal to protest 
what they perceived to be a grave social injustice. They did the only 
thing that subjects of the Russian Empire could do: they filed a formal 
grievance.

The moment Strakhov learned of the complaint he denied everything. 
What was the fuss all about? “[Slava and Khanna] talk in Russian like 
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all other Russians,” he reported to Khovanskii. The inspector-​councilor 
felt that he had good reason to assume total control of the investi-
gation. Russian law did not permit outside observers such as Jewish 
deputies to oversee criminal investigations. By proceeding “cautiously 
and in secret,” he hoped to uncover the “truth of the crime” and, most 
significant, the work of what he perceived to be “an elaborate Jewish 
conspiracy.” The last thing he wanted to happen was for vicious rumors 
to circulate beyond the confines of the provincial town. “Those Jews 
who are familiar with the secrets [of blood sacrifice],” Strakhov confided 
to Khovanskii, “use all available means to disrupt the investigation in 
hopes of saving the suspects from their deserved punishment in order 
to undermine the reality [of a highly malicious criminal act].” Instead 
of responding to the complaint, Strakhov felt that the best course of 
action was to arrest both complainants before they interfered with the 
detective work.5

And so on June 20, 1826, less than one month after they filed the 
grievance, Shmerka and Evzik were taken into custody. At that point, 
the investigation was just beginning to unfold. The governor-​general did 
not see any reason to take Jews’ grievances seriously. In fact, there was no 
doubt in Khovanskii’s mind that Strakhov would complete the work in a 
timely manner and that the guilty would be brought to justice. Together 
with their wives, both men were imprisoned for their alleged role in the 
blood sacrifice.6 The arrests put the entire Jewish community on high 
alert. How many more Jews was Strakhov planning to arrest? Who was 
going to be the next victim? What could the Jewish community do to 
defend itself from the allegations?

It did not take long for Evzik’s brother, Sheftel Tsetlin, and Itsko 
Nakhimovskii’s father, Berka, to formulate an official response. On 
August 27, they sent a second complaint to Vitebsk. Hoping to rescue 
the Jews, they decided to reason with Khovanskii by describing the 
absurdity of the accusations. They explained that a local schoolteacher 
named Petrishcha was the main culprit behind the affair. Everyone 
saw him “walking around town with some kind of book in his hands,” 
spreading vicious rumors about Jews. Based on translations and explana-
tions of relevant Talmudic passages, Petrishcha “managed to convince 
all the town residents that Jews consume Christian blood.” To make 
the accusations sound even less plausible, they added that the physician 
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Levin played no small role in validating the charge by providing “false 
expert testimony.” After all, if the body was actually pierced with a dull 
nail, why did Levin not detect any swelling on the body? They empha-
sized that, after the most powerful court in Vitebsk province had made 
the initial review of the testimony and material evidence in November 
1824, it decided to acquit the Jews of the crime.

Strakhov, convinced of the Jews’ guilt, did not pay any attention to 
this important detail. “He arrested the Jews in a most malicious man-
ner,” they wrote, “and locked them up in his home without any contact 
[with the outside world] or access to fresh air. He relies on coercive 
methods of interrogation, does not permit a Jewish deputy to supervise 
his work, and is not concerned with conducting an honest criminal 
investigation or uncovering the perpetrators of the crime.” They peti-
tioned the governor-​general to replace Strakhov with a new investigator 
who, they hoped, would abide by proper rules and procedures.7

Sheftel and Berka did not reveal anything that the governor-​general 
had not heard before. Khovanskii’s office was stacked with grievances, 
petitions, and appeals on all sorts of topics, many of which were from 
Jews. Ever since assuming administrative control of the northwest prov-
inces, Khovanskii had developed the habit of not taking Jews’ com-
plaints very seriously. The ritual murder case confirmed all his initial 
suspicions—​Jews, he believed, were a particularly cunning folk—​and 
he was not in any hurry to formulate an official response. How was he 
supposed to dismiss such convincing medical and material evidence? 
One thing he knew for sure was that he had no intention of replacing 
the inspector-​councilor with someone else. To his mind, Strakhov was 
a capable investigator who dutifully abided by the rules of the inquisi-
torial process. As far as all the other claims, the best course of action, he 
reasoned, was to wait patiently for Strakhov’s report.

Previously, Russian officials never went so far as to accuse all Jews 
of supporting, let alone engaging in, ritual murder, although they did 
believe that individual “fanatics” practiced the malevolent rite.8 Based 
on everything that he had read and heard, Strakhov had become increas-
ingly convinced that the Velizh case was different. The denunciations 
served as powerful blows of Jews’ guilt. Strakhov wanted nothing less 
than to utilize his investigative powers to preside over what he surely 
thought would be a landmark conviction.9 On November 17, 1826, 
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he sent a lengthy memorandum to Vitebsk, proclaiming that he had 
compiled enough preliminary evidence to place Jews in detention:  
“I do not have medical training, so I am not in a position to comment 
on the accuracy of Levin’s forensic evaluation. I am certain, however, 
that Terenteeva’s and Maksimova’s confessions justify all of my initial 
suspicions: that the Jews tortured the boy under the express guidelines 
of their superstitious beliefs and practices.”10

Whatever his own personal biases may have been, Strakhov insisted 
that he treated the prisoners fairly and with respect: “They all sleep 
in their own individual rooms on cots equipped with mattresses and 
blankets. The warden delivers three warm meals per day, as well as 
essential personal items, including medicine, directly to the rooms. 
Some prisoners such as Evzik and Khanna Tsetlin and Shmerka and 
Slava Berlin are permitted the luxury of drinking tea and coffee [in 
their rooms].” For a short time, Strakhov explained, the prisoners 
were even allowed to exchange notes with their family and friends, 
although he decided to put an end to that practice fairly quickly. The 
severity of the crime, the inspector-​councilor emphasized, required 
that “authorities take all possible precautions to minimize social con-
tact among prisoners.”11

Like all other subjects of the empire, Jews had the legal right to 
obtain redress against corruption and tyranny. They could do this by 
sending personal or collective complaints either to provincial governors 
or directly to the Senate or one of the chancelleries in St. Petersburg. 
After the partitions of Poland-​Lithuania at the end of the nineteenth 
century, Jews turned in increasing numbers to the imperial government 
to voice individual grievances and resolve neighborly conflicts. Strakhov 
insisted that Jews had every right to petition the state and that he had no 
intention of taking this right away from them, even if the added paper-
work slowed down the investigation. As far as the pivotal question of 
the Jewish deputy, Strakhov replied unequivocally, “Jews have no right 
to make this demand [on the commission].” The delicate nature of the 
case meant that he needed to proceed with caution and circumspec-
tion, to guard against false statements and deception, and to execute 
his duties in the privacy of the inquisitorial chamber. If the governor-​
general approved Jews’ request and permitted a deputy to supervise the 
criminal investigation, there was no doubt in Strakhov’s mind that Jews 
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would obstruct justice by planning their answers well in advance of the 
oral interrogations.12

Strakhov addressed the complaints the same way he handled the 
case—​methodically, point by point, leaving no question unanswered, 
no detail overlooked. He spent countless hours producing a series of 
inquiries, communications, and reports. Such was his training; such 
were the expectations of all civil servants in the service of empire. “Jews 
have every right to petition the governor-​general to remove me [the 
chief investigator] from the case,” he explained to Khovanskii. “They 
also have every right to be displeased with the inquisitorial techniques 
and administrative procedures that I use, but this does not mean that 
I did anything wrong,” he pointed out. “Unrestrained emotions should 
not serve as grounds for dismissal.”13

With the edifice of self-​government slowly crumbling, the Jewish 
communities of Russia were structurally weakened, making it extraor-
dinary difficult for them to defend common political interests. “There 
is no [central] council and the provincial council is no more,” wrote the 
communal leader R. Hillel b. Ze’ev-​Wolf about the state of Jewish com-
munal politics around 1804. “With no conferences of elders, there is no 
one to plan ahead and to go before the officials or petition the king. . . .  
Today transgressors have multiplied. . . . Each one is for himself, so 
that no common counsel is taken to find a remedy in the face of harsh 
decrees.”14 The problem of coordinating a broad-​based response to a 
political controversy was heightened not only because of communal 
fragmentation (the divisions between the Hasidim and their orthodox 
opponents) but also, and perhaps more important, due to the discipli-
nary efforts of the imperial regime.

In early modern Poland-​Lithuania, the practice of shtadlanut (lobby-
ing of authorities or the crown) to achieve a political objective was well 
established. Intercession required good knowledge of languages and skills 
of diplomacy. Jewish communities appointed exceptionally capable men 
with connections to powerful figures to lobby on their behalf. In addi-
tion to a nice salary and tax exemptions, the shtadlanim were entrusted 
with large sums of money that were earmarked as the chief instrument 
for “political action” (that is, bribery).15 Russian rulers may have had no 
intention of recognizing an official collective representative body on the 
model of the Polish and Lithuanian Council of Four Lands, but in the 
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first two decades of the nineteenth century, Alexander I did permit a 
group of delegates known as the deputies of the Jewish people to submit 
formal complaints.16 Deputies drafted a wide range of memoranda to 
protect the internal interests of their communities. Usually, they did so 
to protest what they perceived to be malicious actions of the government 
such as the expulsion of Jews from the countryside or the confiscation of 
Jewish religious property, or particularly debilitating economic sanctions. 
Merchants relied on the deputies’ rhetorical skills to request permission 
to travel and trade their ware in the interior provinces. During the war 
against Napoleon, two especially well-​to-​do contractors, Liezer Dillon 
and Zundel’ Zonnenberg, submitted these and other similar requests 
directly to the highest levels of government in St. Petersburg.

At the height of the system, between December 1817 and July 1818, 
almost every province in the Pale of Settlement participated in the elec-
tion of official deputies and designated alternates. The deputies enjoyed 
a life of unparalleled freedom and social privilege: they were permitted to 
travel beyond the geographic confines of the Pale and reside for extended 
stretches of time in the imperial capital, where Dillon, Zonnenberg, 
and other representatives received occasional audiences with the wealth-
iest and most powerful administrators in the empire, including Tsar 
Alexander I himself. But privileged status did not mean that Russian 
administrators looked favorably at the requests presented before them. 
In fact, as special agents of the Jewish community with discreet knowl-
edge of sensitive information, the deputies aroused suspicion: not only 
because they traveled with large sums of money in their pockets, but also 
because they carried precious letters, petitions, and other communication 
written in Hebrew or Yiddish—​languages that no one in the government 
could read. On more than an infrequent occasion, the authorities seized 
and translated the letters in search of Jews’ dark secrets.17

This does not mean that the deputies were entirely powerless in their 
advocacy. After several Jews were blamed for the ritual murder of a 
young peasant girl in the provincial town of Grodno in 1816, Dillon and 
Zonnenberg exerted their political influence to undermine the cred-
ibility of the charge. In January 1817, they appealed to Alexander I to 
denounce what they regarded as “medieval Christian prejudices.” To 
their delight, Alexander immediately turned the case over to one of his 
highest-​ranking officials, Count Aleksandr Golitsyn, who at the time was 
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the dual minister of the interior and popular enlightenment. Golitsyn 
rewarded the deputies’ efforts by instructing provincial governors and 
governors-​general to treat skeptically the “medieval superstition” and not 
charge Jews with the crime without firm empirical evidence.18

The Grodno case was the pinnacle of the deputies’ success. In the 
ensuing four years, they lost what little clout they possessed, operating 
with little financial or political support.19 In fact, by the time Shmerka 
Berlin and Evzik Tsetlin had sent their appeal to Vitebsk to protest the 
blood libel charge, the Russian government refused to acknowledge 
the legitimacy of the institution. The political circumstances made it 
structurally difficult for Jewish communities to work together to defend 
common political interests. But all was not lost. It so happened that 
Slava Berlin’s sister and brother-​in-​law, a man by the name of Hirsh 
Berkovich Brouda, were residing in St. Petersburg. In the 1820s, a tiny 
Jewish colony of no more than several hundred souls, composed of well-​
connected communal advocates, well-​to-​do merchants and contractors, 
dentists, skilled artisans, and the occasional foreign national, enjoyed 
temporary residence privileges in the imperial capital.20

Brouda made his fortune trading and selling timber, and it appears 
that he had what it took—​the linguistic skills and rhetorical flair—​to agi-
tate on behalf of the Velizh Jewish community. The Jews asked Brouda to 
plead with the higher authorities for justice—​just as the deputies Dillon 
and Zonnenberg had done in the wake of the ritual murder accusa-
tion in Grodno. Between January and September 1827, Brouda filed no 
fewer than six formal complaints with the Second Section of the Fifth 
Department of the Senate.21 These were extraordinary detailed letters 
written on official stamped government paper, describing the trauma and 
passions of imprisonment. Brouda began by reminding the authorities 
that Strakhov relied on the “most oppressive measures” to torture Jews 
with the sole purpose of getting them to confess to a crime they did not 
commit. As a particularly alarming example, he pointed out that, on the 
night of November 18, “wild screaming and unrestrained commotion” 
could be heard from the place where they locked up the Jews. In fact, 
the noise got so loud that “numerous neighbors from various parts of the 
town could hear the dreadful cries.” One of the neighbors remembered 
a prisoner screaming out loud: “They hit me! They hit me! They tried 
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to strangle me to death. He [Strakhov] lied to me.” “I have no doubt,” 
Brouda remarked, “that Strakhov uses the investigation to vindicate 
himself in the eyes of the state . . . despite the fact that such a vindication 
undoubtedly destroys the lives of a million [sic] Jews.”22

In dealing with a charge that appalled the conscience of mankind, 
Brouda appealed to the higher organs of government to stop the unnec-
essary suffering.23 First, he wanted to make sure that the inquisitorial 
commission was abiding by proper rules and procedures as outlined in 
the 1817 circular. To minimize irregularities, Brouda requested that the 
most powerful procurator in the province be assigned to the case. His 
duties would include supervising Strakhov’s work and reporting to the 
Ministry of Justice at every stage of the investigation. He also wanted the 
Senate to authorize an official deputy who would work with the Jewish 
community—​to make sure that the commission did not stray outside 
the boundaries of the law. Meanwhile, Jews would be allowed to com-
plain to the Senate when they found good reason to do so. 

Second, Brouda felt that Strakhov was stalling on purpose. His actions 
only increased the prisoners’ misery: “My relatives, Shmerka Berlin and 
his wife and their [grown] children, and all the other poor Jews [locked 
up in prison], were torn from their own young children and bound in 
leg-​irons like hardened criminals. Strakhov’s tyrannical actions have 
exhausted their bodies to the point that they have contracted the most 
debilitating illnesses.” Brouda felt that Slava Berlina was in particularly 
bad shape: “Strakhov locked her up in his own bedroom and interro-
gated her in private [without the presence of a recording secretary or 
other members of the investigative commission]. As a result of all the 
cruelty, Slava suffers from hysterical-​spasmodic attacks, which the town 
doctor Levin was in no position to treat.”24

Although Brouda did not use the phrase, the circumstances he 
described in his letters resemble what might be termed a humanitarian 
crisis, that is, an egregious government action that threatened the safety 
and well-​being of a group of people.

When Strakhov decided to imprison the Jews, he had no compassion 
whatsoever for their humanity. Fathers and mothers were captured 
from their very own homes and escorted under armed guard to [the 
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house] where they continue to sit in solitary confinement to this very 
day, as if there was no doubt whatsoever that they had committed the 
crime. . . . On some occasions he arrested the wives, at other times, he 
took away the husbands, and then there were instances of small help-
less children left to their own devices to look after their own fate.25

If nothing else, Brouda hoped the higher authorities would intervene 
in the case by stopping the inhumane treatment of Jews. “[Strakhov] 
applies torture in any manner he sees fit, without concern for the evi-
dence before him and established criminal procedure.” Not only “does 
he treat the Jews poorly by chaining them in leg-​irons,” but he also “takes 
into custody completely innocent people who sit behind closed doors at 
the investigator’s mercy.” To put it in slightly different terms, Brouda felt 
that the tragedy had grown to unprecedented proportions: “Strakhov 
wants to unmask something that had never and will never be proven 
[in a court of law].”26

Brouda reminded the Senate that all of this was taking place at the 
same time that Jews were filing official complaints with the gover-
nor-​general’s office. The Jewish community had sent several formal 
grievances, including a lengthy letter by the Velizh kahal, shortly 
after the emperor decided to reopen the criminal case.27 Khovanskii 
repeatedly ignored the Jews’ pleas, refusing to discipline the chief 
investigator for his actions. Instead, he gave Strakhov the freedom 
to do as he pleased. If the goal of the investigation was to locate the 
perpetrators, why did Strakhov interrogate only the Jews, and none 
of the other Christian residents, in the town? “Where’s the mystery?” 
Brouda asked in desperation. “It appears to be nothing more than an 
ordinary crime.”28

From a very early date, sometime in the sixteenth century, a series 
of treatises authored by an international team of writers expounded an 
ideology of resistance to monarchical abuse. Vindicae contra tyrannos, 
first published in Basel in 1579, declared that “if a prince were to gov-
ern with violence and disregard for divine and human law, and thus 
tyrannically, another prince, with perfect justice and legality, [may] 
take military action.”29 In subsequent decades, devising action against 
events that appalled the conscience of mankind gained traction in the 
international community. The idea behind humanitarian intervention, 



Grievances 111

 

as it was first conceived and practiced in early modern Europe, was to 
change the regime’s policy toward victims of abuse. A humanitarian 
public—​comprising diplomats, scholars, and sophisticated pressure 
groups committed to ameliorating the plight of subjugated peoples—​
helped mobilize public opinion and generate support for action.30

No event better illustrates how Jewish communities were able to 
shape public opinion than a ritual murder charge in Damascus in 1840. 
There, only five years after the Velizh case was officially settled, an Italian 
monk and his servant disappeared. Shortly thereafter, a large number 
of the wealthiest Jews in Damascus were charged with and convicted 
of ritual murder. News of the case quickly spread across the Middle 
East and the entire Western world. The most respected newspapers 
in England, France, and Germany published dozens of articles and 
polemics of the case, many of which presented the alleged murder of 
Father Tommaso as part of a wider Jewish cult of human sacrifice.31 At 
first, the crisis produced great confusion in the Jewish community. In 
due time, however, Jews were able to mobilize an extraordinary and 
unprecedented response: lobbying at the highest levels of government, 
international press campaigns, parliamentary debates, well-​publicized 
meetings, fundraising initiatives, and a diplomatic mission to Egypt 
by two of the most esteemed personalities in the Jewish philanthropic 
world, Sir Moses Montefiore from England and Adolphe Crémieux 
from France. In the end, the lobbying efforts proved to be a partial suc-
cess: Although the imprisoned Jews were ultimately released, the sultan 
refused to formally repudiate the ritual murder charge.

In direct contrast to the Damascus situation, news of the Velizh 
case failed to circulate beyond the well-​guarded circles of the imperial 
bureaucracy. It is highly unlikely that Brouda or any other member 
of the Velizh Jewish community attempted to reach out for help to 
politically influential activists in England, France, or Germany. If 
they did, the correspondence—​on either side of the border—​has not 
surfaced. In terms of its global reach, the Velizh case caused barely a 
ripple. On his visit to Russia in 1846, it does not appear that Moses 
Montefiore was aware of the case.32 In the mid-​1840s, newspapers 
all across Europe covered Russia’s terrifying measures against Jews. 
Conscription brought fears of mass conversion. “Half a million 
Jews may haven fallen as martyrs to their faith,” warned the Jewish 
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Chronicle, “and another half a million may have gone over to the 
Russian Church.” The expulsion of Jews from within fifty versts of the 
Prussian and Austrian borders served as yet another painful reminder 
of Nicholas’s draconian policies. According to the Journal des Débats, 
Russia had “declared war against the civilization as well as the generous 
and philosophic spirit of our age. . . . Every day the German journals 
bring us accounts of persecutions exercised by order of the Emperor 
against the Jews.”33 In his long and distinguished career, Montefiore 
took great pride in agitating on behalf of Jewish humanitarian causes. 
While traveling in Russia, he gave much of his time and money to 
Jewish charitable foundations. At a later date, he also offered sev-
eral recommendations to Count Pavel Kiselev, the minister of state 
domains, on how to tackle the most pressing questions of the day 
concerning Jews.34 Yet there was no mention in his diary or letters of 
the cruelties that blood accusations had wrought on Russia’s Jews. It 
appears that the Third Section’s efforts of keeping the blood libel case 
a well-​guarded state secret had worked.

In this political climate, the Ministry of Justice came to the conclu-
sion that the complaints filed against Strakhov were unfounded. On 
March 19, 1827, after reviewing the weighty dossier, it felt that the case 
was legitimate enough to move forward with the criminal investigation. 
The state’s wider concerns with regulating the boundaries of religious 
belief played an important role in the decision. At the same time, the 
justice ministers knew all too well that, no matter how impressive the 
empirical evidence may have been, convicting Jews of the crime of rit-
ual murder would set an extraordinary historical precedent. Although 
instructed to move forward with the case, Strakhov and his team were 
reminded to observe the principles of the 1817 circular. According to 
criminal procedure, all internal correspondence, depositions, interroga-
tions, petitions, material evidence, and other paperwork needed to be 
forwarded directly to the Senate. Most important, the justice ministers 
emphasized that Jews had the legal right to petition the Senate and pres-
ent any counterevidence for official review by the most powerful judicial 
institution in the empire.35

For years, scholars argued that Jewish life during Nicholas’s reign was 
marked by persecution and the arbitrary dispensation of justice. The 
ukase—​or the special edict of the Russian government—​served as the 
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key tool by which the tsar disciplined its subjects.36 Nineteenth-​century 
critics of Russia’s legal system noted how provincial governors meddled 
freely in court decisions, changed verdicts at will, and initiated investi-
gations in cases where there was not a hint of a crime.37 To be sure, the 
imperial law code was full of contradictory statutes regulating all facets 
of daily life. Based on privilege and difference rather than uniformity 
and transparency, Russia’s legal system was designed to take away the 
population’s rights at a moment’s notice. Recent research has shown 
that, although imperial Russian law was not founded on equitable prin-
ciples, it nevertheless enabled all imperial subjects to articulate claims on 
the state by invoking the protection of established legal norms. When 
an individual filed an official grievance, Russia’s judicial machinery was 
obligated to respond to the claims of its public.38

By April 1827, Berka Nakhimovskii and Sheftel Tsetlin became 
increasingly anxious about the latest developments in the case. With 
their complaints officially dismissed, and with communication to the 
outside world firmly sealed, they had every reason to believe that the 
Velizh Jews’ collective fate rested in the hands of the criminal justice 
system. And so Berka and Sheftel decided to follow the Ministry of 
Justice’s guidance by appealing directly to the Senate. The best course of 
action, they reasoned, was to continue writing formal grievances. What 
else could they do to escape imminent danger, to whom could they 
turn to express their frustration? Perhaps some of the most esteemed 
bureaucrats and military officers in the empire would see the light of 
day. Perhaps someone in the imperial capital would comprehend the 
absurdity of the allegations. This time, they decided to enlist the help of 
Shmerka Berlin’s brother, Biniamin, one of the most capable and artic-
ulate men in the provincial district, in writing the complaint.

In a long, flowery letter, Biniamin, Berka, and Sheftel enumerated a 
list of administrative abuses they witnessed. Among other things, they 
pointed out, Strakhov had placed Iankel’ Hirsh Aronson “in leg-​irons 
when he was severely ill.” Some prisoners “were kept in dark filthy 
rooms without fresh air and, as a result of the unsanitary conditions in 
which they lived, one Jew [Aronson] died and several others managed 
to contract deadly diseases, all the while the Christian women were 
held without the slightest harassment and personal injury.” All this was 
happening at the same time the governor-​general was violating the laws 
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of the land. In the past two years, they noted, Jews had sent several 
complaints to Vitebsk detailing Strakhov’s “unlawful activities,” and 
to their disappointment, the governor-​general “deliberately ignored 
all their pleas.” There was no doubt in their minds that Strakhov had 
no intention of altering his tactics or behavior and that he would con-
tinue to “humiliate Jews” for the duration of the criminal investigation. 
Echoing past grievances, the men came to the conclusion that the best 
course of action was to “remove the chief investigator from the case.”39

As soon as it received the complaint on April 27, 1827, the Senate 
called on the governor-​general to respond to the allegations. Although 
powerful provincial officials such as Khovanskii could ignore laws or 
fail to maintain standards of honesty, the language of due process and 
equal justice gave all imperial subjects the legal right to petition the 
state.40 No matter how slow or clumsy the judicial system might have 
been, every subject in the empire had the right to have her or his voice 
heard. The imperial ministries—​including the Chancellery for Receipt 
of Petitions—​usually took the communications seriously. In the first 
half of the nineteenth century, the state responded to nearly every 
request—​no matter how mundane or outlandish—​sent its way. Like so 
many other imperial subjects, Jews turned to the judicial system because 
it worked at a significant level and because it proved to be the most 
effective way of negotiating the hazards of daily life.41

In a direct rebuttal of the criticisms, Khovanskii insisted that he had 
no intention of taking away this right away from the Jews, although he 
was certain that they did not have good reason to file the grievance. How 
in the world did Berka Nakhimovskii, Sheftel Tsetlin, Biniamin Berlin, 
not to mention the advocate Hirsh Brouda, know what was taking place 
behind closed doors? Khovanskii went to great lengths to point out the 
fact that just because the commission worked in strict secrecy did not 
mean that it had deliberately mistreated the prisoners. The town doctor 
was always on call when an imprisoned Jew required medical care. On 
several occasions, they even summoned the most esteemed physician 
from Vitebsk to tend to the prisoners’ needs. When Jews felt tired or 
restless, they were given “ample opportunity to take walks in the court-
yard.” When they “felt hungry and thirsty, they were brought all the 
food and water they requested, usually directly from home.” Khovanskii 
clarified that the commission decided to seal the bottom half of Evzik 
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Tsetlin’s window with dark green paper not to make the room dark or 
inhabitable, as the petitioners had asserted, but to stop him from com-
municating with friends and family on the outside. The precautionary 
measure was necessary from the very first days. Tsetlin “was able to 
communicate with Jews who passed by [the house] what was being 
discussed during the interrogation sessions. Because he was able to open 
the window it was easy for him to talk with Jews who were standing 
outside his room. And [even when the window was closed shut], it was 
possible to know what was going on inside the room, especially when 
Tsetlin decided to raise his voice.” On many occasions, “Tsetlin’s servant 
stood outside his window with tea, coffee, and food, and they talked so 
loud, as if they were engaged in a shouting match.”42

Furthermore, Khovanskii was convinced that the Christian inmates 
were kept “in much worse circumstances than the Jews.” All the Jews, 
save for Iankel’ Hirsh Aronson and Shifra Berlina, were in perfectly fine 
health. On several different occasions, the governor-​general made the 
journey to Velizh, and each time, he observed, he did not encounter 
any evidence that justified the complaints in any way. “I’ve been to the 
house where the interrogations are taking place,” the governor-​general 
reported to St. Petersburg, “and not only did I not witness suffering 
or distress, but I also found the [Jewish] prisoners to be in fine health. 
They all reside in comfortable rooms and are given enough of every-
thing to subsist just fine.” Khovanskii observed only one important dif-
ference: unlike their coreligionists in town, the Jews locked up behind 
closed doors “are deprived of the freedom to go wherever they wish.” 
The preventive measure was necessary, he warned, because of the sever-
ity of the criminal charge. “If the prisoners were allowed to roam freely, 
they would [no doubt] conceal the truth and undermine the sanctity of 
the investigation.”43

Regarding the claim that Strakhov mistreated Aronson, Khovanskii 
came up with a sound explanation. The moment that Aronson—​who, 
along with several other Jews, sat in solitary confinement in the town 
jail—​started to feel sick, the warden did everything in his power to look 
after his needs. Khovanskii could not understand why Jews got so angry. 
“He [Aronson] was given two nice cells, all the food that he wanted to 
eat, as well as other basic necessities delivered straight to his cell from 
home. The town doctor called on Aronson daily. Even a physician from 
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the provincial capital of Vitebsk came by [for a visit on occasion].” The 
problem was that Aronson was weak from tuberculosis; there was little, 
if anything, the doctors could do for him. As a rule, the inquisitorial 
commission forbade the prisoners from having direct contact with any-
one in the town, but it made an exception for Aronson, allowing “his 
mother to see her sick son on a daily basis.” In the final weeks of his 
life, Aronson was even given a choice: “Did he want to be transferred 
to the house with all the other prisoners or to a special house where he 
would live on his own with a watch guard?” Aronson refused both offers. 
Instead, he petitioned to die in his own home among his family (he suc-
cumbed to tuberculosis on April 21, 1827, only five days after he filed the 
request). As far as Shifra Berlina, Khovanskii noted that no matter how 
hard the commission tried to make her feel comfortable, the merchant’s 
daughter continued to suffer from “hysterical spasmodic attacks.”44

In the spring of 1827, the governor-​general warned St. Petersburg 
that the investigation would not be complete for “some time.” He asked 
for more time because, he felt, the case was troubling on several differ-
ent levels. Although the inquisitorial commission had every reason to 
believe that Jews bore full responsibility for the ritual crime, it still had 
not put together a complete list of names. That was reason enough to 
proceed slowly and with meticulous care. “Some Jews have yet to be 
arrested,” Khovanskii explained, “but there were plenty of names the 
accusers had not recalled, and several others they’ve conspired to hide 
[from us].”45 To get to the bottom of things, the inquisitorial commis-
sion needed to resolve the troubling inconsistencies in the testimonies, 
examine the empirical evidence for additional clues, and go over the 
murder sequence by sequence, fact by fact, until it established the true 
depth of the criminal conspiracy.
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6•
The Investigation Widens

In the summer of 1827, the investigation took on a bureaucratic life of 
its own. The work was long and exhausting. Most days started promptly 
at seven o’clock in the morning and continued until nine o’clock in the 
evening, with a three-​hour break in the afternoon.1 Shortly after the 
inquisitorial commission was given approval to forge ahead, Strakhov 
ordered a new round of arrests and pleaded for additional reinforce-
ments. On July 6, 1827, three high-​ranking military officers, eleven non-
commissioned officers, three musicians, and seventy-​five soldiers arrived 
to help.2 By the fall of 1827, Strakhov sealed shut five synagogues, and 
ordered a mass of privates and noncommissioned officers to guard the 
perimeter of the only synagogue that remained open.3

Strakhov and his team of inquisitors worked diligently to come up 
with a complete list of names involved in the murder case. Time and 
time again they brought Jews for confrontations with their accusers, 
rendering pain at will and exploiting the psychological weaknesses of the 
prisoners as they saw fit. But the longer the investigation dragged on, the 
harder it was to establish a seamless narrative of what really happened. As 
with mass witch-​hunts, there were always pieces of the story left unfin-
ished, contradictions and unanswered questions in the testimonies, and 
the specter of additional details or names of accomplices.4 At some point 
in the summer of 1827, Strakhov became increasingly convinced that 
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Fedor’s murder was part of a wider conspiracy not yet uncovered. The 
operation of secret, mysterious, and unseen powers has played a fun-
damental role in ordering human experience. Conspiratorial ideas—​on 
the articulation of political power, the spread of contagion, and the 
control of the world’s money supply and banking—​have had broad 
appeal all around the world. With great interest and apprehension, 
authorities in different times and places consumed reports of new 
threats lurking in the social fabric. For the judicial powers at hand, the 
evil intrigues operate on a grand scale, even though the fantasies reveal 
themselves in particular sites, such as, in our case, the sleepy border 
town of Velizh, where a Jewish cabal threatened to condemn the entire 
Jewish nation.5

On September 9, 1827, Governor-​General Nikolai Nikolaevich 
Khovanskii departed to St. Petersburg to appear before a committee of 
senators. Although appointed by the emperor, the governor-​general was 
a delegate of the central government, required by law to be in constant 
contact with the imperial capital.6 As any highly ambitious official who 
wanted nothing more than to climb the administrative ladder, Strakhov 
was well aware of the governor-​general’s responsibilities. If the Senate 
were to fine or castigate Khovanskii for a dereliction of duty, Strakhov’s 
own future would surely be on the line. Given these high stakes, the 
inspector-​councilor spent several long nights preparing an exhaustive 
report, explaining in minute detail what the commission had accom-
plished and listing the complex reasons why it required more time to 
complete the investigation.

To limit corruption, the Russian law code outlined the rules of the 
inquisitorial process: how exactly the interrogation process was required 
to proceed and how officials were expected to write, sign, assemble, and 
store legal records. To ensure that administrative procedures were fol-
lowed correctly, the commission needed to inform the governor-​general 
of its progress. Provincial governors were required to send updates to 
St. Petersburg at key stages of the case. The tsar and his ministers tried 
to control the investigation of high crime to the last intimate detail. 
Commissions were dispatched routinely to provincial towns and villages 
to take over the judicial process. Not only did the imperial center want 
to prevent abuse at the local level, but it also wanted to do everything 
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in its power to quash heretical or politically dangerous behavior before 
it could spiral out of control.7

The slowness of the Velizh case began to sound alarms in  
St. Petersburg. Why was it taking so long to complete the investigation? 
When did the commission plan on wrapping up the case?8 Khovanskii 
had no easy answers. In painstaking detail, he went over the commis-
sion’s findings with the Senate. The interrogation sessions were clearly 
paying off, he pointed out: Terenteeva and Maksimova were naming 
more names and revealing, however gradually, the hidden dimensions 
of the murder conspiracy. Khovanskii emphasized that several hurdles 
impeded the swift resolution of the case. First, not all the suspects lived 
in the surrounding region. This was why the investigators were spend-
ing considerable energy and financial resources tracking everyone down. 
It also did not help matters that the Jews used a variety of different 
strategies—​including “trickery and cunning”—​to slow down the investi-
gative process. Furthermore, there was the problem of time and memory. 
Several years had passed since the little boy was found in the woods. In 
the meantime, both the suspects and their accusers had forgotten crucial 
details. Given all the contradictions and lapses in testimony, it was nearly 
impossible to speed up the investigation. What it needed was more time.9

The Senate not only granted the governor-​general an extension, but 
it also gave him absolute oversight over what it characterized to be an 
“extraordinary criminal case.”10 In the fall of 1827, with the investiga-
tion expanding in scope and intensity, Khovanskii urged the inquisito-
rial commission to come up with a complete list of names as quickly 
as possible. Less than a week after Khovanskii left for St. Petersburg, 
Strakhov summoned the accusers for more interviews. On several dif-
ferent occasions, Maria Terenteeva hinted of wider conspiracies, but she 
was unusually vague on the details. Then, on September 15, 1827, Maria 
broke down after a particularly painful session. Not only did she name 
more names, but she admitted to helping Jews kill two more Christian 
boys.11 The murders allegedly occurred in the spring of 1813. Once again 
Mirka Aronson’s two-​story brick house was at the center of the diaboli-
cal events. One day, Maria explained, she went out to the marketplace 
to purchase a besom, a broom made of twigs, when she ran into an 
old acquaintance and her two sons. As they were chatting, Shmerka 
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Berlin “came out of the shadows, grabbed both boys by the arms,” and 
“whisked them away inside the house.”12 When Maria came over to the 
house the next day, Mirka Aronson, Shmerka and Slava Berlin, and vari-
ous other Jews from all walks of life were there, as well.

“The boys were crying uncontrollably,” Terenteeva went on, but after 
the Jews fed them “several drops of liquid from a glass bottle on a tiny 
silver spoon,” they suddenly fell silent. Terenteeva recounted a well-​
rehearsed plot. She described how Jews undressed both boys, enclosed 
them in a barrel lined with steel nails, and shook it from side to side for 
several hours. She talked about how she washed the bodies in a special 
liquid, trimmed the fingernails to the very flesh, and cut off the foreskin. 
The great Jewish school was once again at the heart of the frightful tale. 
Avdotia Maksimova, in hopes of “cleansing her conscience,” wasted no 
time retelling much the same story that Terenteeva had described: how 
she stabbed both boys with a nail, washed off the blood, and helped 
deposit the bodies in the river.13

Not wanting to slow down the judicial process, Strakhov neverthe-
less proposed to broaden the inquiry. The first order of business was to 
talk with the domestic servant Maria Kovaleva, who, it turned out, was 
able to corroborate the account, even while embellishing it with sur-
prising new details. In the spring of 1813, Kovaleva explained, she was 
an “impressionable young girl.” As she stood inside the Jewish school, 
Kovaleva remembered that she saw something long and round with two 
long pointers resembling the devil’s horns. “Iosel’ Glikman told me that 
this was the Jewish god who does only good things for the Jewish people 
and no one else.” Kovaleva went on to describe another incident that 
connected ugly rumors with past events. About a year after the two boys 
were murdered, Kovaleva was cleaning Mirka’s floors when she spotted 
a little red wooden chest hidden in the corner of the room. Curiosity 
got the best of her, and she opened the lid and saw what appeared to be 
“three dark red pancakes and a large silver cup.” She remembered, as if 
it were yesterday, that the thick dark red substance floating in the silver 
cup gave off a heavy nauseating smell resembling that of rotten flesh.14

“Why did she not come forward earlier?” Strakhov inquired. 
Kovaleva’s face turned visibly agitated. “I was afraid that the Jews would 
deny everything and that authorities would whip me with the knout and 
send me off to Siberia.” Kovaleva was convinced that her life would end 
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right there and then. She realized that the Jews wanted to frighten her 
into silence. And now—​years later—​Kovaleva felt the time had finally 
come to “reveal everything.” But disaster struck quickly. Only a few days 
after she told her tale, Kovaleva decided to end her life by hanging her-
self. In the last moments of her life, it appears that Kovaleva was certain 
that her confession would come back to haunt her. On the eve of her 
suicide, the guard on duty noticed that Kovaleva was in a state of hys-
teria. He confirmed that “Kovaleva was crying uncontrollably, pacing 
around the room, mumbling under her breath that she had revealed the 
entire truth” and that she missed her husband and children.15

In the meantime, Jews were summoned for more interrogations. 
When she was brought before the inquisitorial commission, Khanna 
Tsetlina opened up to the possibility that Terenteeva purchased a besom 
at the marketplace, but she flatly denied that Jews locked up the boys in 
Aronson’s house. Khanna assumed that Kovaleva was brainwashed. How 
could it be otherwise? After all, Kovaleva repeated—​word for word—​the 
same exact tale that Maksimova and Terenteeva had recounted.16 Other 
Jews shared similar thoughts. No matter how serious the crime may 
have been, Slava Berlina, for instance, flatly denied the allegations lev-
eled against her. Evzik Tsetlin told the inquisitors that they had no legal 
right to question him or any other Jews, while Orlik Devirts wondered 
why Kovaleva did not turn to the police. “It’s evident that she’s been 
brainwashed,” Orlik insisted. “Surely, the boys had family and friends 
in town. Wouldn’t somebody have said something by now? Wouldn’t 
they have searched for the young children [as soon as word got out that 
they went missing]? Lies! Lies! It’s all lies! These events [supposedly] took 
place years ago. But if they did in fact take place, wouldn’t a neighbor or 
perhaps someone else in town said something by now?”17

In the winter and spring of 1828, the entire town was throbbing 
with vicious rumors. The inquisitorial commission hoped to wrap 
up the case, but the interrogations only added to the complexity of 
the investigation. At a meeting with the Uniate priest Tarashkevich, 
Terenteeva confessed that not only did she assist with the death of two 
Christian boys, but that she took part in yet another ritual murder, of 
a noblewoman named Dvorzhetskaia in December 1817. Terenteeva 
explained that she had been acquainted with Dvorzhetskaia for “quite 
some time.”18 One day, Terenteeva and Dvorzhetskaia decided to walk 
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down to the river when they ran into a local moneylender who was 
holding a bottle of spirits. She recalled that they took turns drinking 
from the bottle “until their heads began to spin.” Afterward, they 
made their way to the home of a Jew who lived next to the police 
station and the Holy Spirit Church, only a few steps from the Jewish 
school. There, they passed around another bottle, and the moment 
that Dvorzhetskaia became completely inebriated, four Jews grabbed 
her by both arms and dragged her inside the school, where five more 
Jews were waiting for them. One of the Jews undressed Dvorzhetskaia, 
took fifty rubles from her pocket, and shoved her inside a barrel 
that was hanging by a rope from the ceiling.19 Although Terenteeva 
described the diabolic ritual on several different occasions, the inquisi-
tors pressed her to repeat the tale one more time. Terenteeva went to 
great lengths to recount how they shook the barrel from side to side for 
“three full hours” and how they took turns “slapping Dvorzhetskaia’s 
cheeks, tying rope around her knees, and stabbing the body with a 
shiny nail.”20

The inquisitors immediately found inconsistencies in Terenteeva’s tes-
timony. Given the opportunity to explain herself, Terenteeva testified, 
“The events took place a long time ago. I consumed large amounts of 
wine that night. I visited several different [Jewish] homes.” To resolve 
the contradictions, Strakhov summoned Orlik Devirts for a confron-
tation, but the old man refused to stand face to face with Terenteeva. 
“Was [Dvorzhetskaia] really killed at the school?” he asked. Then, as 
his face changed color, Orlik squeezed his hands firmly together, took 
a deep breath, and told the inquisitors in a depressed voice, “My life is 
wasted. I am done for.” “I haven’t done anything wrong,” he continued, 
“and this is why I have no interest in confronting her anymore. You can 
do with me as you please. She is a mean, dirty woman. She lies contin-
uously, repeats everything you [the inquisitors] tell her.”21

The commission concluded that Orlik Devirts was not within his 
legal right to refuse a confrontation. By not standing face to face with 
Terenteeva, Strakhov warned Orlik, he was admitting to his own guilt. 
But Orlik, paying no attention to the legal justification, maintained that 
Terenteeva’s confessions were false. “When exactly did the [murders] 
take place? I don’t know anything about them. Why would I take part 
in such things, when, God only knows, I can barely feed my children? 
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You’re distressing me in my old age.” When Terenteeva walked in the 
room, Orlik didn’t hold back. “Is there anyone in town that can confirm 
what you’ve said is true? You’ve been taught to say this.” “Yes, Orlik, I’ve 
been taught to say this,” Terenteeva replied, “but you’re the one who 
taught me everything I know. Who else knows [how to perform a ritual 
murder] . . . the time has come to reveal the truth.”22

In hopes of making sense of the allegations, Strakhov summoned 
Terenteeva to clarify the gaps and the discrepancies in her story, but 
she suddenly shifted the focus of the conversation by revealing more 
dark secrets.23 It was around the time of the Passover holiday, “one or 
two years after Dvorzhetskaia’s death,” when Orlik Devirts took her to 
a tavern in the village of Semichevo. He left her there for three or four 
days and came back with two peasant girls. The younger girl was imme-
diately escorted inside a special chamber and given a piece of bread to 
eat, while the older one spent the night in the adjoining room with 
Terenteeva. And the longer Terenteeva talked, the more she embellished 
the story with new details: how she mixed the blood with water and a 
handful of wooden chips, poured the mixture into exactly three glass 
bottles, soaked a piece of linen in the blood, cut it into small pieces, 
and then distributed a tiny piece to the Jews. When Strakhov pointed 
out the inconsistencies, Terenteeva turned visibly angry. Why was the 
inspector-​councilor taking the Jews’ side? “If Maksimova hadn’t lured 
me into committing the crime,” she asserted, “I would never have done 
such a thing.”24

The Jews could not believe what they were hearing. Slava Berlina did 
not deny that she was acquainted with the old man Sholom, the owner 
of the Semichevo tavern, for “some time.” The old man made frequent 
trips to Velizh to purchase groceries and other small items, but Slava was 
certain that she never set foot in the tavern. For this reason, she believed 
that the ritual murder allegations were beyond absurd. “Don’t even 
bother writing anything down,” Slava maintained. “What the accusers 
are saying is a bunch of crazy lies.” When Terenteeva walked into the 
room, Slava did not hold back, repeating several times, “All you do is 
tell lies! I’ll take you to court. You’ll see what lies in store for you for 
making false accusations [against us]. You’ll be sent away for a lifetime.” 
Terenteeva did not pay any attention to Slava, telling the commission in 
a face-​to-​face confrontation, “It was Slava who taught me the diabolical 
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rituals. If she didn’t make me drink so much wine or force me to pierce 
the bodies, then I would have never learned to torture Jews.” By this 
time, Slava had worked herself into a state of frenzy. “The commission 
is composed of con-​artists who do their work deceptively, falsify papers, 
don’t listen to a word I say. There will come a time when I’ll stand in 
front of the tsar, mark my words, and I’ll reveal everything. I’m afraid 
of nothing!”25

Just before her death, Shifra Berlina told the commission that the 
“accusers could say whatever they wanted because they stood nothing 
to lose. They drink wine from morning to night. Terenteeva is poor and 
lives on the streets.” Orlik Devirts confirmed that he knew Sholom and 
that on several occasions he even passed by his tavern on his way to 
Semichevo. He was adamant, however, that he did not have any business 
relations with the old man. If Terenteeva was telling the truth, why did 
more witnesses not come forward? “Why doesn’t a respectable towns-
man—​someone everyone knows and admires—​say something [against 
us]?” The only folks who talk, he emphasized, are “those people that 
live on the streets and wander from courtyard to courtyard in search of 
handouts.”26 When Terenteeva was summoned into the interrogation 
room, Evzik Tsetlin refused to talk with her. The recording secretary 
noted that he “pretended to be sick to his stomach.” “You’re not allow-
ing me [to] talk,” Terenteeva thundered back, “I am telling you that it 
was you who killed the two girls, the year after you murdered the two 
boys.” But the only thing Tsetlin did was wave his hand at Terenteeva, 
refusing to sign the interrogation papers.27

However fantastic the accusations may have been, Maria Terenteeva 
had no intention of stopping there. Two or three years after she 
claimed to have helped murder the girls, Terenteeva insisted that she 
took part in yet another diabolic ritual.28 Once again she provided a 
long, rambling account, with the exact details impossible to confirm. 
At the time of Passover, she said, a Jew named Zeilik Brusovanskii 
knocked on Evzik Tsetlin’s door. The old man lived in the village of 
Suslinoi along Smolensk Road around two or three miles from town. 
Terenteeva happened to be sitting in the front chamber of Tsetlin’s 
home when Zeilik came by and convinced her to go back home with 
him. “When we were walking along Smolensk Road,” Terenteeva 
explained, “we saw four children, two boys and two girls, standing on 
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a bridge. Zeilik forced me to abduct the children. I did not have the 
strength to say no.” The very next day Maksimova and a handful of 
Jews from Velizh came to Zeilik’s tavern and promptly went to work 
on the children.29

Maksimova confirmed the tale in broad outline but added terri-
fying new details, many of which directly contradicted Terenteeva’s 
account. When Strakhov confronted Terenteeva with this information, 
Terenteeva’s behavior changed for the worse. Without pause or expla-
nation, she stopped answering the commission’s questions. In no time, 
Terenteeva called Maksimova “abusive names” and claimed that she had 
masterminded the entire affair. Not knowing how to proceed, Strakhov 
decided to give Terenteeva time to cool off, to remember the events as 
they had “really happened.”30

Not surprisingly, the allegations provoked an outcry from the Jewish 
prisoners. Strakhov summoned Zeilik Brusovanskii for a series of ques-
tions, but Zeilik was not very helpful: “I’ve been inside Aronson’s house 
before, but I didn’t instruct anyone there to ritually murder the children. 
I couldn’t have been very friendly with [the Aronson family]. They’re 
important people, while I’m just a miserable old soul who’s no use to 
anyone. Although I know most of the Jews in town, I’ve never met 
Maksimova or Terenteeva before. They’ve never set foot in my tav-
ern.” The recording secretary noticed that Zeilik “stared at the floor the 
entire time” he was questioned. Breathing deeply, as if he was in great 
pain, Zeilik’s body shook feverishly, and he did not know what to do 
with his hands. Zeilik concluded the deposition by stating the obvious:  
“I know absolutely nothing [about the murder]. Why would I want to 
stab to death poor innocent children? When one of my family members 
confesses, that’s when I’ll confess, as well. But until then I have nothing 
more to say. We [Jews] don’t need [Christian] blood. Perhaps in other 
parts of the world Jews ritually murder children, but I don’t know any-
thing about [those crimes].”31

Although he admitted that he “frequented Zeilik’s tavern on numer-
ous occasions,” Iosel’ Mirlas refused to entertain the thought that he 
had taken part in the murder conspiracy. The recording secretary noted 
that Mirlas began to “weep uncontrollably.” When he was asked why 
his face turned different colors, Mirlas replied, “It’s not only my face 
that changes color or my body that trembles. After I  talk with the 
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commission, my head hurts for two straight days, as if I’ve lost my 
mind.” Khanna Tsetlina was not very helpful either. When Strakhov 
asked her to recount the details of the murder, she replied, “I’ve never 
visited [Zeilik’s tavern]. I don’t know anything about the murder. If 
Jews need to kill [Christian] boys, we would have found them right 
here in town.”

Evzik Tsetlin seemed to be in an agitated state the entire time he was 
questioned. The recording secretary noted that he looked “deathly pale.” 
“I only have Avdotia to thank for feeling so well,” he replied sarcasti-
cally. “I would have felt much better, if you never lived with me,” he 
told her. “I have no doubt the other one [Terenteeva] would have said 
such dreadful tales. Why are you destroying my family? You’ve torn the 
entire town to pieces. But don’t think that it will always be like this. 
You’ll see what will happen. I’ve already told you: you’ll never be able to 
prove anything incriminating [against us Jews].”32

With so many irregularities in the testimonies, the commission deter-
mined that the only way to prove the veracity of the accusation was 
to uncover the dead bodies. So the delegation followed Terenteeva to 
Zeilik’s tavern, the site of the alleged crimes, but to their dismay the 
only thing they found was four rotted wooden columns. Maksimova 
proclaimed that she would be able to point out the grave. As the dele-
gation was walking back to town along Smolensk Road, she suddenly 
darted inside the thick woods and began to dig up dirt and old twigs in 
search of the bones. Maksimova offered all sorts of explanations: that 
they were drunk at the time of the murder, that it was difficult to locate 
the spot because they were there only once, and that it happened such a 
long time ago. The inquisitors walked in circles for several more hours, 
but decided that it was best to return to town to conclude the investiga-
tion rather than waste more time walking aimlessly around the woods.33

In the span of eighteen months, Terenteeva and Maksimova recounted 
an assortment of fantastic tales, including host desecrations, or some 
variant thereof.34 Perhaps the women overheard neighbors gossiping 
on a street or inside a church or tavern. Or maybe they remembered a 
case when a Jew was charged with stealing liturgical objects, desecrating 
the host, or murdering Christian children. Whatever the explanation, 
it seems reasonable to conclude that the women developed their plots 
from the narrative fragments in circulation at the time. Drawing on oral 
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and written traditions, as well as a wealth of signs and symbols, plots 
and subplots, the stories they told worked because they were embedded 
in local memories and rooted in the real world.35

The host—​the consecrated Eucharistic wafer—​was believed to be 
the body of Christ himself. Eucharistic tales of abuse claimed that Jews 
captured and desecrated the most important symbol of Christian iden-
tity. As the consecrated wafer came to represent the body and blood of 
Christ, anxieties about the desecration of the host resulted in anti-​Jewish 
campaigns and elaborate trials. Since early modern times, host desecra-
tion narratives had become enshrined in local traditions and liturgical 
practices. Devotion to the miraculous workings of the host was instru-
mental to the popularization of the blood libel. When they abused the 
host by throwing it in boiling water or piercing it with knives, or when 
they killed Christian children for the ritual use of their blood, Jews 
turned the blood of Christians into demonic material.36

Maksimova talked about how she hid the host in a handkerchief, 
while Terenteeva confessed that she did the same thing on at least three 
separate occasions. Both women described in fantastic detail how they 
helped Jews desecrate the Eucharist: how they mixed together water, 
wheat flour, blood, and sacred mysteries in a special basin; how they 
rolled the dough into buns, cut off the crust with a treyf (nonkosher) 
knife, and threw a tiny morsel into the fire; and how everyone gathered 
around to pierce the bread and smash it to pieces. Although they con-
tradicted themselves on several occasions, and at one point Terenteeva 
got so angry at Maksimova that she refused to talk with her any more, 
it appears that they did agree on the salient elements of the narrative.37

“We have no need for sacred mysteries. What would we do with 
a crumb of bread?” Khanna Tsetlina explained to the inquisitors. “It 
may have lots of significance to you [Christians], but it means abso-
lutely nothing to us [Jews]. How is it possible to disrespect a piece of 
bread?” With respect to Maksimova, Khanna did not hold back: “She 
likes to drink wine, for which she’ll gladly sell her soul. She’s a filthy 
whore. I don’t want to see her anymore. I have nothing to say to her.” 
Evzik Tsetlin could not agree more. “If it wasn’t explained to me that 
Christians consider bread a sacrament, then I wouldn’t have known 
this to this very day.” “How is it possible to disrespect a piece of bread,” 
Tsetlin wondered. “I’ve never read about such things in books. Not 
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everyone is able to understand [what’s printed there]. We have many 
types of books, and it’s not possible to read them all. I’m not edu-
cated enough to understand them.” Shmerka Aronson said something 
similar: “For 1,800 years, they’ve talked about how Jews use [Christian] 
blood. I heard that they even found printed works that document why 
Jews need blood. But it’s all lies. I know for a fact that none of it is 
true.”38

“How is it possible to desecrate sacraments?” Orlik Devirts asked. 
“Every month there are new developments [in the investigation].” Slava 
Berlina had no idea what Terenteeva and Maksimova meant by “sacred 
mysteries.” “When did the desecrations occur?” she asked. Refusing to 
sign any papers—​even though the inquisitors confirmed that all her 
words and actions would be dutifully recorded in special notebooks—​
she told the commission, “Write what you like, it makes no difference 
to me. I won’t sign any papers.” The moment Maksimova walked in the 
room, the recording secretary noted that Slava’s entire body began to 
shake. She screamed as loudly as she could: “You’ve come here to tell lies. 
Do you know who I am? I’m Slavka Berlina. Don’t think for a minute 
that I’ll let things go . . . you’ll see what will become of you. Why don’t 
you just admit that Strakhov taught you everything?”39

While the commission was busy interrogating the suspects, Terenteeva 
spent several long sessions recounting what turned out to be the last of 
the confessions: a horrifying tale of theft and defilement of church 
sacred property.40 In late medieval and early modern Poland, the theft 
of Catholic Church objects was classified as the most sacrilegious of 
crimes. Although the Eucharistic wafer was considered the most sacred 
of all, courts routinely punished Jews for stealing, trading in, or defiling 
chalices, silver knobs, crosses made from precious metals, chrismatory 
(vessels containing consecrated oil), silk curtains, and tablecloths. In 
early modern Poland, trials and public executions of the criminals were 
public spectacles, and those individuals convicted of sacrilege were rou-
tinely burned at the stake. As news of the executions spread by word of 
mouth, large crowds gathered to witness the executions.41

Conflating the host desecration tale with church robberies, Terenteeva 
drew on a long tradition of recounting crimes that were deemed by state 
and church authorities alike as most serious. In this instance, the focus 
of Terenteeva’s confession was on the antimins, which was stolen from 
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the St. Il’insk Church. A meeting with the Uniate priest Tarashkevich 
brought Terenteeva to her knees. “I would have revealed everything to 
you a long time ago, Holy Father, but I was terrified of your response.” 
She recounted how Jews handed her a carafe of vodka to drink and 
ordered her to steal the antimins. Terenteeva stood at the church doors 
at the twilight hour, just as everyone was leaving the building after Mass. 
She waited until everyone left, and as soon as the priest walked away 
from the altar, she ran inside the building and grabbed the sacred cloth. 
“The decorated towel wasn’t very large,” Terenteeva explained. With the 
towel in hand, she walked directly to the Jewish school, where a group of 
Jews wasted no time committing sacrilege. First, they took turns spitting 
on the cloth. Afterward, they stomped on it with their bare feet until it 
was torn into shreds, burning the remains, to leave no trace behind.42

This time, General-​Major Shkurin took it upon himself to investi-
gate the veracity of the accusation. To be certain that the “decorated 
towel” was in fact the sacred cloth, he asked for Terenteeva to demon-
strate how she sneaked inside the church and stole the antimins. So 
Terenteeva, Shkurin, and several other members of the commission 
walked over to the St. Il’insk Church. The recording secretary noted 
that as soon as Terenteeva stepped inside the building, she threw her-
self down on the ground and started to cry uncontrollably, taking 
deep breaths intermittently, begging for the “Almighty God to forgive 
her for all the crimes she had committed.” While prostrating herself 
on the ground, Terenteeva did not pay attention to Shkurin’s entreat-
ies. Finally, after an hour or so, “fearing that God would strike her 
down and she would die on the spot,” Terenteeva declared that she 
would not be able to demonstrate to the inquisitors how she stole the 
antimins.43

Several days later, Tarashkevich went through the St. Il’insk Church’s 
files and discovered that one of the antimins was in fact missing.44 
Avdotia Maksimova confirmed that the antimins was stolen in 1823, 
at roughly the time Fedor’s body was found in the woods. Maksimova 
explained that, shortly after the boy was ritually murdered, Khanna 
Tsetlina handed the antimins to Iosel’ Mirlas, who did unimaginable 
horrors to it. After carefully smoothing out all the wrinkles, Iosel’ spit 
on the towel and wiped his hands with it. All the other Jews allegedly 
took turns doing the same exact thing. At the conclusion of the ritual, 
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Orlik Devirts picked up the towel from the floor and tore it into four 
equal pieces, with which he made a cross. Ruman Nakhimovskii wasted 
no time burning the towel and depositing all the ashes in a little copper 
basin, which he promptly took to the Jewish school. After Praskoviia 
Kozlovskaia confirmed Maksimova’s account to the last detail, Shkurin 
was satisfied that he had assembled enough evidence to convict the Jews.

Evzik Tsetlin, among other prisoners, wasted no time denying the 
allegations. “What’s an antimins, anyway? Avdotia, how long are you 
planning on telling these tales?” Then, turning to the commission, he 
burst out, “I don’t want to listen to any of this anymore. I don’t want 
to talk to her anymore.” Later that afternoon, he continued, “You’ve 
completely ruined our town, destroyed our homes, our families. We’re 
wasted, done for!” Khanna Tsetlina also could not comprehend the sig-
nificance of the towel. She told Avdotia, “Avdotiushka, Avdotiushka, 
God only knows, you need to remember that the time will come when 
you too will die and enter the next world. You need to be honest about 
everything that has happened [here in town]. Did we really do all those 
things you’ve described?” To Kozlovskaia, “It’s not true, it’s not true! 
Praskoviia, you know this never happened. The towel was never spit 
on, stomped on, or burned. I was never with you at the school; you 
never worked for me.” And to Terenteeva, “I never sent you over to the 
priest with a bottle of vodka. Why would I do something like that? Why 
would I ask you when I have my own domestic servant? I never even 
knew you [at that time].”45

Shkurin questioned many other prisoners, but they all stood their 
ground. Slava Berlina, for instance, told the inquisitorial commission 
that she had no interest in signing the confession papers. “I’m a woman. 
I don’t know the laws of the land. The governor-​general is not the 
emperor. . . . But I’m certain that I along with [all the other prisoners] 
will be proven innocent in due time.”46 Another prisoner claimed that 
she never lived in Velizh before and therefore had no idea why she was 
asked to testify. With tears in his eyes, Iosel’ Glikman got down on both 
knees, explaining to the general-​major, “God knows, Your Excellency, 
I know absolutely nothing [about the murder]. If something does come 
to light in the criminal investigation, then all Jews will be found guilty 
[of ritual murder].” Zusia Rudniakov remarked, “Perhaps it’s true. I’m 
just a poor peddler, what do I know? I don’t associate with the wealthy 
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Jews in town. I’ve never been [to their homes]. They don’t ever talk with 
me. I don’t know how to read or write. The only thing I know is that I’ve 
never heard of such things before.” Nota Prudkov (before he confessed 
to the alleged crime) said that he could not agree more. “Go talk to 
Beniiamin Solomon, he’s a learned Jew, ask our rabbis, all the apostates 
[in town]—​they’ll all tell you that this couldn’t have happened. Jews 
don’t need blood. The antimins and the blood is one and the same thing. 
This is a church towel, for God’s sake, they hang people for stealing these 
[types of sacred objects].”47

In 1827 and 1828, at the height of the panic in Velizh, fears of mass 
Jewish conspiracies to murder Christian children spread across the 
northwest provinces of the Russian Empire. The interrogations revealed 
that little Fedor’s murder was of a much wider problem. It was not 
just that Terenteeva and Maksimova confessed to helping Jews kill the 
noblewoman Dvorzhetskaia and eight more Christian children. No less 
disturbing were the reports of cases that suddenly popped up in nearby 
towns. First, a seven-​year-​old boy was found near a lake in Tel’she, 
Kovno province. Shortly thereafter, residents claimed to have witnessed 
two Jews kidnap and kill the farm boy. A lengthy criminal investigation 
ensued and as many as twenty-​eight Jews were arrested on mass suspi-
cion of ritual murder. Then, in Grodno, authorities decided to reopen 
a criminal case that had been closed for more than a decade. In light of 
the Velizh investigation, they wanted to be absolutely certain that Jews 
did not cover up the murder.48

There was nothing remarkable about the intensification of the crim-
inal investigation. In different global locales, the pursuit of transpar-
ency prompted passionate crusades to uncover destructive hands of evil 
agents.49 In villages and small towns of the Swabian-​Franconian border-
lands, for example, rumors of monstrous conspiracies of mass poisons, 
fantastic tales of murdered babies, and macabre accounts of atrocities led 
to widespread arrests of alleged witches. Merchants, peddlers, wander-
ing craftsmen, and itinerant preachers passed on the local gossip as they 
traveled from town to town and region to region.50 The fears quickly 
spread through different parts of early modern Europe. All in all, by the 
end of the seventeenth century, the great witch-​hunts resulted in more 
than 110,000 arrests and 60,000 executions, with many more individu-
als forced to live their daily lives under constant threat of suspicion.51
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Although the Velizh case did not spread to such depths, the pres-
sure to accuse generated a powerful dynamic of its own, until more 
and more members of the community were drawn in. Connecting the 
past with the present, rumor with real-​life historical events, Terenteeva, 
Maksimova, and Kozlovskaia lashed out at those people who stood the 
most to lose in a confrontation that threatened to destabilize the town’s 
power structure. Without a firm social basis—​without, in other words, 
so much support from the Christian residents—​it seems highly unlikely 
that the accusers would have targeted so many persons of respect, 
responsibility, and authority. Here, too, the local currents conformed to 
patterns that played out elsewhere. But whereas certain individuals—​at 
the height of the witchcraft accusations, in seventeenth-​century Salem, 
Massachusetts, for example—​remained off limits, all the Jews in Velizh 
were fair game.52
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7•
Boundaries of the Law

To bring its investigation to a resolution, the inquisitorial commis-
sion needed to establish with certainty that Jews played a formative role 
in the murder conspiracy. To do this, the inquisitors needed to elicit a 
full confession from the Jews themselves: that they had taken part in 
the affair in all its grisly details. In the early modern world, authorities 
could choose from an extensive repertoire of instruments to establish 
what really happened in a case: the tying of hands and the application 
of hot pincers to the soles of feet, stretching on the rack, ankle presses, 
metallic braces or screws to crush legs, sleep deprivation, cold water 
drips, knouting, and the strappado. The strappado was the most pop-
ular method of forcing people to talk. The accused’s hands were tied 
together and attached to a rope; the rope was thrown over a beam, at 
which point the person was hoisted high into the air, brought down 
for a short period of time, and raised again.1 All these techniques were 
used to get criminals to confess to their dark secrets, to provide more 
information, or to affirm a recantation.

As surprising as it may seem, Russia followed what might be termed 
the basic principles of Confucian justice, applying torture sparingly and 
discriminately.2 But in contrast to the Chinese legal system, the Russian 
government had no interest in sanctioning the use of pain solely to make 
the victim suffer. In early modern Russia, judicial torture was prescribed 
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only to double-​check the veracity of the confession and the names of the 
co-​conspirators. Muscovite courts went to great lengths to limit the use 
of unregulated torture, stipulating when and how much pain could be 
administered at any given time.3 In fact, torture was an exceptional pro-
cedure in the criminal law, reserved for crimes such as witchcraft, reli-
gious dissent, espionage, and urban uprisings. On those rare occasions, 
the guilty were subject to mass spectacles of punishment—​flogging, 
branding, beheading by ax and sword, bludgeoning on a large wooden 
wagon wheel, and public executions.4

In the eighteenth century, the Russian government further lim-
ited the use of state-​sanctioned violence, reserving judicial torture 
and capital punishment for extraordinary crimes such as premeditated 
murder and homicide.5 As the logic of cruel bodily punishment came 
under restriction, Russia—​in comparison to other European states 
and China—​was among the front runners in reducing the violently 
physical element. On September 27, 1801, Tsar Alexander I formally 
abolished the use of torture, declaring that “nowhere in any shape or 
form should anyone dare to permit or perform any torture, under pain 
of inevitable and severe punishment . . . that accused persons should 
personally declare before the Court that they had not been subjected 
to any unjust interrogation.”6

This does not mean, of course, that the Russian law code prohibited 
the application of various other tactics to compel people to talk. During 
the reign of Nicholas I, it was not unusual for suspects to be flogged and 
harassed, set in pillories, and confined in damp and dark cellars.7 The 
inquisitorial records—​and especially Jews’ personal correspondence—​
demonstrate in extraordinary detail the methods that the inquisitors 
used to exploit prisoners’ weaknesses. Operating in the privacy of a room, 
relying on a variety of confrontational and manipulative strategies to 
uncover the depth of the conspiracy, Strakhov and his team worked the 
prisoners into a state of frenzy. Jews were placed in semi-​solitary, indef-
inite detention and interrogated for hours on end. Some were humili-
ated, restrained in leg irons, and threatened with coercion. Others were 
slapped and beaten at will until they agreed to sign written statements.

The inquisitors used the threat of pain, false-​evidence ploys, and lengthy 
questioning to lower the Jews’ psychological capacity for resistance.8  
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In addition to rendering pain and emotional desperation, something 
else was driving their actions. Strakhov knew all too well that, if the Jews 
failed to provide a fundamentally convincing narrative of what hap-
pened in the spring of 1823, the chances of successfully resolving the case 
were radically diminished. Time and time again, the inspector-​councilor 
decided to put Jews through particularly grueling sessions designed to 
break down the human spirit by assaulting the victim’s dignity.9

In the initial stages of the investigation, Strakhov shrugged off the 
reports of abuse, telling the governor-​general that “not one prisoner 
has required even the slightest medical treatment.”10 But even if the 
inquisitors did not stray outside the bounds of the permissible (a highly 
unlikely proposition), confinement not only made the prisoners physi-
cally weak; there were emotional consequences as well. Shmerka Berlin 
suffered from tuberculosis, and it did not take him long to have trouble 
breathing and eventually fall into a state of hysteria. Shifra Berlin passed 
away from poor health not long after she was taken into custody. Evzik 
and Khanna Tsetlin and their daughter Itka suffered mental breakdowns 
from induced debilitation and repeated abuse.

Imprisonment took a physical and an emotional toll on the pris-
oners. Standing in front of the inquisitorial commission, many Jews 
found it difficult to cope with the trauma of the oral interrogations. 
Some individuals had a hard time getting their point across in a lan-
guage only a handful of people knew reasonably well. Others suc-
cumbed to depression from which they never fully recovered, and often 
lost their train of thought in mid-​sentence during the interrogations. 
In this respect, the Velizh Jews shared with many other prisoners in 
diverse geographic and temporal contexts the different emotions—​fear, 
loneliness, melancholia, futile rebellion, abject despair, boredom, and 
blind rage—​that made prison life so painful.11 For the prisoners and 
their families, long silences or interruptions in communication exac-
erbated the isolation. The Jews yearned for mundane details about the 
health and safety of friends and relatives, of wives and husbands, and 
especially of young children who were suddenly left without a parent. 
Predictably, not knowing how events were unfolding at home—​while 
having little physical contact with their loved ones—​wreaked emo-
tional havoc on their psyches.
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Although the evidence is sketchy, the individuals swept up in the 
investigation—​jailers, guards, accusers, and inquisitors—​suffered as 
well. Some fell ill for stretches of time; others were unable to confront 
their own demons. Given the proclivity for the inquisitors to omit 
or erase incriminating details from the official documentary record, 
we have only a few examples, though they are revealing in their own 
right. The domestic servant Maria Kovaleva, who allegedly assisted 
Jews in murdering two Christian boys, committed suicide after going 
through a particularly trying interrogation session. Perhaps her con-
science got the better of her?12 Ivan Cherniavskii, a security guard, 
had an affair with Melania Zhelnova (the eighteen-​year-​old peasant 
girl arrested in 1825). Although she did not play an important role 
in the case, Zhelnova had a baby and was forced to reside with the 
child in a small wooden cottage for the duration of the investigation. 
After several years of sneaking across the courtyard for nighttime 
visits, Cherniavskii was reprimanded and put in isolation. Eventually, 
the guard ended his life by slashing his throat with a razor. Shortly 
before he was found in his room in a pool of blood, another offi-
cial overheard Cherniavskii complaining that “his life had become 
unbearable.”13

Strakhov had much to gain by successfully completing his assign-
ment. At the very least, the inspector-​councilor would set himself up for 
a handsome promotion and a nice increase in monthly salary. Perhaps 
he would even receive an appointment to an administrative post that 
carried with it an impressive jump in civil service rank. To be sure, 
zealous service was an important measure of achievement in Russia’s 
bureaucratic world. Nevertheless, it would be misleading to interpret 
Strakhov’s obsessions solely in terms of his career aspirations. Belief in 
the efficacy of diabolical ritual practices retained much of its appeal to 
a broad spectrum of the population, including the judges, magistrates, 
and administrators who controlled the judicial machinery in the pro-
vincial world and beyond. In the Russian Empire, as in other times and 
places around the world, the distinction between enlightened skeptics 
and believers in supernatural, demonic forces was never rigid. What 
applied for the witch-​hunts was also the case for the blood libel: judicial 
uncertainty could and often did coexist with the belief in the reality of 
the crime.14
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The documentary evidence suggests that Strakhov was convinced that 
Jewish ritual murder was a fact of life. In the very first months of the 
investigation, the inspector-​councilor outlined some of the reasons in 
a communication to Nikolai Nikolaevich Khovanskii. First, Strakhov 
dismissed the fact that not one blood libel accusation had stood the test 
of legal scrutiny, even though such cases were investigated “rather fre-
quently.” Strakhov was convinced that Jews were unusually resourceful 
at covering up their tracks and that they managed to find creative ways 
to mask their “evil deeds.” That the accusations were made only in places 
where Jews enjoyed residential privileges served as the best indicator 
that they continued to practice demonic rituals. It was no coincidence 
that “in those provinces where residence was prohibited to Jews not one 
accusation had been made.” Why would someone want to commit the 
offense? The most common explanations for any ordinary criminal act 
were enmity, hardship, and financial gain. But none of those potential 
motivations was helpful in solving this particular case. After a careful 
consideration of the facts, Strakhov concluded that Fedor’s murder 
was no ordinary crime: “The boy was not in any position to harm any-
one. Furthermore, what would someone gain from killing an innocent 
child? Even if we were to imagine that someone hoped to profit from 
the [murder], then wouldn’t he have been killed by one blow [to the 
head], and not ritually murdered, as the forensic evidence demonstrates 
[so clearly]?”15

Taking a sweeping look at the fruit of the commission’s labors, 
Strakhov could not have been more pleased with the progress. None of 
the extravagant claims made against him stood the test of legal scrutiny. 
By the fall of 1828, the inquisitorial commission amassed an impressive 
dossier: a forensic report, an assortment of confessions, one blood-
stained cloth, two knives, a piece of foreskin, and reference works that 
clearly established the theological origins and historicity of ritual mur-
der. As the investigation shifted to last, critical stage, all signs indicated 
that it was just a matter of time before the inquisitorial commission 
would resolve the contradictions and put the pieces together.

An impressive list of sophisticated accusatory works helped Strakhov 
and his team of inquisitors rationalize the murder. These learned 
treatises—​based on a wealth of printed and oral expert testimonies—​
provided textual proof that ritual murder was real. By the end of the 
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eighteenth century, no fewer than seventy-​six books and pamphlets were 
printed in old Poland. Providing long descriptions of past cases, the pub-
lished works played a significant role in the prosecution of Jews. Highly 
detailed quotations from the Talmud and other sacred writings—​usually 
made by converts or renegade members of the Jewish community with 
knowledge of the Hebrew language—​helped bolster the charge.16

The inquisitorial commission collected several different works, all of 
which justified the basic premise that Jews needed Christian blood for 
ritual purposes.17 The most important of these was a partial translation 
of Bishop Kajetan Sołtyk’s brochure Złość żydowska (Jewish Wrath). 
Sołtyk first gained notoriety in a ritual murder trial in Zhitomir.18 In 
1753, he accused thirty-​one Jews of using Christian blood in religious 
rituals, twelve of whom were found guilty of the crime and sentenced 
to death by quartering. Sołtyk not only reprinted documents from 
the trial, but also referenced evidence supplied by an extremist Jewish 
sect known as the Frankists (followers of a man named Jacob Frank, 
a self-​proclaimed prophet of Shabbetai Zvi). In highly publicized dis-
putations with Polish rabbinical authorities, the Frankists, who at one 
point converted to Catholicism and attempted to conceal their Jewish 
identity, argued that all prophecies about the coming of the Messiah 
had already been fulfilled, that a person can achieve faith in the Messiah 
only through baptism, that the Talmud teaches that Jews need Christian 
blood, and that whoever believes in the Talmud is bound to use it. 
Manipulating a wide range of Jewish sacred works, usually by mistrans-
lating or misrepresenting key passages, the Frankists taught that human 
sacrifice and the ritual use of Christian blood was an intrinsic part of 
Jewish religious practice.19

Borrowing freely from previously published almanacs and pamphlets, 
including Frankist popular teachings, Sołtyk explored ritual murder as 
both a religious and social phenomenon. First published in 1760 and 
subsequently reprinted several times, Złość żydowska demonstrated that 
holy books commanded Jews to use Christian blood in their rites and 
rituals and to defile Christian sacred objects. For Strakhov, Sołtyk’s work 
was a crucial piece of expert evidence that connected the past with the 
present, because, as he explained to Khovanskii, it “described actual 
cases of superstitious acts and demonstrated convincingly that Jews 
required Christian blood for religious rituals.”20
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The Reverend Robert Walsh’s 1827 travel narrative of the Ottoman 
Empire served as further proof that ritual murder could occur anytime 
and anywhere. Walsh described how one day, while passing through 
Galata, a suburb of Pera (in present-​day Istanbul), he heard rumors that 
Jews had ritually murdered a Greek boy. “The child of a Greek merchant 
had disappeared,” Walsh explained, “and no one could give any account 
of it.” At first, the authorities thought that a Turk had taken the boy 
for a slave. But after the body was found, with the legs and arms bound 
tight and the wounds visible on the side, they assumed that the boy had 
died “in some extraordinary manner and for some extraordinary pur-
pose.” Everyone immediately suspected that Jews were responsible for 
the gruesome death. “As it was just after their paschal feast, suspicion, 
people said, was confirmed to certainty. Nothing could be discovered to 
give a clue to the perpetrators, but the story was universally talked of, 
and generally believed, all over Pera.”21

Walsh bolstered the tale’s credibility by referencing a pamphlet written 
by a Greek Orthodox monk, a convert from Judaism named Neophytos. 
Written in Romanian and originally printed in 1803, Neophytos’s  
A Mystery Hitherto Concealed and Now Published for the First Time 
revealed how Jewish fanatical sects—​influenced by ideas found in Jewish 
sacred writings—​consumed Christian blood for ritual and medicinal 
purposes. The pamphlet circulated in East European Orthodox mon-
asteries and was reissued several times.22 In the Russian Empire, the 
production and consumption of accusatory literature on the blood 
libel lacked the vigor of those works produced in early modern Poland. 
Only a handful of books and pamphlets were published in the Russian 
language, nearly all of which were translations of Polish originals.23 
Nevertheless, this genre of literature—​much like demonological mate-
rials on the practice of witchcraft—​added religious and intellectual 
substance to the arguments made against Jews.24 In Velizh, as well as in 
other criminal investigations of ritual murder, the works authored by 
Sołtyk, Walsh, and Neophytos, among others, were employed as scien-
tific aids in prosecuting Jews for the crime of ritual murder.

After converting to Catholicism in August 1828, Anton Vikentiev 
Grudinskii disclosed to the inquisitorial commission that none other 
than the preeminent medieval Jewish philosopher and Torah scholar 
Moses Maimonides had allegedly authored a manuscript in which he 
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described the cultural beliefs and practices that had historically moti-
vated Jews to commit ritual murder. Grudinskii claimed that he had 
stumbled upon the work, How Christian Children Should Be Murdered, 
when he was browsing through a box of confiscated Jewish books in a 
synagogue in the provincial town of Mira. Grudinskii was not the only 
convert in the history of ritual murder trials who talked about the secret 
uses of Christian blood in Jewish religious rituals and ceremonies.25 
Most of the confessions came because of long torture sessions; some 
individuals claimed to have witnessed and participated firsthand in the 
blood libel rituals, but no one had bolstered the charge by referencing 
the authorial voice of one of the greatest minds of world civilization.26

Born in Andalusia, in the southern part of Spain, at the end of the 
golden age of Jewish culture, Maimonides (also known as Rambam, his 
Hebrew acronym) committed himself to revealing the inner meaning 
of Judaism and the hidden mysteries of the Torah. In his great work 
Mishneh Torah, Maimonides provided in clear and unambiguous lan-
guage a guide to the halakhic (legal) world of Jewish civilization so that 
the entire Oral Law might become known to Jews.27 What was once 
concealed and convoluted would now become accessible and com-
prehensible. In replies to legal queries, Maimonides provided a rec-
ord of opinions on a wide range of subjects—​on, among other things, 
marriage and divorce, ownership and rental of property, conversion to 
Judaism and apostasy, menstruation, and circumcision. With respect 
to the Israelite covenant of blood, Maimonides explained that human 
blood played no role whatsoever in the ritual drinking of blood or the 
baking of bread made with blood.28

In the ancient Near East, a sect by the name of the Sabians report-
edly ate blood because they believed that it was the food of the devils 
and that whoever ate it fraternized with the jinn (prophesying demons). 
In response to these idolatrous practices, Maimonides explained that 
Jewish law prohibited not only the consumption of blood but also eat-
ing the flesh of slaughtered animals in the vicinity of its blood. Blood 
may have linked the Israelites with their God—​as in the Passover sacri-
fice or the blood of sacrifices thrown against the altar—​but it could not 
be used after the fashion of the idolaters.29

Most likely, Grudinskii had little or no expert knowledge of 
Maimonides’ religious and philosophical writings. This did not stop 
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him from using the great philosopher’s name to his own advantage. 
Grudinskii explained that the first page of the alleged manuscript in his 
possession was illustrated with Rambam’s portrait, two Christian boys, 
a wooden barrel, and an assortment of instruments Jews used to torture 
and kill Christian children. Jewish communities were required to keep 
a copy of the instruction manual, rolled up in a scroll, in the wooden 
cabinet of their synagogues. The wooden barrel, which was equipped 
with eight iron nails, was placed underneath the bimah (raised platform) 
of the synagogue, while the torture instruments—​one iron coronet, two 
iron washtubs, a circumcision knife, and a chisel—​were stored in either 
the communal synagogue or the school.

According to Grudinskii, Rambam instructed Jews to take an oath of 
secrecy. If anyone would begin to suspect Jews of the crime, they would 
be expected to make sure that no one would ever find out the truth. And 
if they were ever caught in the act, Jews should keep the rites and ritu-
als associated with blood sacrifice of Christian children a well-​guarded 
secret.30 Grudinskii went on to say that, each year before the Passover 
holiday, exactly four executive board members of the Jewish community 
were responsible for abducting young Christian children. The Jewish 
communal government maintained power over Jewish religious institu-
tions by way of a vast network of brotherhoods. To do this, it devised 
secret ceremonies and inculcated fanatical beliefs to maintain internal 
control over its members.31

Grudinskii claimed that Rambam’s manuscript was hidden in an old 
synagogue, but he could not remember which one exactly. Convinced 
that Judaism was imbued with dark secrets, St. Petersburg instructed 
provincial governors to go door to door in search of religious works 
that helped expose fanatical beliefs and practices. In the fall of 1827 and 
winter of 1828, at the height of the panic, the Department of Spiritual 
Faiths of Foreign Confessions instructed provincial governors to search 
rabbis’ homes for old Jewish books prescribing the use of Christian 
blood for religious rituals.32 It is unclear how many Jewish communities 
were targeted or the number of books that were eventually confiscated. 
We do know that secret files were delivered to the inquisitors in Velizh, 
and that Catholic priests were summoned to summarize and translate 
key passages of books and pamphlets. Grudinskii took great care to 
translate an old manuscript, which he claimed was authored by the great 



The Velizh Affair142

142

philosopher. In due time, however, a linguistic expert, an apostate from 
Mstislavl, declared Grudinskii’s translation “disingenuous.” After a par-
ticularly intense interrogation session, Grudinskii eventually confessed 
that he had fabricated the story from start to finish.33

By the time the officials searched houses in search of Jewish reli-
gious texts, the scope of the investigation had expanded exponentially. 
Khovanskii was confident that the inquisitorial commission had gath-
ered enough evidence to convict the Jews of a crime that resembled other 
disturbing episodes in a long chain of historical events. On October 13, 
1829, Khovanskii reported to state councilor Count Aleksandr Ivanovich 
Chernyshev, “I have several archival files and various other types of 
documents in my possession that demonstrate how frequently [Jews] 
instruct their coreligionists, under the guise of religious law, to conceal 
the truth, make false statements, and violate sworn oaths.”34 The medical 
assessment of the body, as corroborated by the testimony of numerous 
witnesses, soundly established that this was no ordinary crime but the 
work of what the governor-​general called “cruel and unusual forms of 
tyranny.” The only thing left to do, he felt, was to assemble the dos-
sier and transfer the interrogation records and supporting evidence to  
St. Petersburg.35

Peter the Great’s judicial reforms of the early eighteenth century 
initiated substantive changes to record keeping. An important part 
of the bureaucratic process was the production of an orderly dossier. 
The Russian government created a formulaic template for assembling 
and signing paperwork. The commitment to systematic record keeping 
played an important role in the preparation of criminal files. Secretaries 
were charged with transcribing everything that was said in the interroga-
tion room in special notebooks. All the letters, petitions, memos, tran-
scripts, and material evidence needed to be catalogued and preserved.36 
Not only did imperial law spell out a commitment to order and ethics, 
it also required devotion to the bureaucratic ideals of form and proce-
dure: for administrative files to be written, formatted, and preserved in 
an exact manner.37 In October 1829, Khovanskii promised St. Petersburg 
that the clerical work would be completed in four months’ time. When 
the deadline passed, the governor-​general penned several memos in an 
impatient tone, urging Shkurin to “expedite the work to the best of your 
ability and bring the case to its long-​awaited conclusion.”38
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Part of the problem was that the commission spent the better part 
of November in Vitebsk, investigating new developments in the case. 
It also did not help matters that Vasilii Ivanovich Strakhov—​the man 
who worked so hard to assemble an airtight case against Jews—​had 
fallen gravely ill. The first symptoms appeared on September 29, 1829, 
and for the better part of four weeks, the inspector-​councilor spent his 
days in bed. By late October, Strakhov felt well enough to resume his 
duties, consisting largely of paperwork and last-​minute interrogations 
and face-​to-​face confrontations. With the end finally in sight, Strakhov 
worked feverishly to complete the work he had started so long ago, but 
the illness returned before long. On February 19, 1830, Shkurin reported 
to the governor-​general that the inspector-​councilor lacked the strength 
to get out of bed. On May 12, doctors gave Strakhov only a few days 
to live, and exactly three days later, at 10:30 in the morning, he died of 
what the medical examiner categorized as “inflammation and suppura-
tion of the brain.”39

That spring, five scribes worked around the clock to format the docu-
ments according to the specifications of the law code. Eager to wrap up 
the investigation in a timely manner, Khovanskii was happy to send his 
most meticulous men to Velizh at a moment’s notice. “If five scribes are 
not able to get the job done, then all [the commission] needs to do is 
request for more help.” On May 16, the governor-​general proclaimed 
that the investigation had run its course and that there was no reason for 
any members of the inquisitorial commission to remain in Velizh. The 
only thing left to do was to “itemize the files, fasten the pages together, 
and label the documents.”40

It turned out that the formalities of record keeping and assembly 
of the files proved to be an extraordinarily consuming and demanding 
task. The scribes labored all summer, and only on August 27, 1830, was 
the dossier transferred to Vitebsk. As required by law, the original files 
remained with the governor-​general’s chancellery office for safekeeping; 
an identical copy was forwarded to St. Petersburg for official review. 
Khovanskii requested that all the prisoners’ personal belongings pur-
chased with official state funds to be itemized and handed over to the 
magistrate’s office. Most important, the accused Jews were to remain 
locked up in Velizh until the Senate reached a decision, while the accus-
ers were to be relocated to Smolensk. A caravan of twenty-​six horses 
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made the epic journey from Velizh to the provincial capital of Vitebsk, 
carrying dozens of sealed boxes filled with thousands of pages of docu-
ments: official reports, interrogations, depositions, forensic-​medical 
evidence, transcripts of face-​to-​face confrontations, communiqués, lists, 
maps, translations of foreign-​language books, knives, and an assortment 
of petitions, complaints, and letters.41

In addition to Fedor’s death, Jews were charged with the murder con-
spiracy of nine other people—​two boys, the noblewoman Dvorzhetskaia, 
two girls, and four peasant children—​as well as the desecration of church 
property. Although nowhere near as severe as the charge of ritual mur-
der, the interrogations also revealed that the Jews enticed the accusers 
to go “astray,” a punishable criminal transgression. For centuries, the 
formal abandonment of Christianity was no small concern for church 
leaders. According to the Russian criminal law code, individuals who 
repudiated the Christian faith were categorized as apostates or heretics, 
subject to punitive measures for their transgressions, and sentenced to 
hard labor in Siberia for a period of eight to ten years.42

The Second Section of the Fifth Department of the Senate reviewed 
the Velizh dossier. Senators included eminent bureaucrats, officers, and 
a full complement of generals, all appointed by the tsar. In the first half 
of the nineteenth century, the Fifth Department reviewed an extensive 
dossier of cases dealing with peasant uprisings, runaway serfs, desertion 
and failure to fulfill military duties, contraband activities, sacrilege and 
blasphemy, deviation from religious norms, forgery and counterfeiting, 
contraband activities, the production of illegal goods, theft, and murder. 
The Senate possessed the authority to compel colleges and provincial 
governors and governors-​general to carry out its orders. Although it 
functioned as a supreme court of appeals, the Senate was nevertheless 
subordinated to the tsar in judicial capacity. It could submit a recom-
mendation to introduce, overturn, or amend a law, but the emperor 
always had final approval.43

It did not take long for the Senate to dismiss most of the charges for 
lack of supporting evidence. The court took much longer to deliber-
ate over whether Jews murdered Fedor as a result of superstitious rites 
and convictions. As a separate but related question, it also considered 
if a sect of child murderers was secretly operating within the Jewish 
community—​if, in other words, ritual murder was a fact of Jewish  
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religious life. Although the principal suspects did not confess to the 
murder, the court had in its possession a wealth of incriminating facts: 
material and medical evidence; the confessions and partial confessions 
of Fratka Devirts, Itsko Nakhimovskii, and Nota Prudkov; and the 
testimonies of Terenteeva, Kozlovskaia, and Maksimova. The court also 
made note of several crucial details: that a small group of Jews gathered 
secretly in the middle of the night at the homes of Shmerka and Noson 
Berlin, that a Jewish watch guard was stationed outside Shmerka’s home 
at precisely the time the boy disappeared, that the temperament and 
psychological disposition of the Jews changed dramatically during the 
interrogation sessions, and that an overwhelming majority of Christians 
in the town were convinced of Jews’ guilt.44

Some of the evidence may have been ambiguous, inconclusive, or 
indirect, but when taken together, it was overwhelming. Senators I. F. 
Savrasov and K. G. Mikhailovskii were convinced that the Jews had 
ritually murdered Fedor, and there was no doubt in their mind that a 
special Jewish sect played a lead role in the conspiracy. On December 
1, 1831, Savrasov and Mikhailovskii recommended the following 
punishment:

•	 Even though Maria Terenteeva, Avdotia Maksimova, and Praskoviia 
Kozlovskaia played a lead role in the murder and renounced their 
Christian faith, they voluntarily confessed to their crimes and 
named all the participants in the affair. For these reasons, their 
sentence would be reduced to exile to Siberia, where they would be 
expected to repent for their ways of life.

•	 Anna Eremeeva was expected to repent for her way of life.
•	 Khanna and Evzik Tsetlin, Slava, Hirsh, Noson, and Ryvka 

Berlin, Ruman Nakhimovskii, Iosel’ Mirlas, Iosel’ Glikman, Feiga 
Vul’fsonov, Orlik and Fratka Devirts, and Nota Prudkov would 
lose their civil liberties and be exiled to Siberia for hard labor. 
The men were to be punished by twenty blows of the knout and 
branded as criminals; the women would receive fifteen blows.

•	 Meir Berlin, Shmerka and Basia Aronson, and Itsko Vul’fson 
would lose their civil liberties and be exiled to Siberia for perma-
nent residence. The men would be punished by twenty-​five blows 
of the lash; the women would receive twenty blows.
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•	 Rokhlia Feitel’son, Khasia Chernomordik, Leizer Zaretskii, Itsko 
Beliaev, and Abram Kisin would lose their civil liberties and be 
exiled to Siberia for permanent residence.

•	 Zelik Brusovanskii, Khaim Khrupin, Iankel’ and Ester Chernomor
dik, Blium Nafanov, Malka Baradulina, Rokhlia Livensonov, Risa 
Mel’nikova, Abram Glushkov, Iosel’ Turnovskii, Itsko Nakhimovskii, 
and Abram Katson would lose their civil liberties and be exiled to 
Siberia for permanent residence.

•	 Everyone else would be set free for lack of incriminating evidence.45

Consisting of a stiff thong of rawhide fastened by a bronze ring to a 
braided leather whip and attached to a wooden stick of two and a half 
feet in length, the knout was the harshest instrument of corporal pun-
ishment used in Russia. By the standards of the time, punishment of fif-
teen to twenty blows was not deemed particularly severe. Nevertheless, 
knouting was a highly symbolic public spectacle, traditionally carried 
out in the town square. As a penal instrument, the knout was reserved 
for the most serious crimes committed by the underprivileged masses. 
The flogger would strip the convict to the waist, bind their hands and 
feet with leather thongs and iron rings to posts, and apply the knout to 
the back with enough force to remove a layer of skin with every stroke.46

Exile also played a central role in judicial punishment. The journey 
to Tomsk, Ufa, and other provincial Siberian towns was especially ardu-
ous, and fewer than three-​quarters of the exiles made it to the destina-
tion, where they lived their lives along military lines, lacking sufficient 
food, supplies, and other essential resources.47 Senator A. N. Khovanskii 
was convinced that exile would prevent Jews from committing similar 
heretical acts, but he did not think that the knout or the lash was the 
appropriate form of punishment. As far as the question whether a sect 
of child murderers was operating within the Jewish community, he sug-
gested that the Department of Spiritual Affairs of Foreign Confessions 
look into the matter. If it established that such a sect was in existence, 
the senator thought that it was important for the imperial government to 
create special institutions where all Jews, regardless of religious differences 
and beliefs, would be able to come together. Senator Khovanskii felt that 
public religious gatherings needed to take place only at fixed times in 
schools or synagogues, and always under the supervision of local police  
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officers or trusted Jewish communal elders. Among other things, this 
would prevent Jews from carrying out “malicious ritual crimes.” If Jews 
were caught in schools or homes at night or at other inappropriate times, 
the senator wanted them exiled immediately to Siberia.48

Senator V. I. Gechevich did not doubt the existence of Jewish ritual 
murder, and was concerned only by the pressing question of whether the 
alleged crime could be proved at law. He emphasized that none of the 
key Jewish witnesses in the case confessed to the murder, while the three 
primary accusers transgressed the law by renouncing their Christian 
faith. Furthermore, the interrogations and face-​to-​face confrontations 
revealed several unresolved discrepancies; he did not think, for instance, 
that the inquisitorial commission had gathered sufficient evidence to 
convict the Jews. For all these reasons, Gechevich was skeptical that 
they were guilty as charged and proposed instead that their actions and 
behavior be closely monitored, especially during the ritually charged 
time of the calendar season, when suspicious acts could result in more 
troublesome accusations.49

When the Senate failed to reach agreement, the criminal case, as 
required by law, was forwarded to the Department of Civil and 
Ecclesiastical Affairs of the State Council. Standing between the tsar 
and the Senate, the council deliberated over cases not covered by exist-
ing law or involving a textual interpretation.50 It met five times in 1834 
(on May 23, 25, 30, June 6, and October 19) to discuss whether the 
inquisitorial commission compiled enough solid evidence to prove that 
Jewish child murderers had killed the little boy. Admiral Count Nicholai 
S. Mordvinov reviewed the Velizh files for the State Council. Born into 
a distinguished noble family, Mordvinov spent the early years of his life 
in England. There, he served on English naval and merchant vessels 
and took an extended tour of France, Germany, and Portugal. Upon 
his return to Russia, Mordvinov socialized with the highest circles of 
Petersburg aristocracy. His career was filled with rapid promotions, 
scandals, and intrigues.51 Tsar Alexander I nominated Mordvinov vice-​
chairman of the Admiralty College, where he participated in reorga-
nizing the Senate and emerged as a dedicated follower of economic 
liberalism and a most passionate defender of property rights.52

In July 1821, Alexander appointed Mordvinov head of the Department 
of Civil and Ecclesiastical Affairs, a position he held until his retirement 
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from service in 1838. This post, which in fact was a demotion in ret-
ribution for his long-​standing feud with the finance minister, gave 
Mordvinov an opportunity to voice his views on a broad range of top-
ics concerning law and human rights. Inspired by the classical penal 
reformers Cesare Beccaria and Jeremy Bentham, Mordinov insisted on 
careful handling of evidence and the abolition of unnecessarily harsh 
punishment.53 In cases adjudicated at the State Council, he repeatedly 
questioned evidence presented by secret inquisitorial commissions as 
unequivocal truth. He opposed the practice of holding a person under 
suspicion if the court could not come to a rapid decision as to his or her 
guilt or innocence. “The purport of the law,” Mordvinov explained, “was 
to protect the innocent, not to punish the guilty.”54 The spectacle and 
the instrument of torture were cruel forms of punishment. “The knout,” 
he observed, “is a monstrous instrument that rips the flesh of the human 
body from the bone, sprays bloody droplets through the air, and spills 
blood over the body of the man. This [instrument of ] torture is more 
powerful than all other known instruments. . . . It takes an entire hour to 
administer twenty lashes of the knout, and it is well known that when a 
tormented criminal receives a large number of lashes, sometimes when 
he is not even guilty, this beating can take from sunup to sundown.”55

Borrowing freely from Beccaria, Mordvinov posited that the certainty 
required to declare a person guilty of crime was life’s most important 
undertaking. The judge had only one task before him and that was to 
use common sense when assessing the facts. Leafing through the volu-
minous paperwork, the elderly statesman quickly realized that the Velizh 
case was no ordinary occult crime, but concerned the timeless question 
of whether Jews practice the ritual of blood sacrifice of young Christian 
children. In a lengthy legal opinion, Mordvinov noted that spiritual 
and secular authorities had taken up the question for hundreds of years 
and always arrived at the same result. In the thirteenth century, Pope 
Innocent IV issued papal bulls condemning blood accusations. Three 
centuries later, Polish rulers made similar pronouncements on several 
different occasions. In the eighteenth century, after a lengthy investi-
gation of ritual crimes in Poland, the Vatican characterized the charges 
against the Jews as baseless. Even the Russian government instructed 
provincial officials, as late as 1817, to rely on strict documentary evidence 
when prosecuting the alleged crime of ritual murder.56
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To the average observer, the inquisitorial commission had compiled a 
solid case against the Jews based on a wealth of evidence.57 Mordvinov, 
however, belonged to a select group of men in the imperial establishment 
who were well educated, adored firm precision in the law, and insisted 
that official matters be dealt with quickly and accurately.58 Having rejected 
archaic creeds in favor of science and civilization, he showed no tolerance, 
either in his personal or professional life, for anything that smacked of 
mysticism or irrationalism. Mordvinov believed that Governor-​General 
Khovanskii “paid no attention to past juridical opinions, and did every-
thing in his power to make the case that the Jews, having spilled Christ’s 
blood, are enemies of Christendom.” Furthermore, the statesman had a 
hard time comprehending how “in this day and age a blood libel charge 
could make its way up the juridical ladder to the supreme institution 
of the empire.” But with more than forty Jews under arrest, and many 
more feeling the inquisitors’ assault on their community, the head of the 
Department of Civil and Ecclesiastical Affairs saw no choice but to give 
his complete and devout attention to the complexities of the case.59

Under the inquisitorial system, to convict a suspect required two issues 
to be proven: that the crime was in fact committed (corpus delicti, or, in 
Russian legal terminology, sostav prestupleniia), and that the accused in 
question was the perpetrator. In Nicholaevan Russia, as in continental 
Europe, forensic-​medical testimony took on an influential role in the 
decision-​making process. Although the physician’s conclusions did not 
always bind the judge, expert testimony could and often did influence 
the outcome. To establish a firm case against the Jews, the inquisitors 
would need to have perfect proof: a complete and sound voluntary con-
fession from the perpetrators, and a medical report that unequivocally 
corroborated the fact of the crime. In cases of crime involving the human 
body such as ritual murder, medical testimony took on an especially 
important role, standing second only to the confession.60

Mordvinov first took issue with the veracity of the confessions. 
Terenteeva and Maksimova had every opportunity to explain the most 
important circumstances of the case, but Mordvinov felt there were 
too many gaps, contradictions, and inaccuracies in their stories. They 
had a hard time remembering or agreeing upon, for example, where 
the murder allegedly took place or where exactly the boy’s body was 
buried. At one point, they blamed the murder on one Jewish man, but 
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then changed their minds and called out the entire Jewish community. 
How was it possible, Mordvinov asked, “after twelve long months of 
interrogations, for both women to remember so many intimate details 
of the crime—​at a time, no less, when they were supposed to have been 
intoxicated?” And why did no other Jews, outside of Fratka Devirts and 
Nota Prudkov (two of the more problematic Jewish suspects in the case), 
voluntarily confess to the crime? For Mordvinov, one of the more trou-
bling aspects of the investigation was that so many Jews continued to 
deny their role in the murder conspiracy, while emphasizing, under the 
most trying circumstances, that Jewish religious law explicitly forbade 
the consumption of human blood.61

Medical Report Witnesses’ Testimony

In various places on the body, the skin 
turned a burnt yellow or red color 
from a strong fricative force; and then 
hardened, as usually happens when 
the body is rubbed too harshly for too 
long.

The soldier’s son was swung from side 
to side in a barrel. The naked body was 
completely red, as if it was burned.

On the hands, back of the legs, the 
back, the head, the torso, and behind 
the ears are small circular sores, no 
more than one-third of an inch in 
depth, as though the boy was shot with 
a rifle.

The entire body and head were 
stabbed with a sharp iron nail. After 
the body was washed, little pea-​sized 
wounds remained.

On both legs, below the knee, the skin 
turned a dark blue, almost black, color. 
A strong rope was used to stop the 
circulation of the blood.

Before the boy was stabbed, both of 
his legs were tied together with a belt.

The lips were pressed firmly against the 
teeth, while the nose was smashed in 
violently; the dark crimson bruise on 
the back of the neck signified that rope 
encircled the neck.

When transferred to the Jewish school, 
the boy’s mouth was tied shut with a 
kerchief, so that he would not be able to 
cry out; and his nose was smashed in.

The internal organs, both the stomach 
and intestines, were completely empty, 
filled only with air.

While hidden in Khanna Tsetlina’s 
home, it appears that the boy was  
not fed.

Source: RGIA, f. 1345, op. 235, d. 65, chast’ 20, ll. 305–​305ob
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In the hierarchies of official proofs weighed by the inquisitorial sys-
tem, medical testimony was accorded the prized status of complete 
proof, “when it, having been conducted on legal grounds, contains clear 
and positive confirmation about the examined subject and does not 
contradict the reliable circumstances of the case.”62 Mordvinov observed 
that there were three main discrepancies between the medical report and 
the statements provided by the three primary accusers. First, the women 
claimed that the boy was pierced “cleanly and effortlessly with an iron 
nail,” but the forensic-​medical report detailed that all fourteen wounds 
on the boy’s body were made with a dull instrument, which would have 
required “time and effort.” Second, the accusers claimed that more than 
forty individuals took turns stabbing the boy, but the medical examiner 
determined that there were no more than fourteen small bodily wounds. 
And finally, they claimed that the body had turned completely white 
after it was washed, but the medical report stated that the body had 
turned a burnt yellow or red color, as though someone had vigorously 
scrubbed it with a coarse cloth or brush.63

There were other troubling aspects of the case as well. Chief among 
them was the timing of the murder. If the boy’s mouth and nose were 
wrapped firmly, as Terenteeva had asserted, then he would not have 
been able to breathe for very long, and he certainly would not have 
been alive when the police searched Aronson’s home on May 4. Among 
other things, Mordvinov also could not understand how so much blood 
(more than three full bottles) could be collected from such a small 
body. But even if it was possible that so much blood could flow from 
the boy’s veins, then it was beyond the realm of possibility for it not to 
have spoiled in over twelve months’ time, especially during the summer 
months, when the blood was allegedly distributed to Vitebsk, Liozno, 
and other neighboring towns. The inquisitorial commission was obli-
gated to explain the truth of the events, to defend the innocent from 
libelous claims, but the inquisitors, he wrote, had “intentionally over-
looked crucial facts and testimony.” For Mordvinov, the most troubling 
aspect of the case was that dozens of innocent people were imprisoned 
for so long based on flawed evidence.64

And so on January 18, 1835, nearly twelve years after little Fedor’s life-
less body was found in the thick woods on the outskirts of Velizh, the 
longest investigation of ritual murder in the modern world was finally 
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concluded. Nicholas’s regime may have been preoccupied with rooting 
out savage zealotry and doctrinal deviation, but it nevertheless coor-
dinated its operations in a spirit of juridical rationalism. In the final 
analysis, Mordvinov did not establish corpus delicti or find substantial 
proof that linked Jews with the ritual crime. The most damaging evi-
dence of all—​the statements provided by Terenteeva, Maksimova, and 
Kozlovskaia—​did not stand the test of legal scrutiny. Furthermore, 
although according to the rules of inquisitorial procedure, medical tes-
timony carried decisive weight in judicial proceedings, Mordvinov felt 
that there was nothing in the forensic report that linked the Jews with 
the murder conspiracy. Based on a thorough examination of the evi-
dence, Mordvinov recommended that the government dismiss the rit-
ual murder accusations, open all sealed synagogues and schools, and 
free the Velizh Jews from further judgment and inquiry. For uttering 
unsubstantiated libels against Jews, the three primary accusers would be 
exiled to Siberia, and Anna Eremeeva was to be turned over to a priest 
for admonition for masquerading as a fortune-​teller.65
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Epilogue•
After carefully considering the facts of the case, Nicholas I concurred 
with the State Council that the claims against the Jews of Velizh could not 
be proved at law. “Owing to the vagueness of the legal deductions,” he 
wrote, “no other decision than the one embodied in the ruling could have 
been reached.” Yet however powerful the evidence may have been in the 
Jews’ favor, Nicholas was wary of dismissing the charge outright. “I do not 
have and indeed cannot have the inner conviction,” he continued, “that the 
murder has not been committed by Jews.” Numerous examples from dif-
ferent times and places around the world revealed that “among Jews there 
probably exist fanatics or sectarians who consider Christian blood neces-
sary for their rites.” In the tsar’s eyes, Jews were as capable of committing 
ritual child murder as the Skoptsy, the most despised religious sect of all, 
were of performing ritual castration. Without suggesting that this custom 
was common to all Jews, Nicholas did not discount the idea that “there 
may be among them fanatics just as horrible as among us Christians.” 
Leaving open the possibility of ritual intent, the opinion cast a lingering 
shadow over all future blood accusations in the Russian Empire.1

The reluctance of the judicial apparatus to prohibit ritual murder tri-
als meant that further accusations would need to be settled in the court-
room. In fact, less than twelve months after the State Council’s ruling, 
the matter reached St. Petersburg once again. This case concerned Fekla 
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Selezneva, a twenty-​three-​year-​old serf from the village of Borisovo in 
Minsk province. Selezneva ran away from her husband on November 10, 
1833, and took on the journey her twelve-​year-​old cousin. In due time, 
Selezneva’s landlord managed to track her down. When he inquired 
about the girl’s whereabouts, Selezneva first declared that she was hid-
ing out in “a trusted place” but eventually revealed that the Jew Orko 
Sabun had strangled her to death so that “he could rub [the blood] on 
his child’s eyes and lips.” The girl’s naked body was found in a barn 
hidden under a pile of straw. The documentary evidence suggests that 
Selezneva and Sabun had a history together, perhaps even had engaged 
in intimate relations. The peasant woman testified, at one point, that 
they “fornicated all night long” after Sabun strangled the girl to death 
in the middle of the night. Sabun, for his part, could not keep his story 
straight. None of his alibis vouched for him; some went so far as to claim 
that “he might have killed her himself.” 

The case was heard first by two courts at the provincial level and 
then by the Senate before it reached the State Council. On January 13, 
1836, the council convicted Selezneva of murdering the girl but did not 
implicate Sabun directly in the crime—​though it did punish him for 
lying and taking in a runaway serf, for which he received forty blows of 
the knout and permanent exile to Siberia. One question that the court 
decided not to address at the time was whether Jews needed Christian 
blood for their religious rites and rituals.2

That Nicholas’s regime was actively unmasking radical Christian 
sects for their savage heresies only heightened suspicion against Jewish 
perversion. In the 1830s, the most powerful judicial and administrative 
bodies in the empire considered two more sensational cases. The events 
in Tel’shi, Kovno province, began in 1827, at the height of the mass 
suspicions in Velizh, and ended officially only in 1838, when the Senate 
exonerated twenty-​eight Jews charged with ritual murder.3 The second 
case concerned three Jews who were accused of severing a peasant’s 
tongue in Zaslav, Volynia province. Prokop Kazan testified that he was 
“overtaken” by the Jews the moment he came out of the woods:

First one Jew came over and started to talk with me as I was walking 
along the road and then another one and finally a third one. I didn’t 
suspect that they would do anything malicious to me, so I answered 
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their questions. Then, all of a sudden one Jew pounced on me from 
behind and threw me down on the ground, at which point the other 
two Jews joined in. They crushed my chest and choked me so fiercely 
that I must have stuck my tongue out when I lost conscience. When 
I finally came around, I found myself on my knees, with my head 
facing the ground. One of the Jews was holding my head up with 
his hands, while another one placed a cup underneath my mouth to 
collect the blood, which was flowing in a heavy stream.4

As soon as the Jews had finished their deed, they took off in a spring 
britzka with the blood and twelve silver rubles. Kazan explained that 
he stumbled upon the silver rubles in the marketplace at the town fair 
and that the Jews stole the money from him. The Senate characterized 
Kazan’s explanation as “wildly fantastic.” The medical assessment of the 
body confirmed that the tongue had been cut off by a sharp object but 
failed to establish that it was forcibly severed when the incident had 
allegedly occurred.

Tsar Nicholas I was well known for his fears of hidden plots and 
conspiracies. To achieve dominance over his expansive realm, the regime 
defended against pernicious forces of revolution. In the aftermath of 
the Decembrist uprising of 1825, the judicial system carried out harsh 
investigations of social disorders that threatened to undermine the 
emperor’s absolute power. Most alleged state criminals were tried swiftly 
in military tribunals. Nicholas’s militarized regime used the knout (a 
three-​tailed whip with metal talons), the lash (a three-​tailed whip with 
braided leather knots), and birch rods as the chief instruments to punish 
criminals. The average yearly number of exiles and penal laborers sent to 
Siberia increased nearly twofold, from 4,570 from 1819 to 1823 to 7,719 
from 1823 to 1860. In addition to rebels, political dissidents, and vaga-
bonds, the regime targeted for relocation petty thieves, violent drunks, 
“barbarous Asiatics,” hardened criminals, and a host of schismatic sects.5

The intense preoccupation with socially dangerous elements—​
including Jewish ritual murder—​occurred in a climate of concern with 
heresy and fanaticism. The Ministry of the Interior kept meticulous 
records of schismatic sects. The most viciously prosecuted sect—​the 
Skoptsy—​was punished for crimes against faith, systematically deported 
to Siberia, and kept under close police watch.6 For hundreds of years, 
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Russia’s courts grouped heresy, along with witchcraft and treason, as the 
highest crime. They believed that heretics and witches possessed an ele-
ment of evil power and so were often sentenced to death by execution. 
Russian officials continued to prosecute dissenting sects with extreme 
ferocity, but the second quarter of the nineteenth century witnessed 
a dramatic shift in judicial thinking. Judges began to voice increasing 
reluctance to hear cases concerning witchcraft. What accounted for this 
change? Why did criminal courts refuse to prosecute people accused of 
controlling the supernatural by magical means as witches or sorcerers 
and punish sectarians for heresies? What specific evidence helped estab-
lish the facts of the crime?

One of the most important reasons for the shift had to do with the 
cultural authority of scientific observation. Beginning in the 1830s, med-
ical inspections of the human body acquired privileged status within the 
system of criminal proofs. Under the rules of evidence, the physician’s 
testimony carried decisive weight in determining the character of the 
crime. Medical experts provided a wealth of clinical details that helped 
unmask the invisible threats lurking within. Doctors’ expert testimony 
played a decisive role in the types of crimes the state deemed especially 
pernicious. The Skoptsy’s “savage zealotry,” for example, could be eas-
ily recognized by scars, shrunken genitals, removal of testicles, excised 
nipples, and sparse body hair. By contrast, the possession of herbs, 
incantations, recipes for herbal potions, or magical powders no longer 
sufficed to establish the phenomenon of witchcraft. By offering medi-
cal diagnosis such as hysteria or melancholia for aberrant or irrational 
behavior, doctors helped challenge the notion that witchcraft was real.7

Significantly, the power afforded to forensic science, statistics, and 
ethnographic observation played an important role in perpetuating the 
ritual murder charge. The stab wounds on a corpse established Jews’ 
demonic blood rituals in much the same way that bodily signs docu-
mented the Skoptsy’s ritual perversions. In all the instances that Jews 
were charged with ritual murder, social-​scientific observation struc-
tured the terms of the criminal investigation. Scientific knowledge was 
employed in the service of empire not only to direct a new positive 
course for Russia but also to carve out a better, purer world—​to weed 
out harmful or unreliable elements from public view.8 Nicholas’s polic-
ing tactics coincided with an ambitious program of surveying Russia’s 
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social and economic conditions to resolve the empire’s problems and 
deficiencies. A new generation of men, enrolled in elite schools and anx-
ious to build successful careers in the civil service, strove to understand 
the complexities of Russian life. Lev A. Perovskii, the minister of inter-
nal affairs under Nicholas I, looked to the social sciences as a gateway 
to formulating imperial policy. In an effort to expand his expertise of 
non-​Russian populations, Perovskii commissioned ethnographic stud-
ies of heresy in all its savage forms and deviations, including its Jewish 
component. In 1841, Perovskii appointed Vladimir Dal’ and Nikolai 
Nadezhdin as officials of the special order of his personal chancellery. 
Both men worked on a variety of different projects reserved for the 
minister’s personal attention, including serving on a committee that was 
charged with investigating dangerous schismatic sects.9

In this capacity, Dal’ produced two reports, both issued in tiny print 
runs in 1844, dedicated to exposing the fanatical secrets of blood rituals. 
One was on the Skoptsy (the authorship was eventually attributed to 
Nadezhdin after Nicholas refused to accept it for publication because of 
Dal’s Lutheran origins).10 The other work, entitled An Inquiry into the 
Killing of Christian Children and the Use of Their Blood, was devoted to 
Jewish ritual murder. The text incorporated materials from the Ministry 
of the Interior archive and some well-​known accusatory works printed 
in eighteenth-​century Poland, with much space devoted to the Velizh 
case. Dal’ left no doubt that blood sacrifice was a fact of Jewish life. In 
every place where Jews are tolerated, he wrote, “corpses of babies have 
been found from time to time, always in the same mutilated condition 
or at least with similar signs of violence and death. Just as true is that 
these signs have attested to a premeditated and deliberate atrocity—​the 
painful murder of Christian children.”11 A great deal of legal and med-
ical evidence helped substantiate this reality, not least of which, Dal’ 
noted, were the external marks on the dead bodies, confirming in each 
instance that the killings were the result of cruel and unusual premedi-
tated Jewish savagery.

In the 1860s and 1870s, when the issue of Jewish criminality first 
became a topic of public discussion, conservative journalists and 
expert witnesses turned to Dal’s work to substantiate the charge.12 The 
defrocked Catholic priest Ippolit Liutostanskii, for instance, was one of 
a number of hacks who took the dangers of blood sacrifice to another 



The Velizh Affair158

158

level. In the highly sensational book The Question of the Use by Jewish 
Sectarians of Christian Blood for Religious Purposes, published in 1876, 
Liutostanskii recycled Dal’s language to single out a small group of 
fanatics for engaging in anti-​Christian acts of sacrilege and desecra-
tion. “Jews who acquire only the external trappings of European—​and, 
consequently, of Christian—​civilization, sitting down at the table of 
humane enlightenment, not only are blameless of this custom, but don’t 
even know about it.”13 It did not take long for a committed group of 
publicists, commentators, and politicians to link sectarian fanaticism 
directly with the Hasidic movement. “It is certain,” the influential Polish 
ethnographer Oscar Kolberg explained, “that there exists among [Jews] 
a fanatical sect that craves such wild sacrifices,” an accusation that would 
play out in the mass circulation press, with forces lining up on all sides 
of the political divide.14

The Velizh case had the makings of sensational, deeply divisive drama 
and might have erupted into a cause célèbre, along the lines of the ritual 
murder case in Damascus (1840), the Dreyfus affair in France (1894–​
1906), or the sensational trial of Mendel Beilis in 1913 for the murder of 
a Gentile youth in Kiev two years earlier. But before Tsar Alexander II 
and his advisers redesigned the legal system, the secret workings of the 
chancellery concealed every stage of the judicial process.15 During the 
reign of Nicholas I, the publication of transcripts, legal commentaries, 
and speeches was forbidden, nor was the courtroom the site of social 
spectacle to a thrill-​seeking public. The inquisitorial chamber—​the 
principal site of the investigative drama—​was shut to public scrutiny. 
As a result, news was not able to spread to well-​placed emissaries who 
enjoyed political influence in the international arena and could mobi-
lize a vast network of resources and political connections in the face of 
crisis.16 The closed nature of the judicial process meant that the Velizh 
case was decided locally, firmly outside the apprehensive gaze of public 
opinion.

A product of the Great Reform era, the open, adversarial courtroom 
made a new social spectacle of the Jewish ritual murder charge. The 
indictment of nine Georgian Jews in the 1878 ghastly murder of Sara 
Iosifova Modebadze in Kutaisi resulted in the first blood libel accusa-
tion tried before a jury of peers, where all aspects of the case were made 
public, from written testimony to cross-​examinations and the verdict 
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itself. In the end, two of Russia’s leading defense attorneys debunked the 
evidence, and the trial ended with the full acquittal of the Jewish defen-
dants on March 13, 1879.17 Kutaisi turned out to be the first of six sen-
sational ritual murder cases in Europe, the last of which was the Beilis 
case of 1911–​1913, tried in the open courtroom. The dramatic court-
room scenes were structured by powerful rules of expert knowledge.18 
Supported by scientific evidence and medical observation, the legal 
prosecution of Jews generated mass publicity, even as shared assump-
tions in popular magic and mysticism, to say nothing of conspiratorial 
fears, continued to influence conceptions of Jewish criminality. For the 
mass of populations in the Russian Empire, it was entirely within the 
realm of perceived wisdom that Jews could commit the crime at any 
time and place.
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Appendix
Jewish Prisoners Held in the Town of Velizh

Name Approximate Age Date Arrested

Slava Berlina 52 April 8, 1826

Khanna Tsetlina 47 April 8, 1826

Itsko Nakhimovskii 32 April 15, 1826

Abram Glushkov 30 April 15, 1826

Iosel’ Turnovskii 64 April 15, 1826

Shmerka Berlin 50s June 20, 1826

Evzik Tsetlin 49 June 20, 1826

Hirsh Berlin 28 February 28, 1827

Orlik Devirts 53 February 28, 1827

Iankel’ Hirsh Aronson 19 February 28, 1827

Iosel’-​Zavel’ Mirlas 50 June 28, 1827

Shmerka Aronson 48 July 11, 1827

Basia Aronson 37 July 11, 1827

Noson Berlin 38 July 11, 1827

Meir Berlin 46 July 11, 1827

Fratka Devirts 46 July 11, 1827

Ruman Nakhimovskii 46 July 11, 1827

Rokhlia Feitsel’sonova 43 November 9, 1827

Rokhlia Livenson 37 November 9, 1827
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Name Approximate Age Date Arrested

Iankel’ Chernomordik 59 November 11, 1827

Ester Chernomordika 57 November 11, 1827

Abram Katson 52 November 17, 1827

Abram Kisin 35 November 29, 1827

Risa Mel’nikova 45 November 30, 1827

Khasia Shubinskaia 36 December 22, 1827

Khaim Khrupin 39 December 22, 1827

Leia Rudniakova 36 December 23, 1827

Itsko Vul’fson 34 January 5, 1828

Iosel’ Glikman 56 January 5, 1828

Ryvka Berlina 74 January 6, 1828

Genemiklia Iankeleva 19 January 6, 1828

Itsko Tsetlin 19 January 7, 1828

Bliuma Nafonova 37 January 9, 1828

Zusia Rudniakov 31 January 17, 1828

Khaika Chernomordika 30 January 27, 1828

Malka Baradudina 61 February 3, 1828

Leizar’ Zaretskii 57 February 4, 1828

Nota Prudkov 36 February 4, 1828

Feiga Vul’fson 34 March 9, 1828

Movsha Belenitskii 35 August 9, 1828

Nokhon Perepletchikov 54 November 7, 1828

Zelik Brusovanskii 57 November 9, 1828

Iankel’ Korshakov 44 February 5, 1829

Source: Spravka k dokladu po evreiskomu voprosu, part 5 (St. Petersburg: Kantseliariia Soveta 
ob”edinennykh dvorianskikh obshchestv, 1912), 52–​61
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Notes

Abbreviations
CAHJP	 Central Archives for the History of the Jewish People
GARF	 Gosudarstvennyi arkhiv rossiiskoi federatsii
KAA	 Kauno Apskrities Archyve
NIAB	 Natsional’nyi istoricheskii arkhiv Belarusi
RGIA	 Rossiiskii gosudarstvennyi istoricheskii arkhiv
RNB	 Rossiiskaia natsional’naia biblioteka
YIVO	 Institute for Jewish Research
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